

Hahn series and Mahler equations: Algorithmic aspects C. Faverjon, Julien Roques

▶ To cite this version:

C. Faverjon, Julien Roques. Hahn series and Mahler equations: Algorithmic aspects. Journal of the London Mathematical Society, 2024, 110 (1), 10.1112/jlms.12945 . hal-04822005

HAL Id: hal-04822005 https://hal.science/hal-04822005v1

Submitted on 5 Dec 2024

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

HAHN SERIES AND MAHLER EQUATIONS: ALGORITHMIC ASPECTS

C. FAVERJON AND J. ROQUES

ABSTRACT. Many articles have recently been devoted to Mahler equations, partly because of their links with other branches of mathematics such as automata theory. Hahn series (a generalization of the Puiseux series allowing arbitrary exponents of the indeterminate as long as the set that supports them is well-ordered) play a central role in the theory of Mahler equations. In this paper, we address the following fundamental question: is there an algorithm to calculate the Hahn series solutions of a given linear Mahler equation? What makes this question interesting is the fact that the Hahn series appearing in this context can have complicated supports with infinitely many accumulation points. Our (positive) answer to the above question involves among other things the construction of a computable well-ordered receptacle for the supports of the potential Hahn series solutions.

Contents

1.	Introduction	1
2.	The ring of Hahn series	5
3.	Newton polygons	6
4.	A receptacle \mathcal{V} for the support of the solutions	14
5.	An algorithm for computing a positive lower bound on $\epsilon(v)$	23
6.	The property $\star_{\mathcal{V}}$	33
7.	Computing an \mathcal{R} containing \mathcal{E} and satisfying $\star_{\mathcal{V}}$.	38
8.	Answer to Question 1	42
9.	An example : the Rudin-Shapiro Mahler equation	46
References		53

1. INTRODUCTION

Let **K** be a field (of any characteristic and not necessarily algebraically closed). A linear Mahler equation with coefficients in $\mathbf{K}(z)$ is a functional equation of the form

(1)
$$a_n(z)y(z^{\ell^n}) + a_{n-1}(z)y(z^{\ell^{n-1}}) + \dots + a_0(z)y(z) = 0$$

for some $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 2}$, $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ and $a_0(z), \ldots, a_n(z) \in \mathbf{K}(z)$ with $a_0(z)a_n(z) \neq 0$.

This is the accepted version of the following article : Faverjon, C. and Roques, J. (2024), Hahn series and Mahler equations: Algorithmic aspects. J. London Math. Soc., 110: e12945, which has been published in final form at https://doi.org/10.1112/jlms.12945. Date: December 5, 2024.

²⁰²⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 39A06.

These equations are named after K. Mahler who wrote influential papers on the arithmetic nature of the values taken by solutions of such equations at algebraic points; see [Mah29, Mah30a, Mah30b]. Since then, the theory has undergone many developments, in various directions and is nowadays a very active field of research with many facets. The interactions between the theory of Mahler equations and other fields of mathematics have been fruitful in recent years. This is well illustrated by the work of Shäfke and Singer in [SS19] which gives a new proof of a conjecture of Loxton and van der Poorten – previously established by Adamczewski and Bell in [AB17] – and, therefore, a new proof of Cobham's theorem in automata theory by using tools coming from the theory of functional equations. Here are some references [Kub77, LvdP78, Mas82, Ran92, Dum93, Bec94, Nis96, DF96, Zan98, CZ02, AS03, Pel09, Ngu11, Ngu12, Phi15, BCZ16, AB17, AF17, AF18, DHR18, CDDM18, BCCD19, Fer18, Ada19, SS19, Roq21, Pou21, ADH21, Roq22, FP22, ABS22].

The Hahn series play a fundamental role in the theory of Mahler equations. Let us first look at the following simple but instructive example:

(2)
$$z^{\ell}f(z^{\ell^2}) - (z^{\ell} + z)f(z^{\ell}) + zf(z) = 0.$$

This equation has the obvious constant solution $f_1(z) = 1$ and any other solution in the field of formal Laurent series $\mathbf{K}((z))$ or even in the field of Puiseux series $\mathscr{P} = \bigcup_{d \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}} \mathbf{K}((z^{\frac{1}{d}}))$ is of the form $\lambda f_1(z)$ for some $\lambda \in \mathbf{K}$. However, a new solution can be found in the field \mathscr{H} of Hahn series¹ with coefficients in \mathbf{K} and value group \mathbb{Q} , namely

(3)
$$f_2(z) = \sum_{k \ge 1} z^{-\frac{1}{\ell^k}}.$$

Hence, working in the field of Hahn series, we have found two **K**-linearly independent solutions of the above linear Mahler equation of order n = 2 (*i.e.*, as many **K**-linearly independent solutions as the order of the equation), which is satisfactory.

Actually², when $\mathbf{K} = \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$, it follows from [Roq21] that the difference field $(\mathscr{H}, \phi_{\ell})$, where ϕ_{ℓ} is the field automorphism of \mathscr{H} sending f(z) on $f(z^{\ell})$, has a difference ring extension $(\mathcal{A}, \phi_{\ell})$ such that

- for any $c \in \overline{\mathbb{Q}}^{\times}$, there exists $e_c \in \mathcal{A}$ satisfying $\phi_{\ell}(e_c) = ce_c$;
- there exists $l \in \mathcal{A}$ satisfying $\phi_{\ell}(l) = l + 1$;
- any linear Mahler equation of the form (1) has $n \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ -linearly independent solutions $y_1, \ldots, y_n \in \mathcal{A}$ of the form

(4)
$$y_i = \sum_{(c,j)\in\overline{\mathbb{Q}}^{\times}\times\mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}} f_{i,c,j} e_c l^j$$

where the sum is finite and the $f_{i,c,j}$ belong to \mathscr{H} .

This leads to the following fundamental question to which this article is devoted.

 $^{^1\}mathrm{See}$ section 2 for the concept of Hahn series.

²In fact, the main results of [Roq21] and their proofs extend *mutatis mutandis* to an arbitrary algebraically closed field **K**.

Question 1. Is there an algorithm to calculate the Hahn series solutions of an equation of the form (1)?

Before formulating this question more formally, let us say a few words about the calculation of the solutions of linear Mahler equations such as (1) in the more usual ring of formal power series $\mathbf{K}[[z]]$. By "calculating" the solutions of an equation of the form (1) in $\mathbf{K}[[z]]$, we usually mean calculating the formal power series solutions truncated to a specified order, *i.e.*, $N \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ being given, we want to determine the $\sum_{k \in \{0,...,N\}} f_k z^k \in \mathbf{K}[z]$ for which there exists a solution

$$\widetilde{f}(z) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}} \widetilde{f}_k z^k \in \mathbf{K}[[z]]$$

of (1) such that

(5)
$$\sum_{k \in \{0,...,N\}} \tilde{f}_k z^k = \sum_{k \in \{0,...,N\}} f_k z^k$$

A natural formalization of Question 1 is obtained by replacing the sets of indices $\mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ and $\{0, \ldots, N\}$ by \mathbb{Q} and by an arbitrary finite subset \mathcal{E} of \mathbb{Q} respectively. More explicitly, this leads to the following formalization of Question 1: a finite subset \mathcal{E} of \mathbb{Q} being given, we want to determine the $\sum_{\gamma \in \mathcal{E}} f_{\gamma} z^{\gamma} \in \mathscr{H}$ for which there exists a solution

$$\widetilde{f}(z) = \sum_{\gamma \in \mathbb{Q}} \widetilde{f}_{\gamma} z^{\gamma} \in \mathscr{H}$$

of (1) such that

(6)
$$\sum_{\gamma \in \mathcal{E}} \widetilde{f}_{\gamma} z^{\gamma} = \sum_{\gamma \in \mathcal{E}} f_{\gamma} z^{\gamma}.$$

Remark 2. (1) An arbitrary Hahn series truncated at an given order has infinitely many nonzero coefficients in general. For instance, the truncation at order 0 of the Hahn series $f_2(z)$ given by (3) is $f_2(z)$ itself and has infinitely many nonzero coefficients. This is why Question 1 is not stated in terms of truncated Hahn series.

(2) The truncation $\sum_{k \in \{0,...,N\}} \widetilde{f}_k z^k$ of $\widetilde{f}(z) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}} \widetilde{f}_k z^k \in \mathbf{K}[[z]]$ can be interpreted as what remains of $\widetilde{f}(z)$ when only the indices $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ such that $H(k) \leq N$ are retained, where H denotes the naive height function defined, for any rational number x = a/b where $a \in \mathbb{Z}, b \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$ are coprime, by $H(x) = \max\{|a|, |b|\}$. This leads to an alternative formulation of Question 1 similar to that given above but with \mathcal{E} replaced by $\mathcal{E}_N = \{\gamma \in \mathbb{Q} \mid H(\gamma) \leq N\}$. Since \mathcal{E}_N is a finite subset of \mathbb{Q} and since any finite subset \mathcal{E} of \mathbb{Q} is a subset of \mathcal{E}_N for some $N \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$, the formulation of Question 1 given above is equivalent to this one.

Note that, since we are not imposing any conditions on \mathcal{E} , the solution $\tilde{f}(z)$ may not be uniquely determined by (6). Fortunately, there is a simple condition guaranteeing that $\tilde{f}(z)$ is uniquely determined by (6): for this to be true, it suffices that $-\mathcal{S} \subset \mathcal{E}$ where \mathcal{S} is the (finite and explicit) set of slopes of (1) defined in section 3; this follows directly from Corollary 13. So,

-S can serve as a set of indices for "initial coefficients" of all Hahn series solutions of (1) and, in the special case $\mathcal{E} = -S$, Question 1 aims to describe the possible "initial coefficients". However, we draw the reader's attention to the fact that, even if one knows explicitly the "initial part" $\sum_{\gamma \in -S} \tilde{f}_{\gamma} z^{\gamma}$ of a solution $\tilde{f}(z) = \sum_{\gamma \in \mathbb{Q}} \tilde{f}_{\gamma} z^{\gamma} \in \mathscr{H}$ of (1), it is not obvious at all to compute the value of \tilde{f}_{γ} for a given $\gamma \in \mathbb{Q} \setminus -S$ from it, whence the importance of allowing an arbitrary finite set \mathcal{E} in Question 1.

An algorithm to find the solutions in the field of Puiseux series \mathscr{P} = $\bigcup_{d\in\mathbb{Z}_{>1}} \mathbf{K}((z^{\frac{1}{d}}))$ of a given Mahler equation has been given in $[\text{CDDM18}]^3$. It consists in bounding the ramification of these solutions in order to reduce the problem to the search of the solutions in a specific field of ramified Laurent series $\mathbf{K}((z^{\frac{1}{d}}))$ for an explicit $d \in \mathbb{Z}_{>1}$. What makes the search of the Hahn series solutions interesting is precisely the fact that one cannot reduce the problem to the search of (ramified) Laurent series solutions: one has to deal with Hahn series that might have rather involved supports. The support supp $f_2(z) = \{-\frac{1}{\ell^k} \mid k \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}\}$ of the Hahn series $f_2(z)$ given by (3) is one of the simplest support one can expect for a (non Puiseux) Hahn series solution of a linear Mahler equation. Much more complicated supports may arise. For instance, the Hahn series $f_2(z)^2$ satisfies a linear Mahler equation of order 3 and, if the characteristic of \mathbf{K} is not equal to 2, its support $\operatorname{supp} f_2(z)^2 = \{-\frac{1}{\ell^k} - \frac{1}{\ell^{k'}} \mid k, k' \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}\}$ has infinitely many accumulation points, namely any element of $\{0\} \cup \{-\frac{1}{\ell^k} \mid k \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}\}$. These complicated supports induce many difficulties.

1.1. Outline of our answer to Question 1. Our approach to answer Question 1 relies on the following two ingredients.

- (1) We introduce a subset \mathcal{V} of \mathbb{Q} satisfying the following properties:
 - \mathcal{V} contains the support of any Hahn series solution of (1);
 - \mathcal{V} is well-ordered;
 - \mathcal{V} is computable in the sense that there exists an algorithm to determine whether a given rational number belongs to \mathcal{V} or not;
 - $\mathcal V$ satisfies a technical but important condition that we do not state here.
- (2) A finite set $\mathcal{E} \subset \mathcal{V}$ being given, we show that we can compute algorithmically a finite subset \mathcal{R} of \mathcal{V} containing \mathcal{E} such that, for any $f(z) = \sum_{\gamma \in \mathcal{R}} f_{\gamma} z^{\gamma} \in \mathscr{H}$, the following properties are equivalent:
 - there exists a solution $\widetilde{f}(z) = \sum_{\gamma \in \mathbb{Q}} \widetilde{f}_{\gamma} z^{\gamma} \in \mathscr{H}$ of (1) such that

$$\sum_{\gamma \in \mathcal{R}} \widetilde{f}_{\gamma} z^{\gamma} = \sum_{\gamma \in \mathcal{R}} f_{\gamma} z^{\gamma};$$

- the support of the Hahn series

(7)
$$a_n(z)f(z^{\ell^n}) + a_{n-1}(z)f(z^{\ell^{n-1}}) + \dots + a_0(z)f(z)$$

is disjoint from $\psi(\mathcal{R})$ where $\psi : \mathbb{Q} \to \mathbb{Q}$ is an explicit map defined in section 3.4.

³We mention for the interested reader that, when $\mathbf{K} \subset \mathbb{C}$, any Puiseux series solution is actually convergent; see [BR13, Lem. 4] for example.

This reduces Question 1 to a question of linear algebra. Indeed, up to multiplying (1) by a suitable nonzero polynomial, one can assume that the $a_i(z)$ are polynomials. Then, one can compute an explicit family of linear maps $F_{\delta} : \mathbf{K}^{\mathcal{R}} \to \mathbf{K}$ such that, for any $f(z) = \sum_{\gamma \in \mathcal{R}} f_{\gamma} z^{\gamma} \in \mathscr{H}$,

$$a_n(z)f(z^{\ell^n}) + a_{n-1}(z)f(z^{\ell^{n-1}}) + \dots + a_0(z)f(z) = \sum_{\delta \in \mathbb{Q}} F_{\delta}((f_{\gamma})_{\gamma \in \mathcal{R}}) z^{\delta}.$$

The fact that the support of (7) is disjoint from $\psi(\mathcal{R})$ is equivalent to the fact that, for all $\delta \in \psi(\mathcal{R})$, $F_{\delta}((f_{\gamma})_{\gamma \in \mathcal{R}}) = 0$. This is an (explicit) system of linear equations in the $(f_{\gamma})_{\gamma \in \mathcal{R}}$ that can be solved algorithmically. This solves Question 1.

1.2. Organization of the paper. In section 2, we recall basic definitions and properties of the Hahn series. In section 3, we first recall the notions of Newton polygons and of slopes. We then state and prove several results used elsewhere in the paper. In section 4, we give an algorithm to compute a set \mathcal{V} having the properties listed in section 1.1 above. In sections 6 and 7, we give an algorithm to compute a set \mathcal{R} having the properties listed in section 1.1 above. In section 8, we describe an algorithm that answers Question 1 in the affirmative. In section 9, we apply our main algorithm to a classical equation.

Acknowledgements. Our warmest thanks go to the referees for their careful reading and their many suggestions, which have considerably improved the readability of this paper. The work of the second author was supported by the ANR De rerum natura project, grant ANR-19-CE40-0018 of the French Agence Nationale de la Recherche.

2. The ring of Hahn series

We denote by \mathscr{H} the field of Hahn series with coefficients in the field **K** and with value group \mathbb{Q} (see [Hah07]). An element of \mathscr{H} is an $(f_{\gamma})_{\gamma \in \mathbb{Q}} \in \mathbf{K}^{\mathbb{Q}}$ whose support

$$\operatorname{supp}(f_{\gamma})_{\gamma \in \mathbb{Q}} = \{ \gamma \in \mathbb{Q} \mid f_{\gamma} \neq 0 \}$$

is well-ordered, *i.e.*, such that any nonempty subset of this support has a least element. An element $(f_{\gamma})_{\gamma \in \mathbb{Q}}$ of \mathscr{H} is usually (and will be) denoted by

$$f = \sum_{\gamma \in \mathbb{Q}} f_{\gamma} z^{\gamma}.$$

The sum and product of two elements $f = \sum_{\gamma \in \mathbb{Q}} f_{\gamma} z^{\gamma}$ and $g = \sum_{\gamma \in \mathbb{Q}} g_{\gamma} z^{\gamma}$ of \mathscr{H} are respectively defined by

$$f + g = \sum_{\gamma \in \mathbb{Q}} (f_{\gamma} + g_{\gamma}) z^{\gamma}$$

and

$$fg = \sum_{\gamma \in \mathbb{Q}} \left(\sum_{\gamma' + \gamma'' = \gamma} f_{\gamma'} g_{\gamma''} \right) z^{\gamma}.$$

(Note that there are only finitely many $(\gamma', \gamma'') \in \mathbb{Q} \times \mathbb{Q}$ such that $\gamma' + \gamma'' = \gamma$ and $f_{\gamma'}g_{\gamma''} \neq 0$.) For a proof that \mathscr{H} endowed with this ring structure is a field, we refer to [Neu49, Th. 5.7].

Since the support of any Hahn series is well-ordered, one can define the z-adic valuation

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{val} : \mathscr{H} &\to & \mathbb{Q} \cup \{+\infty\} \\ & f &\mapsto & \operatorname{val} f = \min \operatorname{supp} f \end{aligned}$$

with the convention $\min \emptyset = +\infty$. It satisfies the usual properties of a valuation, namely :

 $\operatorname{val}(fq) = \operatorname{val} f + \operatorname{val} q$

•
$$\forall f \in \mathscr{H}, (\operatorname{val} f = +\infty \iff f = 0);$$

• $\forall f, g \in \mathscr{H},$

(8)

and

(9)
$$\operatorname{val}(f+g) \ge \min\{\operatorname{val} f, \operatorname{val} g\}.$$

For any subset \mathcal{Q} of \mathbb{Q} , we let $\mathscr{H}_{|\mathcal{Q}}$ be the **K**-vector space of Hahn series with support in \mathcal{Q} , *i.e.*,

$$\mathscr{H}_{|\mathcal{Q}} = \{ f \in \mathscr{H} \mid \operatorname{supp} f \subset \mathcal{Q} \}.$$

We have a natural \mathbf{K} -linear map

$$\bullet_{|\mathcal{Q}} : \qquad \mathcal{H} \qquad \to \qquad \mathcal{H}_{|\mathcal{Q}} \\ f = \sum_{\gamma \in \mathcal{Q}} f_{\gamma} z^{\gamma} \quad \mapsto \quad f_{|\mathcal{Q}} := \sum_{\gamma \in \mathcal{Q}} f_{\gamma} z^{\gamma} .$$

For any $f, g \in \mathscr{H}$ and any $\mathcal{Q} \subset \mathbb{Q}$, we will say that "f = g on \mathcal{Q} " if $f_{|\mathcal{Q}} = g_{|\mathcal{Q}}$.

3. Newton polygons

Let ϕ_{ℓ} be the field automorphism of \mathscr{H} sending f(z) on $f(z^{\ell})$. We denote by

$$\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{K}[z]} = \mathbf{K}[z] \langle \phi_{\ell} \rangle$$

the Ore algebra of noncommutative polynomials with coefficients in $\mathbf{K}[z]$ such that, for all $f \in \mathbf{K}[z]$, $\phi_{\ell}f = \phi_{\ell}(f)\phi_{\ell}$. An element of $\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{K}[z]}$ will be called a Mahler operator.

In what follows, we consider an inhomogeneous Mahler equation

(10)
$$a_n(z)y(z^{\ell^n}) + a_{n-1}(z)y(z^{\ell^{n-1}}) + \dots + a_0(z)y = a_{-\infty}(z)$$

with $a_0(z), \ldots, a_n(z) \in \mathbf{K}[z]$ and $a_{-\infty}(z) \in \mathscr{H}$ such that $a_0(z)a_n(z) \neq 0$. This equation can be rewritten as

$$L(y) = a_{-\infty}$$

where

(11)
$$L = a_n \phi_\ell^n + a_{n-1} \phi_\ell^{n-1} + \dots + a_0 \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{K}[z]}.$$

3.1. Newton polygon. Following [CDDM18], we define the Newton polygon $\mathcal{N}(L, a_{-\infty})$ of (10) as the lower convex hull of the set

$$\mathcal{P}(L, a_{-\infty}) = \{(\ell^i, j) \mid i \in \{-\infty, 0, \dots, n\}, \ j \in \operatorname{supp} a_i\} \subset \mathbb{R}^2$$

with the convention $\ell^{-\infty} = 0$. In other terms, $\mathcal{N}(L, a_{-\infty})$ is the convex hull of the set

(12)
$$\{(\ell^i, j) \mid i \in \{-\infty, 0, \dots, n\}, j \ge \operatorname{val} a_i\} \subset \mathbb{R}^2.$$

3.2. Slopes. The polygon $\mathcal{N}(L, a_{\infty})$ is delimited by two vertical half lines and by finitely many nonvertical vectors having pairwise distinct slopes, called the slopes of (10). The set of slopes of (10) will be denoted by $\mathcal{S}(L, a_{-\infty})$. The following result gives an useful characterization of these slopes.

Lemma 3. The following properties relative to $\mu \in \mathbb{Q}$ are equivalent:

- (i) μ belongs to $\mathcal{S}(L, a_{-\infty})$;
- (ii) there exist distinct $i_1, i_2 \in \{-\infty, 0, \dots, n\}$ such that

(13)
$$\operatorname{val} a_{i_1} - \ell^{i_1} \mu = \operatorname{val} a_{i_2} - \ell^{i_2} \mu = \min_{i \in \{-\infty, 0, \dots, n\}} \operatorname{val} a_i - \ell^i \mu.$$

Moreover, if μ belongs to $\mathcal{S}(L, a_{-\infty})$, then the equality (13) is satisfied if and only if $(\ell^{i_1}, \operatorname{val} a_{i_1})$ and $(\ell^{i_2}, \operatorname{val} a_{i_2})$ belong to the edge of slope μ of $\mathcal{N}(L, a_{-\infty})$.

Proof. The fact that μ satisfies (i) is equivalent to the fact that μ is the slope of a nonvertical edge of $\mathcal{N}(L, a_{-\infty})$ which is in turn equivalent to the fact that there exists $b \in \mathbb{R}$ such that the affine line $y - \mu x = b$ contains an edge of $\mathcal{N}(L, a_{-\infty})$.

But, since $\mathcal{N}(L, a_{-\infty})$ is the convex hull of the set (12), the affine line $y - \mu x = b$ contains an edge of $\mathcal{N}(L, a_{-\infty})$ if and only the following properties are satisfied:

- there exist distinct $i_1, i_2 \in \{-\infty, 0, \dots, n\}$ such that $(\ell^{i_1}, \operatorname{val} a_{i_1})$ and $(\ell^{i_2}, \operatorname{val} a_{i_2})$ belong to the line $y \mu x = b$;
- for any $i \in \{-\infty, 0, ..., n\}$, if val $a_i < +\infty$, then $(\ell^i, \text{val } a_i)$ belongs to the half space $y \mu x \ge b$.

The latter two properties are of course equivalent to the fact that there exist distinct $i_1, i_2 \in \{-\infty, 0, \dots, n\}$ such that

$$b = \operatorname{val} a_{i_1} - \ell^{i_1} \mu = \operatorname{val} a_{i_2} - \ell^{i_2} \mu = \min_{i \in \{-\infty, 0, \dots, n\}} \operatorname{val} a_i - \ell^i \mu.$$

This shows that (i) and (ii) are equivalent.

Last, if μ belongs to $\mathcal{S}(L, a_{-\infty})$, then the previous discussion shows that the equation of the line containing the edge of slope μ of $\mathcal{N}(L, a_{-\infty})$ is $y - \mu x = b$ with $b = \min_{i \in \{-\infty, 0, \dots, n\}} \operatorname{val} a_i - \ell^i \mu$. The last assertion of the lemma follows directly from this.

3.3. Newton polygon and slopes in the homogeneous case. In the homogeneous case, that is when $a_{-\infty} = 0$, we will omit $a_{-\infty}$ in the previous notations and terminologies. For instance, $\mathcal{N}(L,0)$ will simply be denoted by $\mathcal{N}(L)$ and will be called the Newton polygon of L.

Remark 4. Note, for later use, the following simple but important fact: since the coefficients a_0, \ldots, a_n of L are in $\mathbf{K}[z]$, the set $\mathcal{P}(L)$ is finite.

We denote by

$$\mu_1 < \cdots < \mu_K$$

the slopes of L, so that

$$\mathcal{S}(L) = \{\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_K\}.$$

We let

$$p_0,\ldots,p_K\in\mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}\times\mathbb{Z}$$

be the vertices, ordered by increasing abscissa, of the polygon $\mathcal{N}(L)$. For any $k \in \{0, \ldots, K\}$, we let α_k be the unique element of $\{0, \ldots, n\}$ and β_k be the unique element of \mathbb{Z} such that

$$p_k = (\ell^{\alpha_k}, \beta_k) = (\ell^{\alpha_k}, \operatorname{val} a_{\alpha_k}).$$

Note that $\alpha_0 = 0$ and that $\alpha_K = n$. With these notations, the edge of $\mathcal{N}(L)$ with slope μ_k has $p_{k-1} = (\ell^{\alpha_{k-1}}, \beta_{k-1})$ as its left endpoint and $p_k = (\ell^{\alpha_k}, \beta_k)$ as its right endpoint.

Example 5. The main algorithm presented in this paper will be illustrated in section 9 on the Mahler operator of order 2 given by

(14)
$$L = z\phi_2^2 + (z-1)\phi_2 - 2.$$

The set $\mathcal{P}(L)$, the Newton polygon $\mathcal{N}(L)$ and the vertices p_k associated to this specific L are given in section 9.1 and represented in Figure 2.

We note the following result for further use.

Lemma 6. For all $(\ell^i, j) \in \mathcal{P}(L)$ and all $k \in \{1, \ldots, K\}$, we have:

(15)
$$-\ell^{i}\mu_{k} + j \ge -\ell^{\alpha_{k}}\mu_{k} + \beta_{k} = -\ell^{\alpha_{k-1}}\mu_{k} + \beta_{k-1}.$$

In geometric terms, this means that the minimum of the ordinates of the projections of points of $\mathcal{P}(L)$ along a line of slope μ_k on the y-axis is reached at p_{k-1} and at p_k .

Proof. Lemma 3 applied with $\mu = \mu_k$, $(\ell^{i_1}, \operatorname{val} a_{i_1}) = p_k$ and $(\ell^{i_2}, \operatorname{val} a_{i_2}) = p_{k-1}$ ensures that $-\ell^{\alpha_k}\mu_k + \beta_k = -\ell^{\alpha_{k-1}}\mu_k + \beta_{k-1} = \min_{i \in \{0, \dots, n\}} -\ell^i\mu_k + \operatorname{val} a_i$. The inequality (15) follows from this and from the fact that, for all $(\ell^i, j) \in \mathcal{P}(L)$, we have $j \geq \operatorname{val} a_i$ and, hence, $-\ell^i\mu_k + j \geq -\ell^i\mu_k + \operatorname{val} a_i$. \Box

3.4. The maps Ψ , ψ and π . In the rest of the paper, we will intensively use the following three maps:

(16)

$$\begin{aligned}
\Psi : \mathbb{Q} &\to \{ \text{Finite subsets of } \mathbb{Q} \} \\
v &\mapsto \{ v\ell^i + j \mid (\ell^i, j) \in \mathcal{P}(L) \} \\
\psi : \mathbb{Q} &\to \mathbb{Q} \\
v &\mapsto \min \Psi(v) = \min\{ v\ell^i + j \mid (\ell^i, j) \in \mathcal{P}(L) \} \\
&= \min\{ v\ell^i + \operatorname{val} a_i \mid i \in \{0, \dots, n\} \} \\
&\text{and} \\
\pi : \mathbb{Q} \to \mathbb{Q}
\end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{array}{rcl} : \mathbb{Q} & \to & \mathbb{Q} \\ q & \mapsto & \max\left\{ \frac{q-j}{\ell^i} \mid (\ell^i, j) \in \mathcal{P}(L) \right\} = -\min \mathcal{S}(L, z^q) \, . \end{array}$$

These maps are well-defined because $\mathcal{P}(L)$ is finite according to Remark 4. In geometric terms:

- $\Psi(v)$ is the set of ordinates of the projection of the elements of $\mathcal{P}(L)$ along a line of slope -v onto the y-axis;
- $\psi(v)$ is the least of these ordinates;
- $\pi(q)$ is the opposite of the minimum of the slopes of the lines passing through (0,q) and an element of $\mathcal{P}(L)$.

Let us now give a more computational interpretation of these maps. Setting, for any $i \in \{0, \ldots, n\}$,

$$a_i = \sum_{j \in \operatorname{supp} a_i} a_{i,j} z^j,$$

we have

(17)
$$L(z^{\nu}) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} a_{i,j} z^{\nu \ell^{i} + j} = \sum_{(\ell^{i},j) \in \mathcal{P}(L)} a_{i,j} z^{\nu \ell^{i} + j}.$$

This formula shows that $\Psi(v)$ is a natural receptacle for the support of $L(z^v)$. Indeed, we have

(18)
$$\operatorname{supp} L(z^v) \subset \Psi(v),$$

this inclusion being an equality for all but finitely many $v \in \mathbb{Q}$, *e.g.*, for all $v \in \mathbb{Q}$ such that the exponents $v\ell^i + j$ involved in (17) are two by two distinct, because there is no cancellation between terms on the right-hand side of (17) in this case. It follows immediately from these remarks that

$$\psi(v) \leq \operatorname{val} L(z^v)$$

and that this inequality is an equality for all but finitely many $v \in \mathbb{Q}$ (actually, Lemma 11 below ensures that this is the case for all $v \in \mathbb{Q} \setminus -\mathcal{S}(L)$). Last, it is easily seen that, for all but finitely many $q \in \mathbb{Q}$, the equation val $L(z^w) = q$ has a unique solution $w \in \mathbb{Q}$ and that it is given by $w = \pi(q)$.

It will be convenient to set

$$\psi(+\infty) = \pi(+\infty) = +\infty.$$

We shall now give several properties of the maps ψ and π which will shall use later.

Lemma 7. The maps $\psi : \mathbb{Q} \to \mathbb{Q}$ and $\pi : \mathbb{Q} \to \mathbb{Q}$ are increasing⁴ bijections and inverse of each other.

Proof. The fact that these maps are increasing is immediate from their definitions. In particular, ψ and π are injective. In order to prove that ψ and π are inverse of each other, it is thus sufficient to prove that $\psi(\pi(q)) = q$ for every $q \in \mathbb{Q}$. Let us prove this. On the one hand, by definition of π , there exists $(\ell^i, j) \in \mathcal{P}(L)$ such that

$$\pi(q) = \frac{q-j}{\ell^i}.$$

⁴In the whole paper, a function $f : \mathbb{Q} \to \mathbb{Q}$ is said to be increasing if, for all $x, y \in \mathbb{Q}$, $(y > x \Rightarrow f(y) > f(x))$. It is nondecreasing if, for all $x, y \in \mathbb{Q}$, $(y \ge x \Rightarrow f(y) \ge f(x))$. We will use similar terminologies for sequences of real numbers or of sets.

Since $(\ell^i, j) \in \mathcal{P}(L)$, it follows from the definition of ψ that

$$\psi(\pi(q)) \le \ell^i \pi(q) + j = \ell^i \frac{q-j}{\ell^i} + j = q.$$

On the other hand, by definition of ψ , there exists $(\ell^{i'}, j') \in \mathcal{P}(L)$ such that

$$\psi(\pi(q)) = \ell^{i'}\pi(q) + j'.$$

But, since $(\ell^{i'}, j') \in \mathcal{P}(L)$, it follows from the definition of π that

$$\pi(q) \ge \frac{q-j'}{\ell^{i'}}.$$

So, we have

$$\psi(\pi(q)) \ge \ell^{i'} \frac{q-j'}{\ell^{i'}} + j' = q$$

Finally, we obtain $\psi(\pi(q)) = q$.

Lemma 8. Consider $v \in \mathbb{Q}$. If $k \in \{1, \ldots, K+1\}$ is such that $-\mu_k \leq v \leq -\mu_{k-1}$, with the conventions $\mu_0 = -\infty$ and $\mu_{K+1} = +\infty$, then

(19)
$$\psi(v) = \ell^{\alpha_{k-1}}v + \beta_{k-1}.$$

In geometric terms, the formula (19) means that $\psi(v)$ is the ordinate of the projection of $p_{k-1} = (\ell^{\alpha_{k-1}}, \beta_{k-1})$ along a line of slope -v on the y-axis.

Proof. By definition, $\psi(v) = \min\{\ell^{\alpha}v + \beta \mid (\ell^{\alpha}, \beta) \in \mathcal{P}(L)\}$ so, in order to prove the lemma, it is sufficient to prove that, for all $(\ell^{\alpha}, \beta) \in \mathcal{P}(L)$, for all $v \in [-\mu_k, -\mu_{k-1}], \ell^{\alpha}v + \beta \geq \ell^{\alpha_{k-1}}v + \beta_{k-1}$. In other terms, we have to prove that, for $(\ell^{\alpha}, \beta) \in \mathcal{P}(L)$, the map

$$\begin{split} \delta &: \mathbb{R} &\to \mathbb{R} \\ v &\mapsto \ell^{\alpha} v + \beta - (\ell^{\alpha_{k-1}} v + \beta_{k-1}) \end{split}$$

takes nonnegative values on $[-\mu_k, -\mu_{k-1}]$. Let us prove this.

Let us first assume that $k \in \{2, ..., K\}$. It follows from Lemma 6 (applied with k - 1 instead of k for the second inequality) that

$$-\ell^{\alpha}\mu_{k} + \beta \ge -\ell^{\alpha_{k-1}}\mu_{k} + \beta_{k-1} \quad \text{and} \quad -\ell^{\alpha}\mu_{k-1} + \beta \ge -\ell^{\alpha_{k-1}}\mu_{k-1} + \beta_{k-1}.$$

Thus $\delta(-\mu_k) \ge 0$ and $\delta(-\mu_{k-1}) \ge 0$. Since δ is affine, it follows that, for all $v \in [-\mu_k, -\mu_{k-1}], \, \delta(v) \ge 0$, as wanted.

Let us now consider the case k = 1. It follows from Lemma 6 that

$$-\ell^{\alpha}\mu_1 + \beta \ge -\ell^{\alpha_0}\mu_1 + \beta_0.$$

In other words, $\delta(-\mu_1) \ge 0$. Since $\alpha_0 = 0$, the function δ is either increasing or constant. Thus, for any $v \ge -\mu_1$, $\delta(v) \ge \delta(-\mu_1) \ge 0$, as wanted.

Let us eventually consider the case k = K + 1. It follows from Lemma 6 that

$$-\ell^{\alpha}\mu_{K} + \beta \ge -\ell^{\alpha_{K}}\mu_{K} + \beta_{K}.$$

In other words, $\delta(-\mu_K) \ge 0$. Since $\alpha_K = n \ge \alpha$, the function δ is either decreasing or constant. Thus, for any $v \le -\mu_K$, $\delta(v) \ge \delta(-\mu_K) \ge 0$, as wanted.

Example 9. An illustration of Lemma 8 for the operator L given by (14) is given by Figure 2 in Section 9. Indeed, with the hypotheses and notations of Figure 2, we have K = 2, $\mu_1 = 0$, $\mu_2 = 1/2$ and Lemma 8 ensures that:

- if $0 \le v$, then $\psi(v)$ is the ordinate of the projection of p_0 along a line of slope -v on the y-axis;
- if $-1/2 \le v \le 0$, then $\psi(v)$ is the ordinate of the projection of p_1 along a line of slope -v on the y-axis;
- if $v \leq -1/2$, then $\psi(v)$ is the ordinate of the projection of p_2 along a line of slope -v on the y-axis.

This is indeed what we see on Subfigure 2(A) (resp. 2(B), 2(C)) when v = 1/4 (resp. -1/4, -3/4).

Lemma 10. If $-\mu_k \leq \pi(q) \leq -\mu_{k-1}$ for some $k \in \{1, \ldots, K+1\}$ with the conventions $\mu_0 = -\infty$ and $\mu_{K+1} = +\infty$, then

(20)
$$\pi(q) = \frac{q - \beta_{k-1}}{\ell^{\alpha_{k-1}}}.$$

In geometric terms, the formula (20) means that $\pi(q)$ is the opposite of the slope of the line passing through (0,q) and $p_{k-1} = (\ell^{\alpha_{k-1}}, \beta_{k-1})$.

Proof. Applying Lemma 8 with $v = \pi(q)$ we obtain

$$\psi(\pi(q)) = \ell^{\alpha_{k-1}} \pi(q) + \beta_{k-1}.$$

The result follows from this formula since, according to Lemma 7, we have $q = \psi(\pi(q))$.

3.5. Supports, valuations and the maps Ψ , ψ and π . Roughly speaking, the results presented in this section aim to relate the valuations and the supports of L(f) and of f via the maps Ψ , ψ and π introduced in section 3.4. These results will be used extensively in the remainder of this paper.

Lemma 11. For any $f \in \mathcal{H}$, we have

$$\operatorname{val} L(f) \ge \psi(\operatorname{val} f).$$

If val $f \notin -\mathcal{S}(L)$, then

$$\operatorname{val} L(f) = \psi(\operatorname{val} f).$$

Proof. The result is obvious if f = 0. In the rest of the proof, we assume that $f \neq 0$. As a preliminary remark, note the following obvious but important formula:

(21)
$$\min_{i \in \{0,...,n\}} \operatorname{val}(a_i \phi_{\ell}^i(f)) = \min_{i \in \{0,...,n\}} \operatorname{val}(a_i + \ell^i) \operatorname{val}(f) = \psi(\operatorname{val}(f)).$$

We have

(22)
$$L(f) = a_n \phi_\ell^n(f) + a_{n-1} \phi_\ell^{n-1}(f) + \dots + a_0 f.$$

Using (9), we get

$$\operatorname{val} L(f) \ge \min_{i \in \{0, \dots, n\}} \operatorname{val}(a_i \phi_{\ell}^i(f)).$$

Combining the latter inequality with (21), we get the first assertion of the Lemma.

Let us prove the contrapositive of the second assertion. Assume that $\operatorname{val} L(f) \neq \psi(\operatorname{val} f)$. The first part of the Lemma ensures that $\operatorname{val} L(f) > \psi(\operatorname{val} f)$. Using (21), the latter inequality can be rewritten as

$$\operatorname{val} L(f) > \min_{i \in \{0, \dots, n\}} \operatorname{val}(a_i \phi_{\ell}^i(f)).$$

Combining the latter inequality with (22), we see that there exist distinct indices $i_1, i_2 \in \{0, \ldots, n\}$ such that

$$\operatorname{val}(a_{i_1}\phi_{\ell}^{i_1}(f)) = \operatorname{val}(a_{i_2}\phi_{\ell}^{i_2}(f)) = \min_{i \in \{0, \dots, n\}} \operatorname{val}(a_i\phi_{\ell}^i(f)),$$

i.e., such that

$$\operatorname{val} a_{i_1} + \ell^{i_1} \operatorname{val} f = \operatorname{val} a_{i_2} + \ell^{i_2} \operatorname{val} f = \min_{i \in \{0, \dots, n\}} \operatorname{val} a_i + \ell^i \operatorname{val} f.$$

Using Lemma 3, we see that val $f \in -\mathcal{S}(L)$.

Lemma 12. For any solution $f \in \mathscr{H}$ of (10), we have

$$\operatorname{val} f \in \{\pi(\operatorname{val} a_{-\infty})\} \cup -\mathcal{S}(L).$$

Proof. If f = 0, then $a_{-\infty} = L(f) = L(0) = 0$ and, hence, val $f = \text{val } a_{-\infty} = +\infty$. This proves the lemma in this case.

From now on, we assume that $f \neq 0$. We have

(23)
$$a_n \phi_\ell^n(f) + a_{n-1} \phi_\ell^{n-1}(f) + \dots + a_0 f - a_{-\infty} = 0.$$

The equality (23) ensures that there exist distinct indices $i_1, i_2 \in \{-\infty, 0, \ldots, n\}$ such that

$$\operatorname{val}(a_{i_1}\phi_{\ell}^{i_1}(f)) = \operatorname{val}(a_{i_2}\phi_{\ell}^{i_2}(f)) = \min_{i \in \{-\infty, 0, \dots, n\}} \operatorname{val}(a_i\phi_{\ell}^{i}(f)),$$

i.e., such that

$$\operatorname{val} a_{i_1} + \ell^{i_1} \operatorname{val} f = \operatorname{val} a_{i_2} + \ell^{i_2} \operatorname{val} f = \min_{i \in \{-\infty, 0, \dots, n\}} \operatorname{val} a_i + \ell^i \operatorname{val} f.$$

In what precedes, when $i = -\infty$, by $\operatorname{val}(a_i \phi_{\ell}^i(f))$ and by $\operatorname{val} a_i + \ell^i \operatorname{val} f$, we mean $\operatorname{val} a_{-\infty}$. Using Lemma 3, we see that $\operatorname{val} f \in -\mathcal{S}(L, a_{-\infty})$. We conclude by using the following inclusion that follows directly from the definitions:

$$-\mathcal{S}(L, a_{-\infty}) \subset \{\pi(\operatorname{val} a_{-\infty})\} \cup -\mathcal{S}(L).$$

Corollary 13. Two solutions $f, g \in \mathcal{H}$ of (10) are equal if and only if they are equal on $-\mathcal{S}(L)$.

Proof. If two solutions f and g of (10) are equal on $-\mathcal{S}(L)$, then h = g - f is equal to 0 on $-\mathcal{S}(L)$ and, hence, val $h \notin -\mathcal{S}(L)$. But, since h satisfies L(h) = 0, Lemma 12 ensures that val $h \in \{+\infty\} \cup -\mathcal{S}(L)$. Therefore, val $h = +\infty$ and, hence, h = 0, *i.e.*, f = g as claimed.

Lemma 14. For any $f \in \mathscr{H}$, we have $\operatorname{supp} L(f) \subset \bigcup_{\gamma \in \operatorname{supp} f} \Psi(\gamma)$.

Proof. We set, for any $i \in \{0, ..., n\}$, $a_i = \sum_{j \in \text{supp } a_i} a_{i,j} z^j$. We have

$$L(f) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} a_i \phi_{\ell}^i(f) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} \sum_{j \in \text{supp } a_i} a_{i,j} z^j \phi_{\ell}^i(f),$$

 \mathbf{SO}

ŝ

$$supp L(f) \subset \bigcup_{i=0}^{n} \bigcup_{j \in supp a_{i}} supp z^{j} \phi_{\ell}^{i}(f)$$

$$= \bigcup_{i=0}^{n} \bigcup_{j \in supp a_{i}} \bigcup_{\gamma \in supp f} \{\gamma \ell^{i} + j\}$$

$$= \bigcup_{\gamma \in supp f} \bigcup_{i=0}^{n} \bigcup_{j \in supp a_{i}} \{\gamma \ell^{i} + j\}$$

$$= \bigcup_{\gamma \in supp f} \{\gamma \ell^{i} + j \mid (\ell^{i}, j) \in \mathcal{P}(L)\} = \bigcup_{\gamma \in supp f} \Psi(\gamma).$$

3.6. A map of fundamental importance. The map

(24)
$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathbb{Q} & \to & \{ \text{Finite subsets of } \mathbb{Q} \} \\ v & \mapsto & \pi(\Psi(v)) \end{array}$$

will play central role in this paper. For a graphic illustration of this map for the operator L given by (14), we refer to Figure 2.

Let us briefly explain how this map naturally arises when we seek to understand the support of the Hahn series solutions of Mahler equations. Consider $f = \sum_{\gamma \in \mathbb{Q}} f_{\gamma} z^{\gamma} \in \mathscr{H}$ such that L(f) = 0. To simplify the presentation, we assume that supp f has at least two elements and we ask: what are the possible values for the two least elements $\gamma_0 < \gamma_1$ of supp f? We have $\gamma_0 = \operatorname{val} f$, $\gamma_1 = \operatorname{val} f_{|\mathbb{Q}>\gamma_0}$ and

$$f = f_{|\mathbb{Q}_{>\gamma_1}} + f_{\gamma_1} z^{\gamma_1} + f_{\gamma_0} z^{\gamma_0}.$$

What are the possible values for γ_0 ? Lemma 12 provides an immediate answer to this question: $\gamma_0 \in -\mathcal{S}(L)$.

What are the possible values for γ_1 ? In order to answer this question, note that the equations L(f) = 0 and $f = f_{|\mathbb{Q}>\gamma_0} + f_{\gamma_0}z^{\gamma_0}$ imply $L(f_{|\mathbb{Q}>\gamma_0}) = -f_{\gamma_0}L(z^{\gamma_0})$. Lemma 12 ensures that $\gamma_1 = \operatorname{val} f_{|\mathbb{Q}>\gamma_0} \in \{\pi(\operatorname{val} L(z^{\gamma_0}))\} \cup -\mathcal{S}(L)$. But, it follows from Lemma 14 that $\operatorname{supp} L(z^{\gamma_0}) \subset \Psi(\gamma_0)$. So, $\gamma_1 \in \pi(\Psi(\gamma_0)) \cup -\mathcal{S}(L)$. Since $\gamma_0 \in -\mathcal{S}(L)$ and since $-\mathcal{S}(L) \subset \bigcup_{v \in -\mathcal{S}(L)} \pi(\Psi(v))$ as a consequence of the first assertion of Lemma 15 below, we get

$$\gamma_1 \in \bigcup_{v \in -\mathcal{S}(L)} \pi(\Psi(v)).$$

We see the map (24) naturally appear here. Iterating this in order to reach more and more elements of the support of f, we can guess that the map (24)and its iterates should play a central role in the study of the support of the Hahn series solution of (10). We will see in section 4 and, more precisely, in Theorem 17 that this is indeed the case.

Note the following result for further use.

Lemma 15. For all $v \in \mathbb{Q}$, we have

 $v \in \pi(\Psi(v))$

and

(25)
$$\min \pi(\Psi(v)) = \pi(\min \Psi(v)) = \pi(\psi(v)) = v.$$

Proof. In order to prove the lemma, it is sufficient to prove (25). The first equality in (25) follows from the fact that π is increasing by Lemma 7. The second equality in (25) follows from the definition of ψ . The third equality in (25) follows form the fact that π and ψ are inverse of each other by Lemma 7.

4. A receptacle $\mathcal V$ for the support of the solutions

Throughout this section, we consider a Mahler operator

(26)
$$L = a_n \phi_{\ell}^n + a_{n-1} \phi_{\ell}^{n-1} + \dots + a_{\ell}$$

with coefficients $a_0, \ldots, a_n \in \mathbf{K}[z]$ such that $a_0 a_n \neq 0$. We let

$$\operatorname{Sol}(L,\mathscr{H}) = \{ f \in \mathscr{H} \mid L(f) = 0 \}$$

be the **K**-vector space of solutions of L in \mathcal{H} . In what follows, we will use the following terminology:

Definition 16. We say that a subset \mathcal{Q} of \mathbb{Q} is computable if there exists an algorithm which takes a rational number q as input and returns whether it belongs to \mathcal{Q} or not.

The aim of this section is to describe a computable well-ordered subset \mathcal{V} of \mathbb{Q} containing the support of any Hahn series solution of L, *i.e.*, such that

(27)
$$\operatorname{Sol}(L,\mathscr{H}) \subset \mathscr{H}_{|\mathcal{V}|}$$

(and satisfying a technical but important stability condition with respect to the map (24)).

Theorem 17. Let $(\mathcal{V}_i)_{i\geq 0}$ be the sequence of finite subsets of \mathbb{Q} defined as follows:

- $\mathcal{V}_0 = -\mathcal{S}(L);$
- $\forall i \geq 0, \ \mathcal{V}_{i+1} = \bigcup_{v \in \mathcal{V}_i} \pi(\Psi(v)).$

The sequence $(\mathcal{V}_i)_{i\geq 0}$ is nondecreasing and the set $\mathcal{V} = \bigcup_{i\geq 0} \mathcal{V}_i$ has the following properties:

- (1) $\operatorname{Sol}(L, \mathscr{H}) \subset \mathscr{H}_{|\mathcal{V}};$
- (2) \mathcal{V} is well-ordered;
- (3) \mathcal{V} is computable;
- $(4) -\mathcal{S}(L) \subset \mathcal{V};$
- (5) $\bigcup_{v \in \mathcal{V}} \pi(\Psi(v)) = \mathcal{V}.$

Property (4) is obvious and Property (5) follows immediately from Lemma 15 and the construction of \mathcal{V} . They will be freely used in the proofs of the other assertions of Theorem 17 given in the next subsections. The fact that $(\mathcal{V}_i)_{i\geq 0}$ is nondecreasing is proved in section 4.1. Section 4.2 gives a couple of basic properties of \mathcal{V} that will be used for the proofs of properties (1), (2) and (3) of Theorem 17 but also latter in the paper. Properties (1), (2) and (3) of Theorem 17 are proved in sections 4.3, 4.4 and 4.5 respectively.

15

Remark 18. The existence of a subset \mathcal{V} of \mathbb{Q} satisfying properties (1) and (2) is obvious: the support of any element of $\operatorname{Sol}(L, \mathscr{H})$ is included in the union of the supports of the elements of an arbitrary basis of $\operatorname{Sol}(L, \mathscr{H})$ (which is a finite dimensional sub-**K**-vector space of \mathscr{H} with dimension at most n). But, this is not sufficient for our purpose, all the properties listed in Theorem 17 will be used. In particular:

- property (3) is of fundamental importance for the algorithmic considerations of this paper; it is one of the crucial ingredients that makes our answer to Question 1, given by Theorem 62, possible;
- property (4) is a precaution to ensure that property (1) is satisfied;
- property (5) is essential in section 6 to build the set \mathcal{R} mentioned in the introduction.

Example 19. The sets $\mathcal{V}_0, \mathcal{V}_1, \mathcal{V}_2$ are computed in section 9.3 for the operator L given by (14).

In what follows, we will use the following notations:

- we continue with the notations $\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_K, \alpha_k, \beta_k, etc$, from section 3;
- we let $d \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$ be a common multiple of the denominators of the slopes μ_1, \ldots, μ_K ;
- for any subset \mathcal{Q} of \mathbb{Q} and any $\gamma \in \mathbb{Q}$, we set $\mathcal{Q}_{>\gamma} = \mathcal{Q} \cap \mathbb{Q}_{>\gamma}$, $\mathcal{Q}_{\geq \gamma} = \mathcal{Q} \cap \mathbb{Q}_{\geq \gamma}, \ \mathcal{Q}_{<\gamma} = \mathcal{Q} \cap \mathbb{Q}_{<\gamma}$ and $\mathcal{Q}_{\leq \gamma} = \mathcal{Q} \cap \mathbb{Q}_{\leq \gamma}$.

4.1. Proof of the fact that $(\mathcal{V}_i)_{i\geq 0}$ is nondecreasing in Theorem 17. Consider $i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ and $v \in \mathcal{V}_i$. Lemma 15 ensures that $v \in \pi(\Psi(v))$. But, $\pi(\Psi(v)) \subset \pi(\bigcup_{w \in \mathcal{V}_i} \Psi(w)) = \mathcal{V}_{i+1}$. So, $v \in \mathcal{V}_{i+1}$. This shows that $\mathcal{V}_i \subset \mathcal{V}_{i+1}$.

4.2. Basic properties of \mathcal{V} .

Lemma 20. The set \mathcal{V} has a minimal element given by $\min \mathcal{V} = \min \mathcal{V}_0 = \min -\mathcal{S}(L) = -\mu_K$.

Proof. We claim that, for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$,

(28)
$$\min \mathcal{V}_{i+1} = \min \mathcal{V}_i.$$

Indeed, for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$, we have $\mathcal{V}_{i+1} = \pi(\bigcup_{v \in \mathcal{V}_i} \Psi(v)) = \bigcup_{v \in \mathcal{V}_i} \pi(\Psi(v))$. But, Lemma 15 ensures that, for all $v \in \mathbb{Q}$, $\min \pi(\Psi(v)) = v$. So,

$$\min \mathcal{V}_{i+1} = \min \bigcup_{v \in \mathcal{V}_i} \pi(\Psi(v)) = \min_{v \in \mathcal{V}_i} \min \pi(\Psi(v)) = \min_{v \in \mathcal{V}_i} v = \min \mathcal{V}_i,$$

whence our claim. Now, the equality $\min \mathcal{V} = \min \mathcal{V}_0$ follows clearly from the fact that $\mathcal{V} = \bigcup_{i \ge 0} \mathcal{V}_i$ and from (28). The equality $\min \mathcal{V}_0 = \min -\mathcal{S}(L)$ follows from the fact that $\mathcal{V}_0 = -\mathcal{S}(L)$ by definition. The equality $\min -\mathcal{S}(L) = -\mu_K$ follows from the fact that μ_K is the greatest slope of L.

Lemma 21. Consider $v \in \mathcal{V}$. Let M be the least element of $\mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ such that $v \in \mathcal{V}_M$. There exist $v_0 < \cdots < v_{M-1} < v_M = v$ in \mathcal{V} such that

- $v_0 \in -\mathcal{S}(L);$
- $v_{i+1} \in \pi \ (\Psi(v_i))$ for any $i \in \{0, \dots, M-1\}$.

Proof. The case M = 0 being obvious, we will assume in the remainder of this proof that $M \ge 1$. It follows immediately from the definition of the \mathcal{V}_i that there exist $v_0, \ldots, v_{M-1}, v_M = v$ in \mathcal{V} such that

- $v_0 \in -\mathcal{S}(L);$
- $v_{i+1} \in \pi(\Psi(v_i))$ for any $i \in \{0, \dots, M-1\}$.

Lemma 15 guarantees that, for all $i \in \{0, \ldots, M-1\}$, $\min \pi(\Psi(v_i)) = v_i$, so $v_{i+1} \ge v_i$. Therefore, we have $v_0 \le \cdots \le v_M$. If one these inequalities were an equality, then v_M would belong to \mathcal{V}_{M-1} and this would contradict the minimality of M. Thus, $v_0 < \cdots < v_M$. This concludes the proof. \Box

4.3. **Proof of** (1) **of Theorem 17.** Consider $f \in \text{Sol}(L, \mathcal{H})$. We want to prove that $\text{supp} f \subset \mathcal{V}$. Assume on the contrary that $\text{supp} f \not\subset \mathcal{V}$. Then, the set $\text{supp}(f) \setminus \mathcal{V}$ is nonempty and well-ordered. In particular, we can consider

$$\gamma_{\min} = \min\left(\operatorname{supp}(f) \setminus \mathcal{V}\right).$$

By minimality of γ_{\min} , we have

(29)
$$\operatorname{supp} f_{|\mathbb{Q}<\gamma_{\min}} \subset \mathcal{V}.$$

Consider the decomposition

$$f = f_{|\mathbb{Q}_{<\gamma_{\min}}} + f_{|\mathbb{Q}_{\geq\gamma_{\min}}}$$

The equality L(f) = 0 implies the equality $L(f_{|\mathbb{Q} \ge \gamma_{\min}}) = -L(f_{|\mathbb{Q} < \gamma_{\min}})$ and we infer from Lemma 12 that

(30)
$$\gamma_{\min} = \operatorname{val} f_{|\mathbb{Q}_{\geq \gamma_{\min}}} \in \{\pi(\operatorname{val} L(f_{|\mathbb{Q}_{<\gamma_{\min}}}))\} \cup -\mathcal{S}(L).$$

Since $\gamma_{\min} \in \operatorname{supp}(f) \setminus \mathcal{V}$ and $-\mathcal{S}(L) \subset \mathcal{V}$, we have $\gamma_{\min} \notin -\mathcal{S}(L)$ so (30) gives

(31)
$$\gamma_{\min} = \pi (\operatorname{val} L(f_{|\mathbb{Q}_{<\gamma_{\min}}}))$$

In particular, this implies that $L(f_{|\mathbb{Q}_{\leq \gamma_{\min}}}) \neq 0$. Lemma 14 ensures that

(32)
$$\operatorname{val} L(f_{|\mathbb{Q}<\gamma_{\min}}) \in \operatorname{supp} L(f_{|\mathbb{Q}<\gamma_{\min}}) \subset \bigcup_{\gamma \in \operatorname{supp} f_{|\mathbb{Q}<\gamma_{\min}}} \Psi(\gamma).$$

Combining (31) and (32), we get

(33)
$$\gamma_{\min} \in \pi \left(\bigcup_{\gamma \in \operatorname{supp} f_{|\mathbb{Q}_{<\gamma_{\min}}}} \Psi(\gamma) \right).$$

The right-hand side of (33) is included in $\pi(\bigcup_{\gamma \in \mathcal{V}} \Psi(\gamma))$ by (29) and the latter set is equal to \mathcal{V} by property (5) of Theorem 17. So, $\gamma_{\min} \in \mathcal{V}$. This is a contradiction.

4.4. **Proof of** (2) **of Theorem 17.** We argue by contradiction: we assume that \mathcal{V} is not well-ordered. Thus, the set D made up of the infinite decreasing sequences with values in \mathcal{V} is nonempty. Lemma 20 ensures that $\mathcal{V} \subset \mathbb{Q}_{\geq -\mu_K}$. Therefore, any element of D has a limit in $\mathbb{R}_{\geq -\mu_K}$. We let $E \subset \mathbb{R}_{\geq -\mu_K}$ be the (nonempty) set made of these limits. We set $w = \inf E \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq -\mu_K}$. It is easily seen that $w \in E$. We let $(w_m)_{m\geq 0}$ be an arbitrary element of D tending to w.

Note that, for all $m \geq 0$, $w_m > w_{m+1} \geq w$, so $w_m > w$. Consider $k \in \{1, \ldots, K\}$ such that $-\mu_k \leq w < -\mu_{k-1}$ with the convention $\mu_0 = -\infty$. Since $(w_m)_{m\geq 0}$ is decreasing and tends to w, up to replacing $(w_m)_{m\geq 0}$ by $(w_{m+M})_{m\geq 0}$ with $M \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ large enough, we can assume that, for all

 $m \ge 0, -\mu_k < w_m < -\mu_{k-1}$, where the first inequality is legitimate because $w_m > w \ge -\mu_k$.

Lemma 21 ensures that, for any $M \ge 0$, there exist $r_M \in \mathbb{Z}_{\ge 0}$ and $v_{M,0} < \cdots < v_{M,r_M} = w_M$ in \mathcal{V} such that

- $v_{M,0} \in -\mathcal{S}(L);$
- $v_{M,i+1} \in \pi (\Psi(v_{M,i}))$ for any $i \in \{0, \ldots, r_M 1\}$.

For any $M \geq 0$, we have $v_{M,r_M} = w_M > w$, so one can consider the least element r'_M of $\{0, \ldots, r_M\}$ such that $v_{M,r'_M} > w$. It is important to notice that $r'_M \geq 1$ for all $M \geq 0$, because $-\mu_k \leq w < v_{M,r'_M} \leq w_M < -\mu_{k-1}$, so $v_{M,r'_M} \notin -\mathcal{S}(L)$ and, in particular, $v_{M,r'_M} \neq v_{M,0}$. The inequality $w_M \geq v_{M,r'_M} > w$ and the fact that $(w_m)_{m\geq 0}$ tends to w show that $(v_{M,r'_M})_{M\geq 0}$ tends to w and that, up to extracting a subsequence, we can assume that $(v_{M,r'_M})_{M\geq 0}$ is decreasing.

We set $q_M = \psi(v_{M,r'_M})$, so that $q_M \in \Psi(v_{M,r'_M})$ is such that $v_{M,r'_M} = \pi(q_M)$ by Lemma 7. As $-\mu_k \leq w < v_{M,r'_M} = \pi(q_M) \leq w_M < -\mu_{k-1}$, it follows from Lemma 10 that, for all $M \geq 0$,

(34)
$$v_{M,r'_M} = \pi(q_M) = \frac{q_M - \beta_{k-1}}{\ell^{\alpha_{k-1}}}$$

where $(\ell^{\alpha_{k-1}}, \beta_{k-1}) \in \mathcal{P}(L)$ is the left endpoint of the edge of $\mathcal{N}(L)$ with slope μ_k . Moreover, since, for all $M \geq 0$, $v_{M,r'_M} \in \pi(\Psi(v_{M,r'_M-1}))$ and since ψ and π are inverse of each other by Lemma 7, we have $q_M = \psi(v_{M,r'_M}) \in$ $\psi(\pi(\Psi(v_{M,r'_M-1}))) = \Psi(v_{M,r'_M-1})$ and, hence, there exists $(\ell^{i_M}, j_M) \in \mathcal{P}(L)$ such that

(35)
$$q_M = \ell^{i_M} v_{M,r'_M-1} + j_M.$$

Since $\mathcal{P}(L)$ is finite, up to extracting a subsequence, we can assume that $i_M = \alpha$ and $j_M = \beta$ do not depend on $M \ge 0$. Combining (34) and (35), we obtain, for all $M \ge 0$,

$$v_{M,r'_M} = \frac{\ell^{\alpha} v_{M,r'_M-1} + \beta - \beta_{k-1}}{\ell^{\alpha_{k-1}}}$$

and, hence,

$$v_{M,r'_{M}-1} = \frac{\ell^{\alpha_{k-1}} v_{M,r'_{M}} + \beta_{k-1} - \beta}{\ell^{\alpha}}$$

The latter equality can be rewritten as $v_{M,r'_M-1} = \delta(v_{M,r'_M})$ where $\delta : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ is the increasing affine function defined by $\delta(x) = \frac{\ell^{\alpha_{k-1}}x + \beta_{k-1} - \beta}{\ell^{\alpha}}$. Since $(v_{M,r'_M})_{M\geq 0}$ is decreasing, this implies that $(v_{M,r'_M-1})_{M\geq 0}$ is decreasing as well and, hence, belongs to D. Let w' be the limit of $(v_{M,r'_M-1})_{M\geq 0}$. Since $(v_{M,r'_M-1})_{M\geq 0}$ is decreasing and satisfies, for all $M \geq 0$, $v_{M,r'_M-1} \leq w$, we have w' < w. This contradicts the minimality of w and concludes the proof of (2) of Theorem 17.

4.5. Proof of (3) of Theorem 17. We set

$$\mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell} = \bigcup_{i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}} \frac{1}{d\ell^i} \mathbb{Z} \subset \mathbb{Q}.$$

Note that we do not require the integers d and ℓ to be coprime. We introduce the following two maps that will play an important role in this section:

$$\begin{array}{rccc} h & : & \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell} & \to & \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0} \\ & v & \mapsto & h(v) = \min\left\{i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0} \mid v \in \frac{1}{d\ell^i} \mathbb{Z}\right\}\end{array}$$

and

(36)
$$\epsilon : \mathbb{Q} \to \mathbb{Q}_{>0} \cup \{+\infty\}$$
$$v \mapsto \epsilon(v) = \min \mathcal{V}_{>v} - v$$

with the convention $\epsilon(v) = +\infty$ if $\mathcal{V}_{>v} = \emptyset$. The fact that ϵ is well-defined and takes its values in $\mathbb{Q}_{>0} \cup \{+\infty\}$, *i.e.*, the fact that $\mathcal{V}_{>v}$ has a minimal element if it is not empty, follows from the fact that \mathcal{V} is well-ordered.

4.5.1. Computability of \mathcal{V} : description of an algorithm. Let us temporarily admit the following result which will be proved in section 4.5.2.

Proposition 22. For any $v \in \mathbb{Q}$, the following properties are equivalent:

(1)
$$v \in \mathcal{V}$$
;
(2) $v \in \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}, v \ge -\mu_K \text{ and } v \in \mathcal{V}_{\iota(v)} \text{ where}$
(37) $\iota(v) = \left| (n+1)\frac{v+\mu_K}{\tau} + h(v) \right|$

with

(38)
$$\tau := \min\left\{\epsilon(-\mu_1), \dots, \epsilon(-\mu_K), (d\ell^n)^{-1}\right\} \in \mathbb{Q}_{>0}.$$

The interest of this result lies in the fact that, while \mathcal{V} is infinite, the set $\mathcal{V}_{\iota(v)}$ is finite and can be easily computed (directly from its definition) once $\iota(v)$ has been computed. Unfortunately, $\iota(v)$ is not easy to compute. More precisely, while in formula (37) the values of n, μ_K and h(v) can be easily computed, the value of τ cannot. This problem can be solved using section 5 below, where an algorithm for computing a positive lower bound $\check{\tau}$ on τ is provided. Whence an upper bound

$$\breve{\iota}(v) = \left[(n+1)\frac{v+\mu_K}{\breve{\tau}} + h(v) \right]$$

on $\iota(v)$ for any $v \in \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}$ such that $v \geq -\mu_K$. Now, since $(\mathcal{V}_i)_{i\geq 0}$ is nondecreasing, we have $\mathcal{V}_{\iota(v)} \subset \mathcal{V}_{\iota(v)}$ and Proposition 22 implies that the following properties are equivalent:

(1) $v \in \mathcal{V};$

(2) $v \in \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}, v \geq -\mu_K$ and $v \in \mathcal{V}_{\check{\iota}(v)}$.

This leads to the following algorithm, which uses Algorithm 44 described at the end of section 5 for computing a positive lower bound $\check{\tau}$ on τ .

Algorithm 23.

Input: *L* a Mahler operator with coefficients in $\mathbf{K}[z], v \in \mathbb{Q}$. **Output**: whether or not *v* is in \mathcal{V} .

if $v \notin \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}$ or $v < -\mu_K$ then

```
return "v is not in \mathcal{V}"
otherwise
       compute n, \mu_K and h(v)
       compute a positive lower bound \check{\tau} on \tau using Algorithm 44
       compute \check{\iota} = \left| (n+1) \frac{v + \mu_K}{\check{\tau}} + h(v) \right|
       compute \mathcal{V}_{\tilde{\iota}}
       if v \in \mathcal{V}_{\check{\iota}} then
                return "v is in \mathcal{V}"
       otherwise
                return "v is not in \mathcal{V}"
       end if
end if
```

```
4.5.2. Proof of Proposition 22. Proposition 22 is proved at the very end of
this section, after a series of lemmas.
```

Lemma 24. We have

(39) $\mathcal{V} \subset \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}.$

Moreover, for any $v \in \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}$ and $w \in \pi(\Psi(v))$, we have $w \in \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}$ and

 $h(v) \le h(w) + n.$ (40)

Proof. Before proving (39), note that

- *V*₀ ⊂ Z_{d,ℓ};
 for any *v* ∈ Z_{d,ℓ}, π(Ψ(*v*)) ⊂ Z_{d,ℓ}.

Indeed, the first property holds because d is a common denominator of the elements of $\mathcal{V}_0 = -\mathcal{S}(L)$. The second property holds because, by definition of π and Ψ , for any $v \in \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}$ and any $w \in \pi(\Psi(v))$, there exist $(\ell^i, j), (\ell^{i'}, j') \in$ $\mathcal{P}(L)$ such that

$$w = \frac{\ell^i v + j - j'}{\ell^{i'}} \in \frac{1}{\ell^{i'}} \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell} = \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}.$$

Let us now prove (39). Since $\mathcal{V} = \bigcup_{i>0} \mathcal{V}_i$, it is equivalent to prove that, for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}, \mathcal{V}_i \subset \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}$. The latter property can be proved by induction on $i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$. Indeed, the two properties noticed at the beginning of the proof show that $\mathcal{V}_0 \subset \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}$ and that if, for a given $i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$, we have $\mathcal{V}_i \subset \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}$, then we have $\mathcal{V}_{i+1} = \bigcup_{v \in \mathcal{V}_i} \pi(\Psi(v)) \subset \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}$.

Let us now prove (40). By definition of h(w), we have $w \in \frac{1}{d^{\ell}h(w)}\mathbb{Z}$, so

$$v = \frac{\ell^{i'}w + j' - j}{\ell^i} \in \frac{1}{\ell^i} \frac{1}{d\ell^{h(w)}} \mathbb{Z} = \frac{1}{d\ell^{h(w)+i}} \mathbb{Z}.$$

Thus, we have $h(v) \le h(w) + i \le h(w) + n$ and this proves (40).

19

Remark 25. Consider two multiplicatively independent integers $\ell_1, \ell_2 \geq 2$. In [AB17], Adamczewski and Bell give a proof of a conjecture of Loxton and van der Poorten asserting that any Puiseux series solution of both a ℓ_1 -Mahler equation and of a ℓ_2 -Mahler equation belongs to $\bigcup_{d>1} \mathbb{C}(z^{1/d})$. As mentioned in the Introduction, an alternative proof was given later by Shäfke and Singer in [SS19]. The first part of Lemma 24 can be used to extend this

result to Hahn series. Indeed, let $f \in \mathscr{H}$ be solution of both a ℓ_1 -Mahler equation and of a ℓ_2 -Mahler equation with coefficients in $\mathbb{C}(z)$. Then, it follows from Lemma 24 that supp f is included in \mathbb{Z}_{d_1,ℓ_1} and in \mathbb{Z}_{d_2,ℓ_2} for some integers $d_1, d_2 \geq 1$. But, $\mathbb{Z}_{d_1,\ell_1} \cap \mathbb{Z}_{d_2,\ell_2} \subset \frac{1}{d}\mathbb{Z}$ for some integer $d \geq 1$ because ℓ_1 and ℓ_2 are multiplicatively independent. Thus, f is a Puiseux series solution of both a ℓ_1 -Mahler equation and a ℓ_2 -Mahler equation and, hence, $f \in \bigcup_{d \geq 1} \mathbb{C}(z^{1/d})$.

Lemma 26. Let $v \in \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}$ and $w \in \pi(\Psi(v))$ satisfy

(41)
$$-\mu_k + \breve{\epsilon}_k \le v < w < -\mu_{k-1}$$

for some $k \in \{1, ..., K\}$ and some lower bound $\check{\epsilon}_k > 0$ on $\epsilon(-\mu_k)$. Then, at least one of the following properties holds:

• $w \ge v + \breve{\epsilon}_k;$ • $w \ge v + \frac{1}{d\ell^n};$ • h(w) > h(v).

Proof. By definition of Ψ , there exists $(\ell^{\alpha}, \beta) \in \mathcal{P}(L)$ such that $w = \pi(\ell^{\alpha}v + \beta)$. Since $-\mu_k \leq w = \pi(\ell^{\alpha}v + \beta) < -\mu_{k-1}$, Lemma 10 ensures that

(42)
$$w = \pi(\ell^{\alpha}v + \beta) = \frac{\ell^{\alpha}v + \beta - \beta_{k-1}}{\ell^{\alpha_{k-1}}}.$$

We now distinguish the cases $\alpha = \alpha_{k-1}$, $\alpha > \alpha_{k-1}$ and $\alpha < \alpha_{k-1}$.

Case $\alpha = \alpha_{k-1}$. In this case, (42) can be rewritten as $w = v + \frac{\beta - \beta_{k-1}}{\ell^{\alpha_{k-1}}}$. Since w > v, we have $\beta - \beta_{k-1} > 0$. Since β and β_{k-1} belong to \mathbb{Z} , we have $\beta - \beta_{k-1} \ge 1$. It follows that

$$w \ge v + \frac{1}{\ell^{\alpha_{k-1}}} \ge v + \frac{1}{\ell^n} \ge v + \frac{1}{d\ell^n}$$

and the lemma holds in this case.

Case $\alpha > \alpha_{k-1}$. In this case, since $(\ell^{\alpha_{k-1}}, \beta_{k-1})$ is the left endpoint of the edge of $\mathcal{N}(L)$ of slope μ_k , the slope of the vector joining $(\ell^{\alpha_{k-1}}, \beta_{k-1})$ to (ℓ^{α}, β) is greater than or equal to μ_k , that is,

$$\frac{\beta - \beta_{k-1}}{\ell^{\alpha} - \ell^{\alpha_{k-1}}} \ge \mu_k.$$

So, we have

$$w - v = \frac{(\ell^{\alpha} - \ell^{\alpha_{k-1}})v + \beta - \beta_{k-1}}{\ell^{\alpha_{k-1}}} \ge \frac{(\ell^{\alpha} - \ell^{\alpha_{k-1}})v + (\ell^{\alpha} - \ell^{\alpha_{k-1}})\mu_k}{\ell^{\alpha_{k-1}}}$$
$$= \frac{(\ell^{\alpha} - \ell^{\alpha_{k-1}})(v + \mu_k)}{\ell^{\alpha_{k-1}}} \ge \frac{(\ell^{\alpha} - \ell^{\alpha_{k-1}})\check{\epsilon}_k}{\ell^{\alpha_{k-1}}} \ge \check{\epsilon}_k$$

and the lemma holds in this case.

Case $\alpha < \alpha_{k-1}$. Write $v = \frac{M}{d\ell^{h(v)}}$ with $M \in \mathbb{Z}$. Equation (42) can be rewritten as

(43)
$$w = \frac{M}{d\ell^{h(v) + \alpha_{k-1} - \alpha}} + \frac{\beta - \beta_{k-1}}{\ell^{\alpha_{k-1}}}.$$

We now distinguish two cases:

• if $h(v) - \alpha > 0$, then equation (43) shows that $h(w) = h(v) + \alpha_{k-1} - \alpha > h(v)$ and the lemma holds;

• if $h(v) \leq \alpha$, then equation (43) shows that $h(w) \leq \alpha_{k-1}$; so v and w both belong to $\frac{1}{d\ell^{\alpha_{k-1}}}\mathbb{Z}$; it follows that w - v is a positive element of $\frac{1}{d\ell^{\alpha_{k-1}}}\mathbb{Z}$, so $w - v \geq \frac{1}{d\ell^{\alpha_{k-1}}} \geq \frac{1}{d\ell^n}$ and the lemma holds.

Lemma 27. Consider $k \in \{1, \ldots, K\}$ and let $\check{\epsilon}_k > 0$ be a lower bound on $\epsilon(-\mu_k)$. Consider $M \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ and $v_0, \ldots, v_M \in \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}$ such that

• $\forall i \in \{0, \dots, M-1\}, v_{i+1} \in \pi(\Psi(v_i));$

• $-\mu_k + \breve{\epsilon}_k \le v_0 < \dots < v_{M-1} < v_M < -\mu_{k-1}.$

Then, we have

$$M < (n+1)\frac{v_M + \mu_k}{\min\{\check{e}_k, (d\ell^n)^{-1}\}} + h(v_M).$$

Proof. Set

$$m_k = \min\left\{\breve{\epsilon}_k, (d\ell^n)^{-1}\right\}.$$

Consider

(44)
$$E_1 = \{i \in \{0, \dots, M-1\} \mid h(v_i) \ge h(v_{i+1})\}$$

and

(45)
$$E_2 = \{i \in \{0, \dots, M-1\} \mid h(v_i) < h(v_{i+1})\}$$

Set $M_1 = \sharp E_1$ and $M_2 = \sharp E_2$. Since $\{E_1, E_2\}$ is a partition of $\{0, \ldots, M-1\}$, we have

$$M = M_1 + M_2.$$

We have :

- $\forall i \in \{0, \dots, M-1\}, h(v_i) \le h(v_{i+1}) + n$ by Lemma 24;
- if $i \in E_2$, then $h(v_i) < h(v_{i+1})$ and, hence, $h(v_i) \le h(v_{i+1}) 1$ because $h(v_i)$ and $h(v_{i+1})$ are integers.

It follows that

$$h(v_0) \le h(v_M) + nM_1 - M_2$$

Since $h(v_0) \ge 0$, we get

$$(46) M_2 \le h(v_M) + nM_1.$$

We shall now give an upper bound on M_1 . On the one hand, since $-\mu_k + \check{\epsilon}_k \leq v_0 < \cdots < v_{M-1} < v_M$, we have

(47)
$$\sum_{i \in E_1} v_{i+1} - v_i \le \sum_{i=0}^{M-1} v_{i+1} - v_i = v_M - v_0 \le v_M + \mu_k - \breve{\epsilon}_k < v_M + \mu_k.$$

On the other hand, for any $i \in E_1$, we have $h(v_i) \ge h(v_{i+1})$. Since $-\mu_k + \check{\epsilon}_k < v_i < v_{i+1} < -\mu_{k-1}$, Lemma 26 ensures that $v_i \le v_{i+1} - m_k$. It follows that

(48)
$$\sum_{i \in E_1} v_{i+1} - v_i \ge \sum_{i \in E_1} m_k = M_1 m_k.$$

Combining (47) and (48), we get

$$(49) M_1 < \frac{v_M + \mu_k}{m_k}.$$

Finally, combining (46) and (49), we obtain

$$M = M_1 + M_2 \le h(v_M) + (n+1)M_1 < h(v_M) + (n+1)\frac{v_M + \mu_k}{m_k}.$$

Lemma 28. Consider $M \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ and $v_0, \ldots, v_M \in \mathcal{V}$ such that

• $v_0 < \cdots < v_{M-1} < v_M;$

•
$$\forall i \in \{0, \dots, M-1\}, v_{i+1} \in \pi(\Psi(v_i)).$$

Then,

$$M \le (n+1)\frac{v_M + \mu_K}{\tau} + h(v_M)$$

where

$$\tau = \min\left\{\epsilon(-\mu_1), \dots, \epsilon(-\mu_K), (d\ell^n)^{-1}\right\} > 0.$$

Proof. As in the proof of Lemma 27, we consider the sets E_1 and E_2 defined by formulas (44) and (45) respectively, we set $M_1 = \sharp E_1$ and $M_2 = \sharp E_2$ and we have

 $M = M_1 + M_2$

and

$$M_2 \le h(v_M) + nM_1.$$

As in the proof of Lemma 27, we shall now give an upper bound on M_1 . We first claim that, for all $i \in E_1$, we have

$$(50) v_i \le v_{i+1} - \tau.$$

In order to prove this claim, let us first recall that $\mathcal{V} \subset \mathbb{Q}_{\geq -\mu_K}$ by Lemma 20, so one of the following cases is satisfied.

Case 1: there exists $k \in \{1, ..., K\}$ such that $-\mu_k \leq v_i < v_{i+1} < -\mu_{k-1}$. We distinguish the following two subcases.

Subcase 1.1: $-\mu_k + \tau \leq v_i$. Since $i \in E_1$, we have $h(v_i) \geq h(v_{i+1})$. Moreover, we have $-\mu_k + \tau \leq v_i < v_{i+1} < -\mu_{k-1}$ by hypothesis. So, Lemma 26 ensures that $v_i \leq v_{i+1} - \tau$ as claimed.

Subcase 1.2: $v_i < -\mu_k + \tau$. In this case, since $v_i \in \mathcal{V}$, the definition of $\epsilon(-\mu_k)$ ensures that $v_i = -\mu_k$. Since $v_{i+1} \in \mathcal{V}$, we have $v_i = -\mu_k \leq v_{i+1} - \tau$ as claimed.

Case 2: there exists $k \in \{1, ..., K-1\}$ such that $v_i < -\mu_k \leq v_{i+1}$. We distinguish the following two subcases.

Subcase 2.1: $v_{i+1} = -\mu_k$. In this case, we have $v_{i+1} \in \frac{1}{d}\mathbb{Z}$, so $h(v_{i+1}) = 0$. Lemma 24 implies $h(v_i) \leq n$, *i.e.*, $v_i \in \frac{1}{d\ell^n}\mathbb{Z}$. Therefore, v_i and v_{i+1} are elements of $\frac{1}{d\ell^n}\mathbb{Z}$ such that $v_i < v_{i+1}$, so we have $v_i \leq v_{i+1} - \frac{1}{d\ell^n} \leq v_{i+1} - \tau$ as claimed.

Subcase 2.2: $v_{i+1} > -\mu_k$. Since $v_{i+1} \in \mathcal{V}$, the definition of $\epsilon(-\mu_k)$ ensures that $v_{i+1} \geq -\mu_k + \tau$. But, by hypothesis, $-\mu_k > v_i$. So, $v_{i+1} > v_i + \tau$ and our claim is proved in this case as well.

Now that the inequality (50) is justified, we can argue as we did in Lemma 27 for proving (49) in order to prove that

$$M_1 \le \frac{v_M + \mu_K}{\tau}.$$

Finally, we obtain

$$M = M_1 + M_2 \le h(v_M) + (n+1)M_1 \le h(v_M) + (n+1)\frac{v_M + \mu_K}{\tau}.$$

Proof of Proposition 22. Let us prove that (1) implies (2) in Proposition 22. Consider $v \in \mathcal{V}$. Lemma 24 ensures that $v \in \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}$. Lemma 20 ensures that $v \geq -\mu_K$. It remains to prove that $v \in \mathcal{V}_{\iota(v)}$. Let M be the least positive integer such that $v \in \mathcal{V}_M$. Lemma 21 ensures that there exist $v_0 < \cdots < v_M$ in \mathcal{V} such that

- $v_0 \in \mathcal{V}_0 = -\mathcal{S}(L);$
- $v_{i+1} \in \pi(\Psi(v_i))$ for any $i \in \{0, \dots, M-1\};$
- $v_M = v$.

It follows from Lemma 28 that $M \leq \iota(v)$. Since $(\mathcal{V}_i)_{i\geq 0}$ is nondecreasing by Theorem 17, we have $v \in \mathcal{V}_M \subset \mathcal{V}_{\iota(v)}$. This proves that (1) implies (2) in Proposition 22. The converse implication is obvious.

5. An algorithm for computing a positive lower bound on $\epsilon(v)$

We retain the notations from the previous section. In addition, we set $\mu_0 = -\infty$.

5.1. Structure of the algorithm. The aim of this section is to present an algorithm for computing a positive lower bound on $\epsilon(v)$ for any given $v \in \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}$. This algorithm is recursive and its structure is as follows.

- The base case corresponds to the case when v belongs to $]-\infty, -\mu_K] \cap \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}$. This case presents no difficulty because $\epsilon(v)$ can be computed explicitly as we will see in Proposition 29.
- The recursive step is organized as follows. We consider an element v of $] \mu_K, +\infty[\cap \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}]$ and we distinguish two cases:
 - if v ∉ {-μ_{K-1},...,-μ₁}, then there exists k ∈ {1,...,K} such that v ∈]-μ_k, -μ_{k-1}[∩ℤ_{d,ℓ} and we will see in Proposition 35 how to compute a positive lower bound on ε(v) from positive lower bounds on ε(w) for finitely many explicit w ∈] −∞, -μ_k] ∩ ℤ_{d,ℓ};
 if v = -μ_{k-1} for some k ∈ {2,...,K}, then we will see in Proposition 38 how to compute a positive lower bound on ε(v) = ε(-μ_{k-1}) from positive lower bounds on ε(w) for finitely many explicit w ∈] −∞, -μ_{k-1}[∩ℤ_{d,ℓ}.

The algorithm is presented in pseudo-code form in Algorithm 41 in section 5.5. The theoretical results mentioned above, namely Proposition 29, Proposition 35 and Proposition 38, on which the algorithm is based, are the subject of the next three sections. 5.2. Theoretical result for the base case. The following result allows us to compute a lower bound on $\epsilon(v)$ for any given $v \in [-\infty, -\mu_K] \cap \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}$.

Proposition 29. We have:

- for any $v \in]-\infty, -\mu_K[\cap \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}, \epsilon(v) = -\mu_K v > 0;$
- $\epsilon(-\mu_K) = \min(\mathcal{V}_1 \setminus \{-\mu_K\}) + \mu_K.$

Therefore, a lower bound on $\epsilon(v)$ is given by

- $-\mu_K v \text{ if } v \in] -\infty, -\mu_K[\cap \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}];$
- $\min(\mathcal{V}_1 \setminus \{-\mu_K\}) + \mu_K \text{ if } \mathcal{V}_1 \setminus \{-\mu_K\} \neq \emptyset \text{ and } 1 \text{ otherwise}^5, \text{ if } v = -\mu_K.$

Example 30. In Section 9, we will illustrate our algorithm for computing a positive lower bound on $\epsilon(v)$, namely Algorithm 41 presented in section 5.5 below, on the operator defined by (14). We will have to compute positive lower bounds on $\epsilon(-\frac{3}{4})$ and $\epsilon(-\frac{1}{2})$. Let us explain how this can be done using Proposition 29. We will see in section 9.1 that K = 2, $\mu_1 = 0$ and $\mu_2 = \frac{1}{2}$. Since $-\frac{3}{4} < -\mu_2$, Proposition 29 ensures that

$$\epsilon(-\frac{3}{4}) = -\mu_2 - (-\frac{3}{4}) = -\frac{1}{2} + \frac{3}{4} = \frac{1}{4}.$$

Moreover, we will see in section 9.3 that $\mathcal{V}_1 = \{-\frac{1}{2}, -\frac{1}{4}, 0, 1\}$, so $\mathcal{V}_1 \setminus \{-\mu_2\} = \{-\frac{1}{4}, 0, 1\} \neq \emptyset$ and Proposition 29 ensures that

$$\epsilon(-\frac{1}{2}) = \epsilon(-\mu_2) = \min(\mathcal{V}_1 \setminus \{-\mu_2\}) + \mu_2 = -\frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}{4}.$$

Proof of Proposition 29. Lemma 20 ensures that min $\mathcal{V} = -\mu_K$. Therefore,

- for all $v \in]-\infty, -\mu_K[\cap \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}]$, we have $\epsilon(v) = \min \mathcal{V}_{>v} v = -\mu_K v > 0$;
- $\epsilon(-\mu_K) = \min \mathcal{V}_{>-\mu_K} + \mu_K = \min(\mathcal{V} \setminus \{-\mu_K\}) + \mu_K$ and the desired equality $\epsilon(-\mu_K) = \min(\mathcal{V}_1 \setminus \{-\mu_K\}) + \mu_K$ follows from Lemma 31 below.

Lemma 31. We have $\min \mathcal{V} \setminus \{-\mu_K\} = \min \mathcal{V}_1 \setminus \{-\mu_K\}$.

Proof. We set $w = \min \mathcal{V} \setminus \{-\mu_K\}$. If $\mathcal{V} \setminus \{-\mu_K\} = \emptyset$, then $\mathcal{V}_1 \setminus \{-\mu_K\} = \emptyset$ as well and the equality $w = \min \mathcal{V}_1 \setminus \{-\mu_K\}$ holds in this case. From now on, we assume that $\mathcal{V} \setminus \{-\mu_K\} \neq \emptyset$. In order to prove the lemma, it is sufficient to prove that $w \in \mathcal{V}_1$. Let M be the least element of $\mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ such that $w \in \mathcal{V}_M$. If M = 0, then $w \in \mathcal{V}_0 \subset \mathcal{V}_1$ and the lemma is proved in this case. Suppose now that $M \geq 1$. We want to prove that M = 1. According to Lemma 21, there exist $v_0, v_1, \ldots, v_M \in \mathcal{V}$ such that $v_0 \in -\mathcal{S}(L), v_0 < v_1 < \cdots < v_M$ and $v_M = w$. Since $\min -\mathcal{S}(L) = -\mu_K$ and $v_0 \in -\mathcal{S}(L)$, the fact that $v_1 > v_0$ implies that $v_1 > -\mu_K$ and, hence, $v_1 \in \mathcal{V} \setminus \{-\mu_K\}$. It follows that $v_1 \geq \min \mathcal{V} \setminus \{-\mu_K\} = w = v_M$ and, hence, M = 1.

⁵Here, 1 is an arbitrary choice, any positive value would work.

5.3. Theoretical results for the recursive step: case $v \notin \{-\mu_{K-1}, \ldots, -\mu_1\}$. In this section, we consider $k \in \{1, \ldots, K\}$ and we assume that we are able to compute a positive lower bound $\check{\epsilon}(w)$ on $\epsilon(w)$ for any $w \in]-\infty, -\mu_k] \cap \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}$. Our aim is to explain how one can compute, for any $v \in]-\mu_k, -\mu_{k-1}[\cap \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}]$ a positive lower bound on $\epsilon(v)$ by using finitely many of the values $\check{\epsilon}(w)$, with $w \in]-\infty, -\mu_k] \cap \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}$.

Our approach, detailed in Proposition 35 below, relies on a labeled rooted tree $\mathcal{T}(k, \check{\epsilon}(-\mu_k), v)$ that we shall now introduce. Its definition involves the finite (possibly empty) sets defined, for any $w \in \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}$, by

$$\Delta(w) = \left\{ \frac{\psi(w) - \beta}{\ell^{\alpha}} \mid (\ell^{\alpha}, \beta) \in \mathcal{P}(L) \right\} \setminus \{w\},\$$

In geometric terms, $\Delta(w)$ is the set of $w' \in \mathbb{Q} \setminus \{w\}$ for which there exists a point in $\mathcal{P}(L)$ whose projection along a line of slope -w' onto the y-axis is the point with coordinates $(0, \psi(w))$. It will also be useful to keep in mind that, in more computational terms, $\Delta(w)$ is the set of $w' \in \mathbb{Q} \setminus \{w\}$ such that $\psi(w) \in \Psi(w')$ and that, according to the discussion at the beginning of section 3.4, $\Psi(w')$ is a natural receptacle for supp $L(z^{w'})$.

Definition 32. Let $k \in \{1, \ldots, K\}$ and $v \in]-\mu_k, -\mu_{k-1}[\cap \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}]$. The labeled rooted tree $\mathcal{T}(k, \check{\epsilon}(-\mu_k), v)$ alluded to above is uniquely defined by the following properties:

- the labels of $\mathcal{T}(k, \check{\epsilon}(-\mu_k), v)$ belong to \mathbb{Q} ;
- the label of the root of $\mathcal{T}(k, \breve{\epsilon}(-\mu_k), v)$ is v;
- if a vertex has label $w < -\mu_k + \check{\epsilon}(-\mu_k)$, then it has no child, i.e., it is a leaf;
- if a vertex has label $w \ge -\mu_k + \breve{\epsilon}(-\mu_k)$, then it has $\sharp \Delta(w)$ children labeled by the elements of $\Delta(w)$.

Note that:

- In the last case of Definition 32, since $w > -\mu_K$, it follows from Lemma 33 below that $\Delta(w) \neq \emptyset$ and, hence, the vertex is not a leaf.
- In the tree $\mathcal{T}(k, \check{\epsilon}(-\mu_k), v)$, children have smaller labels than their parent; this is a direct consequence (of the first assertion) of Lemma 34 below.

The following two lemmas give useful properties of the set $\Delta(w)$.

Lemma 33. If the set $\Delta(w)$ is empty for some $w \in \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}$, then K = 1 and $w = -\mu_K = -\mu_1.$

Proof. The following properties are obviously equivalent:

- $\Delta(w)$ is empty;
- for all $(\ell^{\alpha}, \beta) \in \mathcal{P}(L)$, $\frac{\psi(w) \beta}{\ell^{\alpha}} = w$; for all $(\ell^{\alpha}, \beta) \in \mathcal{P}(L)$, $\psi(w) = \ell^{\alpha}w + \beta$;
- $\Psi(w) = \{\psi(w)\};$
- $\Psi(w)$ is a singleton.

Since $\Psi(w)$ is the set of ordinates of the projection of the elements of $\mathcal{P}(L)$ along a line of slope -w onto the y-axis, the fact that $\Psi(w)$ is a singleton is equivalent to the fact that the elements of $\mathcal{P}(L)$ belong to a single line of

slope -w. In that case, $\mathcal{N}(L)$ has a single slope and this slope is equal to -w, *i.e.*, K = 1 and $w = -\mu_K = -\mu_1$.

Lemma 34. Let $w, w' \in \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}$. If $w' \in \Delta(w)$, then w' < w and $w \in \pi(\Psi(w'))$. Reciprocally⁶, if $w \in \pi(\Psi(w'))$ and $w \neq w'$, then $w' \in \Delta(w)$ and w' < w.

Proof. Consider $w' \in \Delta(w)$. There exists $(\ell^{\alpha}, \beta) \in \mathcal{P}(L)$ such that

$$w' = \frac{\psi(w) - \beta}{\ell^{\alpha}}.$$

Thus, we have $\psi(w) = \ell^{\alpha} w' + \beta$ and, hence, since π and ψ are inverse of each other by Lemma 7, we have $w = \pi(\ell^{\alpha} w' + \beta) \in \pi(\Psi(w'))$. Then, it follows from Lemma 15 that $w' \leq w$. Since $w' \neq w$, we have w' < w.

Suppose now that $w \in \pi(\Psi(w'))$ and $w \neq w'$. Then, $w = \pi(\ell^{\alpha}w' + \beta)$ for some $(\ell^{\alpha}, \beta) \in \mathcal{P}(L)$. Since π and ψ are inverse of each other by Lemma 7, we have $\psi(w) = \ell^{\alpha}w' + \beta$ and, hence, $w' = \frac{\psi(w) - \beta}{\ell^{\alpha}}$. Since $w' \neq w$, we get $w' \in \Delta(w)$. The fact that w' < w follows from the first part of the lemma.

As announced above, the following result shows how to compute, for any $v \in] - \mu_k, -\mu_{k-1}[\cap \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}]$, a positive lower bound on $\epsilon(v)$ by using finitely many $\check{\epsilon}(w)$ with $w \in] - \infty, -\mu_k] \cap \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}$. Our approach relies on the labeled rooted tree $\epsilon(\mathcal{T}(k, \check{\epsilon}(-\mu_k), v))$ obtained from $\mathcal{T}(k, \check{\epsilon}(-\mu_k), v)$ by applying ϵ to its labels. It will be used in the following way: we will explain how to compute a positive lower bound on the label of any leaf of $\epsilon(\mathcal{T}(k, \check{\epsilon}(-\mu_k), v))$ and how to compute a positive lower bound on the label of any vertex of $\epsilon(\mathcal{T}(k, \check{\epsilon}(-\mu_k), v))$ from positive lower bounds on its children; this will enable us to compute a positive lower bound on the label of any vertex of $\epsilon(\mathcal{T}(k, \check{\epsilon}(-\mu_k), v))$ and, in particular, on the label of its root, which is nothing but $\epsilon(v)$.

Proposition 35. Let $k \in \{1, \ldots, K\}$ and $v \in]-\mu_k, -\mu_{k-1}[\cap \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}]$

(i) The tree $\mathcal{T}(k, \check{\epsilon}(-\mu_k), v)$ is finite and its height is less than or equal to

(51)
$$(n+1)\frac{v+\mu_k}{\min\left\{\check{\epsilon}(-\mu_k), (d\ell^n)^{-1}\right\}} + h(v) + 1.$$

(ii) Consider a leaf of $\mathcal{T}(k, \check{\epsilon}(-\mu_k), v)$ with label w. Then a positive lower bound on $\epsilon(w)$ is given by $\check{\epsilon}(w)$ if $w < -\mu_k$ and by $-\mu_k + \check{\epsilon}(-\mu_k) - w$ if $-\mu_k \leq w < -\mu_k + \check{\epsilon}(-\mu_k)$.

(iii) Consider a vertex of $\mathcal{T}(k, \check{\epsilon}(-\mu_k), v)$ with label w which is not a leaf. If, for each $w' \in \Delta(w)$, we have a positive lower bound $m_{w'}$ on $\epsilon(w')$, then a positive lower bound on $\epsilon(w)$ is given by the minimum of

(52) $\{m_{w'}\ell^{d_{w,w'}-\alpha_{k-1}} \mid w' \in \Delta(w)\} \cup \{-\mu_{k-1}-w, \min(\pi(\Psi(w)) \setminus \{w\}) - w\}$

where $d_{w,w'}$ is defined by (54). Consequently:

⁶Strictly speaking, the reciprocal assertion should start with the hypothesis "w' < w and $w \in \pi(\Psi(w'))$ " instead of the seemingly weaker hypothesis " $w' \neq w$ and $w \in \pi(\Psi(w'))$ ". Actually, these hypotheses are equivalent because $\min \pi(\Psi(w')) = w'$ according to Lemma 15.



FIGURE 1

- (i) above ensures that $\epsilon(\mathcal{T}(k, \check{\epsilon}(-\mu_k), v))$ is a finite tree and gives an explicit upper bound on its height;
- (ii) above allows us to compute a positive lower bound on the label of any leaf of $\epsilon(\mathcal{T}(k, \check{\epsilon}(-\mu_k), v));$
- (iii) above allows us to compute a positive lower bound on the label of a vertex of $\epsilon(\mathcal{T}(k, \check{\epsilon}(-\mu_k), v))$ which is not a leaf from positive lower bounds on its children.

This allows us to compute a positive lower bound on the label of any vertex of $\epsilon(\mathcal{T}(k, \check{\epsilon}(-\mu_k), v))$ and, in particular, a positive lower bound on the label of its root, namely $\epsilon(v)$.

Example 36. In section 9, we will have to compute a positive lower bound on $\epsilon(-\frac{1}{4})$ for the operator defined by (14). Let us explain how this can be done using Proposition 35. We will see in section 9.1 that K = 2, $\mu_1 = 0$ and $\mu_2 = \frac{1}{2}$. Moreover, we have seen in Example 30 that $\epsilon(-\mu_2) = \epsilon(-\frac{1}{2}) = \frac{1}{4}$, thus $\check{\epsilon}(-\mu_2) = \check{\epsilon}(-\frac{1}{2}) := \frac{1}{4}$ is a positive lower bound on $\epsilon(-\mu_2) = \epsilon(-\frac{1}{2})$.

We have $-\frac{1}{4} \in] -\mu_2, -\mu_1[=] -\frac{1}{2}, 0[$, so, following the method presented in Proposition 35, in order to compute a positive lower bound on $\epsilon(-\frac{1}{4})$, we first compute the tree $\mathcal{T}(2, \check{\epsilon}(-\mu_2), -\frac{1}{4}) = \mathcal{T}(2, \frac{1}{4}, -\frac{1}{4})$. The result is shown in Figure 1.

We then compute lower bounds on the labels $\epsilon(-\frac{1}{2})$, $\epsilon(-\frac{3}{4})$ and $\epsilon(-\frac{3}{8})$ of the leaves of $\epsilon(\mathcal{T}(2,\frac{1}{4},-\frac{1}{4}))$. Since $-\frac{3}{8} \ge -\mu_2 = -\frac{1}{2}$, it follows from (ii) of Proposition 35 that a positive lower bound on $\epsilon(-\frac{3}{8})$ is given by

$$m_{-\frac{3}{8}} = -\mu_2 + \breve{\epsilon}(-\mu_2) - (-\frac{3}{8}) = -\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{3}{8} = \frac{1}{8}.$$

Similarly, since $-\frac{1}{2} \ge -\mu_2 = -\frac{1}{2}$, it follows from (ii) of Proposition 35 that a positive lower bound on $\epsilon(-\frac{1}{2})$ is given by

$$m_{-\frac{1}{2}} = -\mu_2 + \breve{\epsilon}(-\mu_2) - (-\frac{1}{2}) = -\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}{4}.$$

Last, $-\frac{3}{4} < -\mu_2 = -\frac{1}{2}$, and it has been shown in Example 30 that $m_{-\frac{3}{4}} = \frac{1}{4}$ is a positive lower bound on $\epsilon(-\frac{3}{4})$ respectively.

Now that we have lower bounds on the labels of the leaves of $\epsilon(\mathcal{T}(2, \frac{1}{4}, -\frac{1}{4}))$, (ii) of Proposition 35 ensures that a positive lower bound on the root $\epsilon(-\frac{1}{4})$ of $\epsilon(\mathcal{T}(2, \frac{1}{4}, -\frac{1}{4}))$ is given by the minimum of (52) with $w = -\frac{1}{4}$ and k = 2. Computing this minimum requires the calculation of α_1 , of $d_{-\frac{1}{4},w'}$ for $w' \in \{-\frac{1}{2}, -\frac{3}{4}, -\frac{3}{8}\}$ and of $\min(\pi(\Psi(-\frac{1}{4})) \setminus \{-\frac{1}{4}\})$. This presents no difficulty. Indeed, we will see in section 9.1 that $\alpha_1 = 1$. Moreover, using the explicit formulas for $\mathcal{P}(L)$ and π given in Section 9.1 and Section 9.2, we get

$$\begin{aligned} d_{-\frac{1}{4},-\frac{1}{2}} &= \min \bigg\{ \alpha \in \{0,1,2\} \mid \exists (\ell^{\alpha},\beta) \in \{(1,0),(2,0),(2,1),(4,1)\}, \\ &- \frac{1}{2} = \frac{\psi(-\frac{1}{4}) - \beta}{2^{\alpha}} = \frac{-\frac{1}{2} - \beta}{2^{\alpha}} \bigg\} = 0 \end{aligned}$$

Similar calculations show that

$$d_{-\frac{1}{4},-\frac{3}{4}} = 1, \quad d_{-\frac{1}{4},-\frac{3}{8}} = 2.$$

Last, the explicit formulas for π and Ψ given in section 9.2 show that

$$\min(\pi(\Psi(-\frac{1}{4})) \setminus \{-\frac{1}{4}\}) = -\frac{1}{8}.$$

Finally, we obtain that a positive lower bound of $\epsilon(-\frac{1}{4})$ is given by the minimum of the following numbers:

• $m_{w'}\ell^{d_{-\frac{1}{4},w'}-\alpha_1} = \frac{1}{4} \times 2^{0-1} = \frac{1}{8}$ for $w' = -\frac{1}{2}$; • $m_{w'}\ell^{d_{-\frac{1}{4},w'}-\alpha_1} = \frac{1}{4} \times 2^{1-1} = \frac{1}{4}$ for $w' = -\frac{3}{4}$; • $m_{w'}\ell^{d_{-\frac{1}{4},w'}-\alpha_1} = \frac{1}{8} \times 2^{2-1} = \frac{1}{4}$ for $w' = -\frac{3}{8}$; • $0 - (-\frac{1}{4}) = \frac{1}{4}$; • $\min(\pi(\Psi(-\frac{1}{4})) \setminus \{-\frac{1}{4}\}) + \frac{1}{4} = -\frac{1}{8} + \frac{1}{4} = \frac{1}{8}$;

this minimum is equal to $\frac{1}{8}$. Thus, a positive lower bound of $\epsilon(-\frac{1}{4})$ is given by $\check{\epsilon}(-\frac{1}{4}) = \frac{1}{8}$.

The proof of Proposition 35 is given below, after the following lemma.

Lemma 37. Let $w \in \mathbb{Q}_{>-\mu_K}$ and let $k \in \{1, \ldots, K\}$ be such that $-\mu_k \leq w < -\mu_{k-1}$, with the convention $\mu_0 = -\infty$. Then, a positive lower bound on $\epsilon(w)$ is the minimum of the following set

(53)
$$\{\epsilon(w')\ell^{d_{w,w'}-\alpha_{k-1}} \mid w' \in \Delta(w)\} \cup \{-\mu_{k-1}-w, \min(\pi(\Psi(w))\setminus\{w\})-w\}$$

where

(54)
$$d_{w,w'} = \min\left\{\alpha \in \{0,\ldots,n\} \mid \exists (\ell^{\alpha},\beta) \in \mathcal{P}(L), w' = \frac{\psi(w) - \beta}{\ell^{\alpha}}\right\}.$$

Proof. Let $w^+ = \min \mathcal{V}_{>w}$ so that $\epsilon(w) = w^+ - w$. Since $-\mu_{k-1} \in \mathcal{V}_{>w} \cup \{+\infty\}$, we have $-\mu_{k-1} \ge w^+$. Thus:

$$-\mu_k \le w < w^+ \le -\mu_{k-1}.$$

We shall now distinguish several cases.

Case 1: $w^+ = -\mu_{k-1}$. In this case, $\epsilon(w) = w^+ - w = -\mu_{k-1} - w$ and this quantity is bounded from below by the minimum of (53).

Case 2: $w^+ < -\mu_{k-1}$. In this case, we have $-\mu_k < w^+ < -\mu_{k-1}$ and, hence, $w^+ \notin \mathcal{V}_0 = -\mathcal{S}(L)$. It follows from Lemma 21 that there exists $w^- \in \mathcal{V}$ such that

(55)
$$w^- < w^+ \text{ and } w^+ \in \pi(\Psi(w^-)).$$

Since $w^+ = \min \mathcal{V}_{>w}$, the facts that $w^- \in \mathcal{V}$ and that $w^- < w^+$ ensures that $w^- \leq w$. We now distinguish two subcases.

Subcase 2.1: $w^+ < -\mu_{k-1}$ and $w^- = w$. In this case, since $w^+ \in \pi(\Psi(w^-))$ by (55), we have

$$\epsilon(w) = w^+ - w \ge \min(\pi(\Psi(w^-)) \setminus \{w^-\}) - w = \min(\pi(\Psi(w)) \setminus \{w\}) - w$$

and this quantity is bounded from below by the minimum of (53).

Subcase 2.2: $w^+ < -\mu_{k-1}$ and $w^- < w$. Since $-\mu_k \le w < w^+ < -\mu_{k-1}$, Lemma 8 ensures that

(56)
$$w^+ = \frac{\psi(w^+) - \beta_{k-1}}{\ell^{\alpha_{k-1}}} \text{ and } w = \frac{\psi(w) - \beta_{k-1}}{\ell^{\alpha_{k-1}}}.$$

Furthermore, since $w^+ \in \pi(\Psi(w^-))$ by (55) and since π and ψ are inverse of each other by Lemma 7, we have $\psi(w^+) \in \Psi(w^-)$ and, hence, there exists $(\ell^{\alpha}, \beta) \in \mathcal{P}(L)$ such that $\psi(w^+) = \ell^{\alpha}w^- + \beta$. Therefore, we have

(57)
$$w^{-} = \frac{\psi(w^{+}) - \beta}{\ell^{\alpha}} = \frac{\ell^{\alpha_{k-1}}w^{+} + \beta_{k-1} - \beta}{\ell^{\alpha}}.$$

Let

(58)
$$w' := \frac{\psi(w) - \beta}{\ell^{\alpha}}.$$

It follows from Lemma 7 that ψ is increasing so that we have

(59)
$$w' = \frac{\psi(w) - \beta}{\ell^{\alpha}} < \frac{\psi(w^+) - \beta}{\ell^{\alpha}} = w^- < w$$

In particular, this implies that $w' \in \Delta(w)$. Using (56), we get

$$w^{+} - w = \frac{\psi(w^{+}) - \beta_{k-1}}{\ell^{\alpha_{k-1}}} - \frac{\psi(w) - \beta_{k-1}}{\ell^{\alpha_{k-1}}} = \frac{\psi(w^{+}) - \psi(w)}{\ell^{\alpha_{k-1}}}$$

Moreover, we infer from (57) that

$$\psi(w^+) = \ell^{\alpha} w^- + \beta$$

and from (58) that

$$\psi(w) = \ell^{\alpha} w' + \beta.$$

So, we obtain

$$w^{+} - w = \frac{(\ell^{\alpha}w^{-} + \beta) - (\ell^{\alpha}w' + \beta)}{\ell^{\alpha_{k-1}}} = \frac{\ell^{\alpha}(w^{-} - w')}{\ell^{\alpha_{k-1}}}$$

But, since $w' < w^-$ by (59) and since $w^- \in \mathcal{V}$, we have $w^- \ge w' + \epsilon(w')$. Therefore,

$$w^{+} - w = \frac{\ell^{\alpha}(w^{-} - w')}{\ell^{\alpha_{k-1}}} \ge \ell^{\alpha - \alpha_{k-1}} \epsilon(w')$$

and the latter quantity is bounded from below by the minimum of (53).

Proof of Proposition 35. We start with the proof of (i). Since any vertex of $\mathcal{T}(k, \check{\epsilon}(-\mu_k), v)$ has finitely many children, in order to prove (i), it is sufficient to prove that the height of $\mathcal{T}(k, \check{\epsilon}(-\mu_k), v)$ is less than or equal to (51). Consider an arbitrary vertex of $\mathcal{T}(k, \check{\epsilon}(-\mu_k), v)$ with label w and depth d. Let $w_0 = w, w_1, \ldots, w_d = v$ be the labels of the vertices encountered along the path from this vertex to the root of $\mathcal{T}(k, \check{\epsilon}(-\mu_k), v)$, so that, for any $i \in \{0, \ldots, d-1\}$, we have

$$w_i \in \Delta(w_{i+1}).$$

We claim that

(60) $-\mu_k + \check{\epsilon}(-\mu_k) \le w_1 < \dots < w_{d-1} < w_d = v < -\mu_{k-1}$

and that, for all $i \in \{0, ..., d-1\}$,

(61)
$$w_{i+1} \in \pi(\Psi(w_i)).$$

Indeed, for any $i \in \{0, \ldots, d-1\}$, we have $w_i \in \Delta(w_{i+1})$, so Lemma 34 ensures that $w_{i+1} > w_i$ and that $w_{i+1} \in \pi(\Psi(w_i))$. So, we have justified (61) and, in order to justify (60), it only remains to prove that $w_1 \ge -\mu_k + \check{\epsilon}(-\mu_k)$. The latter inequality follows from the fact that w_1 is the label of a vertex of $\mathcal{T}(k, \check{\epsilon}(-\mu_k), v)$ which is not a leaf because that vertex has a vertex with label w_0 as a child.

Now, applying Lemma 27, we get

$$d - 1 < (n+1)\frac{w_d + \mu_k}{\min\{\check{\epsilon}(-\mu_k), (d\ell^n)^{-1}\}} + h(w_d)$$

and, hence, d is less than or equal to (51). This concludes the proof of (i).

Let us now prove (ii). Since w is the label of a leaf of $\mathcal{T}(k, \check{\epsilon}(-\mu_k), v)$, we have $w < -\mu_k + \check{\epsilon}(-\mu_k)$. If $w < -\mu_k$, there is nothing to prove. Suppose that $-\mu_k \leq w < -\mu_k + \check{\epsilon}(-\mu_k)$. Then $-\mu_k + \check{\epsilon}(-\mu_k) - w > 0$. Moreover, for any $w' \in \mathcal{V}_{>w}$, we have $w' > w \geq -\mu_k$ and, hence, $w' \geq -\mu_k + \check{\epsilon}(-\mu_k) = w + (-\mu_k + \check{\epsilon}(-\mu_k) - w)$. We have shown that $-\mu_k + \check{\epsilon}(-\mu_k) - w$ is a positive lower bound on $\epsilon(w)$.

Last, (iii) follows from Lemma 37. Indeed, Lemma 37 ensures that a positive lower bound on $\epsilon(v)$ is given by the minimum of

(62)
$$\{\epsilon(w')\ell^{d_{w,w'}-\alpha_{k-1}} \mid w' \in \Delta(w)\} \cup \{-\mu_{k-1}-w, \min(\pi(\Psi(w))\setminus\{w\})-w\}.$$

Since $m_{w'} \leq \epsilon(w')$ for any $w' \in \Delta(w)$, the latter minimum is greater than or equal to the minimum of

(63)
$$\{m_{w'}\ell^{d_{w,w'}-\alpha_{k-1}} \mid w' \in \Delta(w)\} \cup \{-\mu_{k-1}-w, \min(\pi(\Psi(w)) \setminus \{w\}) - w\}$$

(we emphasize that the only difference between (62) and (63) is the first quantity, $\epsilon(w')$ versus $m_{w'}$), whence the desired result.

5.4. Theoretical results for the recursive step: case $v \in \{-\mu_{K-1}, \ldots, -\mu_1\}$. In this section, we consider $k \in \{1, \ldots, K\}$ and we assume that we are able to compute a positive lower bound $\check{\epsilon}(w)$ on $\epsilon(w)$ for any $w \in]-\infty, -\mu_{k-1}[\cap \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}]$. The following result explains how one can compute a positive lower bound on $\epsilon(-\mu_{k-1})$ by using finitely many $\check{\epsilon}(w)$ with $w \in]-\infty, -\mu_{k-1}[\cap \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}]$.

Proposition 38. Let $k \in \{2, ..., K\}$. A positive lower bound on $\epsilon(-\mu_{k-1})$ is given by the minimum of

(64)
$$\{ \breve{\epsilon}(w') \ell^{d_{-\mu_{k-1},w'} - \alpha_{k-2}} \mid w' \in \Delta(-\mu_{k-1}) \}$$
$$and \\\{ \mu_{k-1} - \mu_{k-2}, \min(\pi(\Psi(-\mu_{k-1})) \setminus \{-\mu_{k-1}\}) + \mu_{k-1} \}$$

where $d_{-\mu_{k-1},w'}$ is defined by (54).

Remark 39. It follows from (the first assertion of) Lemma 34 that any $w' \in \Delta(-\mu_{k-1})$ satisfies $w' < -\mu_{k-1}$, hence, it is legitimate to consider $\check{\epsilon}(w')$ in (64).

31

Example 40. In section 9, we will have to compute a positive lower bound on $\epsilon(0)$ for the operator defined by (14). Let us explain how this can be done using Proposition 38. We will see in section 9.1 that $K = 2, \mu_1 = 0$ and $\mu_2 = \frac{1}{2}$. Since $0 = -\mu_1$, a lower bound on $\epsilon(0)$ is given by the minimum of the set (64) with k = 2 and $-\mu_{k-1} = -\mu_1 = 0$. In order to compute this minimum, we have to compute $\Delta(0)$. We find $\Delta(0) = \{-\frac{1}{2}, -\frac{1}{4}\}$. Then, we have to compute positive lower bounds $\check{\epsilon}(-\frac{1}{2})$ and $\check{\epsilon}(-\frac{1}{4})$ on $\epsilon(-\frac{1}{2})$ and $\epsilon(-\frac{1}{4})$ respectively. We have seen in Example 30 and Example 36 that we can take $\check{\epsilon}(-\frac{1}{2}) = \frac{1}{4}$ and $\check{\epsilon}(-\frac{1}{4}) = \frac{1}{8}$. Using the calculations of section 9.2, it is easily seen that the minimum of (64) with k = 2 and $-\mu_{k-1} = -\mu_1 = 0$ is the minimum of the following numbers:

- $\check{\epsilon}(w')\ell^{d_{0,w'}-\alpha_0} = \frac{1}{4}2^{1-0} = \frac{1}{2}$ for $w' = -\frac{1}{2}$; $\check{\epsilon}(w')\ell^{d_{0,w'}-\alpha_0} = \frac{1}{8}2^{2-0} = \frac{1}{2}$ for $w' = -\frac{1}{4}$;
- $\mu_1 \mu_0 = +\infty;$
- $\min(\pi(\Psi(-\mu_1)) \setminus \{-\mu_1\}) + \mu_1 = \min(\pi(\Psi(0)) \setminus \{0\}) = 1.$

This minimum is equal to $\frac{1}{2}$. Thus, a positive lower bound of $\epsilon(0)$ is given by $\check{\epsilon}(0) = \frac{1}{2}$.

Proof. This follows immediately from Lemma 37 when replacing k with k-1since $\check{\epsilon}(w') \leq \epsilon(w')$ for any $w' \in \Delta(-\mu_{k-1})$. \square

5.5. **Pseudo-code.** Here is a pseudo-code transcription of the algorithm outlined in section 5.1. Its core is the function Lower Bound ϵ param defined in Algorithm 42 below.

Algorithm 41.

Input: L a Mahler operator with coefficients in $\mathbf{K}[z], v \in \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}$. **Output**: positive lower bound on $\epsilon(v)$.

def Lower Bound ϵ (L, v)for k from K to 1 set $\check{\epsilon}_k$ =Lower Bound ϵ param $(L, k, (\check{\epsilon}_i)_{k+1 \leq i \leq K}, -\mu_k)$ end for return Lower Bound ϵ param $(L, 0, (\check{\epsilon}_i)_{1 \le i \le K}, v)$ end def

Algorithm 42.

Input: *L* a Mahler operator with coefficients in $\mathbf{K}[z], K_0 \in \{0, \ldots, K\}, (\check{\epsilon}_i)_{K_0+1 \leq i \leq K} \in \mathbb{Q}_{>0}^{K-K_0}, v \in \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}.$

Output: positive lower bound on $\epsilon(v)$ provided that:

- either $K_0 = K$ and $v \le -\mu_{K_0} = -\mu_K$;
- or $K_0 \in \{0, \ldots, K-1\}, v \leq -\mu_{K_0}$ and $\check{\epsilon}_{K_0+1}, \ldots, \check{\epsilon}_K$ are positive lower bounds on $\epsilon(-\mu_{K_0+1}), \ldots, \epsilon(-\mu_K)$ respectively.

def Lower_Bound_ ϵ _param $(L, K_0, (\check{\epsilon}_i)_{K_0+1 \leq i \leq K}, v)$

```
if v < -\mu_K then
 1
                      return -\mu_K - v
 2
               end if
 3
               if v = -\mu_K then
 4
                      set S = \mathcal{V}_1 \setminus \{-\mu_K\}
 5
                      if S \neq \emptyset then
 6
                              return min S + \mu_K
 7
                      otherwise
 8
                              return 1
 9
                      end if
10
               end if
11
               if v \in [-\mu_k, -\mu_{k-1}[ for some k \in \{K_0 + 1, ..., K\} then
12
                      set (w', m) =Lower Bound \epsilon interval (L, k - 1, (\check{\epsilon}_i)_{k \le i \le K}, v)
13
                      return m
14
                end if
15
               if v = -\mu_{k-1} for some k \in \{K_0 + 1, ..., K\} then
16
                      for w' \in \Delta(-\mu_{k-1})
17
                              set m_{w'}=Lower Bound \epsilon param (L, k-1, (\check{\epsilon}_i)_{k < i < K}, w')
18
                      end for
19
                      return the minimum of
20
                              \{m_{w'}\boldsymbol{\ell}^{d_{-\mu_{k-1},w'}-\alpha_{k-2}} \mid w' \in \Delta(-\mu_{k-1})\}
                                                       and
                     {\mu_{k-1} - \mu_{k-2}, \min(\pi(\Psi(-\mu_{k-1})) \setminus \{-\mu_{k-1}\}) + \mu_{k-1}}
                      where d_{-\mu_{k-1},w'} is defined by (54).
21
               end if
22
     end def
```

In Algorithm 42:

- the lines 1–11 correspond to the base case considered in section 5.2;
- the lines 12–15 correspond to the recursive step considered in section 5.3 which can itself be encoded as a recursive algorithm, namely Algorithm 43 below;
- the lines 16–22 correspond to the recursive step considered in section 5.4.

Algorithm 43.

2

3

Input: *L* a Mahler operator with coefficients in $\mathbf{K}[z], K_0 \in \{0, \dots, K-1\}, (\check{\epsilon}_i)_{K_0+1 \leq i \leq K} \in \mathbb{Q}_{>0}^{K-K_0}, w \in \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}.$ **Output**: positive lower bound on $\epsilon(w)$ provided that $w < -\mu_{K_0}$ and $\check{\epsilon}_{K_0+1}, \dots, \check{\epsilon}_K$ are positive lower bounds on $\epsilon(-\mu_{K_0+1}), \dots, \epsilon(-\mu_K)$ respectively.

```
1 def Lower_Bound_\epsilon_interval (L, K_0, (\check{\epsilon}_i)_{K_0+1 \le i \le K}, w)
```

```
if w < -\mu_{K_0+1} + \breve{\epsilon}_{K_0+1} then
```

```
if w < -\mu_{K_0+1} then
```

```
4 set m =Lower_Bound_\epsilon_param (L, K_0+1, (\check{\epsilon}_i)_{K_0+2 \le i \le K}, w)
5 otherwise
```

```
6
                                 set m = -\mu_{K_0+1} + \breve{\epsilon}_{K_0+1} - w
                        end if
7
                        return (w, m)
8
                 end if
 9
                 if w \geq -\mu_{K_0+1} + \check{\epsilon}_{K_0+1} then
10
                        for each v \in \Delta(w)
11
                                 compute \boldsymbol{b}_v = \text{Lower} \_ \text{Bound} \_ \epsilon \_ \text{interval} (L, K_0, (\check{\epsilon}_i)_{K_0+1 \le i \le K}, v)
12
                        end for
13
                        set m to the minimum of
14
                               \{m'\ell^{d_{w,w'}-\alpha_k} \mid (w',m') = \boldsymbol{b}_v \text{ for some } v \in \Delta(w)\}
      (65)
                         \cup \{-\mu_k - w, \min(\pi(\Psi(w)) \setminus \{w\}) - w\}
                        where d_{w,w'} is defined by (54)
15
                        return (w, m)
16
                 end if
17
     end def
18
19
```

5.6. An algorithm for computing a positive lower bound on τ . To compute a lower bound on $\tau = \min \{\epsilon(-\mu_1), \ldots, \epsilon(-\mu_K), (d\ell^n)^{-1}\}$, we can simply run Algorithm 41 K times to compute positive lower bounds on $\epsilon(-\mu_1), \ldots, \epsilon(-\mu_K)$. However, the calculations would involve numerous redundancies. From an algorithmic point of view, it is better to use the following algorithm which eliminates these redundancies and which is an obvious modification of Algorithm 41.

Algorithm 44.

Input: *L* a Mahler operator with coefficients in $\mathbf{K}[z]$ **Output**: positive lower bound on $\tau = \min \{\epsilon(-\mu_1), \ldots, \epsilon(-\mu_K), (d\ell^n)^{-1}\}.$

```
def Lower_Bound_\tau (L)
for k from K to 1
set \check{\epsilon}_k = Lower_Bound_\epsilon_param (L, k, (\check{\epsilon}_i)_{k+1 \le i \le K}, -\mu_k)
end for
return the minimum of \check{\epsilon}_1, \ldots, \check{\epsilon}_K and \frac{1}{d\ell^n}
end def
```

6. The property $\star_{\mathcal{V}}$

In this section, we consider a Mahler operator

(66) $L = a_n \phi_{\ell}^n + a_{n-1} \phi_{\ell}^{n-1} + \dots + a_0$

with coefficients $a_0, \ldots, a_n \in \mathbf{K}[z]$ such that $a_0 a_n \neq 0$. We recall the following notation:

$$\operatorname{Sol}(L,\mathscr{H}) = \{ f \in \mathscr{H} \mid L(f) = 0 \}.$$

Hypothesis A. Throughout this section, we let \mathcal{V} be a subset of \mathbb{Q} satisfying the following properties:

(1) Sol $(L, \mathscr{H}) \subset \mathscr{H}_{|\mathcal{V}};$ (2) \mathcal{V} is well-ordered; (3) $-\mathcal{S}(L) \subset \mathcal{V};$ (4) $\bigcup_{v \in \mathcal{V}} \pi(\Psi(v)) = \mathcal{V}.$

Theorem 17 ensures that such a set \mathcal{V} exists.

Definition 45. We say that a subset
$$\mathcal{R}$$
 of \mathbb{Q} satisfies property $\star_{\mathcal{V}}$ if :
a. $-\mathcal{S}(L) \subset \mathcal{R} \subset \mathcal{V}$;

b.
$$\bigcup_{v \in \mathcal{V} \setminus \mathcal{R}} \pi(\Psi(v)) = \mathcal{V} \setminus \mathcal{R}.$$

The interest of property $\star_{\mathcal{V}}$ lies in the following result.

Theorem 46. If \mathcal{R} satisfies $\star_{\mathcal{V}}$, then the **K**-linear map

(67)
$$\begin{array}{ccc} \bullet_{|\mathcal{R}} : & \mathcal{H} & \to & \mathcal{H}_{|\mathcal{R}} \\ & f = \sum_{\gamma \in \mathbb{Q}} f_{\gamma} z^{\gamma} & \mapsto & f_{|\mathcal{R}} = \sum_{\gamma \in \mathcal{R}} f_{\gamma} z^{\gamma} \end{array}$$

induces a ${\bf K}\mbox{-linear}$ isomorphism

(68)
$$\operatorname{Sol}(L,\mathscr{H}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{R}}$$

where

$$\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{R}} = \{ f \in \mathscr{H}_{|\mathcal{R}} \mid \pi(\operatorname{supp} L(f)) \cap \mathcal{R} = \emptyset \} \\ = \{ f \in \mathscr{H}_{|\mathcal{R}} \mid \operatorname{supp}(L(f)) \cap \psi(\mathcal{R}) = \emptyset \}.$$

The proof of this result is given in section 6.2 below. It relies on certain preliminary results gathered in the next section.

Remark 47. In Theorem 56, we will prove that there exists a finite subset \mathcal{R} of \mathbb{Q} satisfying property $\star_{\mathcal{V}}$ and we will give an algorithm to compute it. However, in this section, \mathcal{R} is not required to be finite.

6.1. **Preliminary results.** Through this section, we consider a subset \mathcal{R} of \mathbb{Q} satisfying $\star_{\mathcal{V}}$. We introduce the following sets:

$$\Gamma = \mathcal{V} \setminus \mathcal{R}$$
 and $\Lambda = \psi(\Gamma)$.

The principal aim of this section is to prove the following result.

Proposition 48. For all $g \in \mathscr{H}_{|\Lambda}$, there exists $f \in \mathscr{H}_{|\Gamma}$ such that L(f) = g.

The proof of this result is given at the end of this subsection. The following lemmas are technical results used in the proof of Proposition 48. On first reading, the reader can admit these lemmas and read the proof of Proposition 48 directly.

Lemma 49. We have:

•
$$\Gamma = \pi(\Lambda);$$

•
$$\Lambda = \bigcup_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \Psi(\gamma);$$

• $\Gamma \cap -\mathcal{S}(L) = \emptyset.$

Proof. The equality $\Gamma = \pi(\Lambda)$ follows immediately from the fact that ψ and π are inverse of each other by Lemma 7.

By definition of Γ and condition b. of Definition 45, we have

$$\Gamma = \mathcal{V} \setminus \mathcal{R} = \bigcup_{v \in \mathcal{V} \setminus \mathcal{R}} \pi(\Psi(v)) = \bigcup_{v \in \Gamma} \pi(\Psi(v)).$$

35

Applying ψ to the latter equality and using the fact that ψ and π are inverse of each other by Lemma 7, we obtain $\Lambda = \bigcup_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \Psi(\gamma)$.

Last, we have $\Gamma \cap -\mathcal{S}(L) = \emptyset$ because $-\mathcal{S}(L) \subset \mathcal{R}$ and $\Gamma \cap \mathcal{R} = \emptyset$ by definition of Γ .

Lemma 50. The subsets Γ and Λ of \mathbb{Q} are well-ordered.

Proof. Since Γ is a subset of \mathcal{V} which is well-ordered, Γ is well-ordered. Lemma 7 ensures that $\psi : \mathbb{Q} \to \mathbb{Q}$ is increasing. Thus, the fact that $\Lambda = \psi(\Gamma)$ is well-ordered follows from the fact that Γ is well-ordered. \Box

Lemma 51. For any $g \in \mathscr{H}_{|\Lambda} \setminus \{0\}$, there exists $a \in \mathbf{K}$ such that

$$\operatorname{val}(L(az^{\gamma}) - g) > \operatorname{val} g,$$

where $\gamma = \pi(\operatorname{val} g)$. In particular, $\gamma \in \pi(\Lambda) = \Gamma$.

Proof. Since supp $g \subset \Lambda$, we have val $g \in \Lambda$ and, hence, $\gamma = \pi(\operatorname{val} g) \in \pi(\Lambda)$. But, $\pi(\Lambda) = \Gamma$ and $\Gamma \cap -\mathcal{S}(L) = \emptyset$ by Lemma 49. So, $\gamma \notin -\mathcal{S}(L)$ and Lemma 11 ensures that val $L(z^{\gamma}) = \psi(\gamma)$. Since ψ and π are inverse of each other by Lemma 7, we get val $L(z^{\gamma}) = \operatorname{val} g$, *i.e.*, there exists $c \in \mathbf{K}^{\times}$ such that

 $L(z^{\gamma}) = cz^{\operatorname{val} g} + \operatorname{Hahn}$ series of higher-order valuation.

Therefore, $a = c^{-1}g_{\text{val }g}$ has the expected property.

Lemma 52. If $\gamma \in \Gamma$ and $\lambda \in \Lambda$ are such that, for all $x \in \Gamma \cap] - \infty, \gamma[, \lambda > \psi(x), \text{ then } \lambda \ge \psi(\gamma).$

Proof. Since π and ψ are inverse of each other by Lemma 7, we have $\lambda = \psi(y)$ with $y = \pi(\lambda) \in \pi(\Lambda) = \Gamma$. By hypothesis, for all $x \in \Gamma \cap] - \infty, \gamma[$, we have $\psi(y) = \lambda > \psi(x)$. Since ψ is increasing by Lemma 7, we get, for all $x \in \Gamma \cap] - \infty, \gamma[$, y > x. So, $y \in \Gamma \cap [\gamma, +\infty[$. In particular, we have $y \ge \gamma$ and, since ψ is increasing by Lemma 7, $\lambda = \psi(y) \ge \psi(\gamma)$ as claimed. \Box

Lemma 53. Suppose that $f, f' \in \mathscr{H}_{|\Gamma}$ are such that $\operatorname{val}(L(f) - g) > \psi(y)$ and $\operatorname{val}(L(f') - g) > \psi(y')$ for some $g \in \mathscr{H}$ and some $y, y' \in \Gamma$. Then, $f = f' \text{ on } \Gamma \cap] - \infty, \min\{y, y'\}].$

Proof. We argue by contradiction. Assume on the contrary that $f \neq f'$ on $\Gamma \cap] -\infty$, $\min\{y, y'\}]$. Up to interchanging the roles of f and f', we can assume that $y \leq y'$ and, hence, that $f \neq f'$ on $\Gamma \cap] -\infty, y]$. Using the fact that Γ is well ordered, we can assume that y is minimal with respect to the property " $f \neq f'$ on $\Gamma \cap] -\infty, y]$ ". On the one hand, one can characterize y in terms of $h = f' - f \in \mathscr{H}_{|\Gamma} \setminus \{0\}$ as the minimal element of Γ such that $h \neq 0$ on $\Gamma \cap] -\infty, y]$. So, $y = \operatorname{val} h$. Since $\operatorname{val} h = y \in \Gamma$ and $\Gamma \cap -\mathcal{S}(L) = \emptyset$ by Lemma 49, we have $\operatorname{val} h \notin -\mathcal{S}(L)$ and it follows from Lemma 11 that

(69)
$$\operatorname{val} L(h) = \psi(y).$$

On the other hand, we have

$$L(h) = (L(f') - g) - (L(f) - g).$$

Applying the z-adic valuation val to the latter equality and using (9), we get

 $\operatorname{val} L(h) \ge \min\{\operatorname{val}(L(f) - g), \operatorname{val}(L(f') - g)\}.$

But, by hypothesis, we have $\operatorname{val}(L(f) - g) > \psi(y)$ and $\operatorname{val}(L(f') - g) > \psi(y') \ge \psi(y)$, the latter inequality $\psi(y') \ge \psi(y)$ following from the facts that $y' \ge y$ and that ψ is increasing by Lemma 7. Therefore, $\operatorname{val} L(h) > \psi(y)$. This contradicts (69).

Lemma 54. Consider $y \in \Gamma \cup \{+\infty\}$ and a family $(f_x)_{x \in \Gamma \cap]-\infty, y[}$ of Hahn series such that, for all $x \in \Gamma \cap]-\infty, y[$, $f_x \in \mathscr{H}_{[\Gamma}$. Suppose that, for all $x, x' \in \Gamma \cap]-\infty, y[$, we have $f_x = f_{x'}$ on $\Gamma \cap]-\infty, \min\{x, x'\}]$. Then, there exists $f \in \mathscr{H}_{[\Gamma \cap]-\infty, y[}$ such that, for all $x \in \Gamma \cap]-\infty, y[$, $f = f_x$ on $\Gamma \cap]-\infty, x]$.

Proof. We set, for all $x \in \Gamma \cap] - \infty$, y[, $f_x = \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} a_{x,\gamma} z^{\gamma}$. Set

$$f = \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma \cap]-\infty, y[} a_{\gamma, \gamma} z^{\gamma} \in \mathscr{H}_{[\Gamma \cap]-\infty, y[} \, .$$

Let $x \in \Gamma \cap] -\infty$, y[and $\gamma \in \Gamma \cap] -\infty$, x]. Using the hypothesis of the lemma with $x' = \gamma$, we have $f_x = f_\gamma$ on $\Gamma \cap] -\infty$, $\gamma]$. In particular, looking at the coefficients of z^γ , we obtain $a_{x,\gamma} = a_{\gamma,\gamma}$. Thus, $f = f_x$ on $\Gamma \cap] -\infty$, x]. \Box

Proof of Proposition 48. Consider $g \in \mathscr{H}_{|\Lambda}$. We have to prove that there exists $\overline{f} \in \mathscr{H}_{|\Gamma}$ such that $L(\overline{f}) = g$. We split the proof in two main steps.

Step 1. Let us first prove that, for all $y \in \Gamma$, there exists $f_y \in \mathscr{H}_{|\Gamma}$ such that $\operatorname{val}(L(f_y) - g) > \psi(y)$. We argue by contradiction: we assume that this is not true, *i.e.*, that the set

$$Y = \{ y \in \Gamma \mid \forall f \in \mathscr{H}_{|\Gamma}, \operatorname{val}(L(f) - g) \le \psi(y) \}$$

is nonempty. Since Y is a nonempty subset of the well-ordered set Γ , it has a minimal element y_{\min} .

We claim that there exists $f \in \mathscr{H}_{[\Gamma \cap]-\infty,y_{\min}[}$ such that

(70)
$$\operatorname{val}(L(f) - g) > \psi(g)$$

for all $x \in \Gamma \cap] - \infty$, $y_{\min}[$, and such that

(71)
$$\operatorname{val}(L(f) - g) \in \Lambda.$$

Indeed, for all $x \in \Gamma \cap] - \infty$, $y_{\min}[$, we have $x \in \Gamma \setminus Y$ and, hence, there exists $f_x \in \mathscr{H}_{|\Gamma}$ such that

(72)
$$\operatorname{val}(L(f_x) - g) > \psi(x).$$

According to Lemma 53, we have, for any $x, x' \in \Gamma \cap] -\infty$, $y_{\min}[, f_x = f_{x'}$ on $\Gamma \cap] -\infty$, $\min\{x, x'\}]$. Lemma 54 ensures that there exists $f \in \mathscr{H}_{[\Gamma \cap]-\infty, y_{\min}[}$ such that, for all $x \in \Gamma \cap] -\infty$, $y_{\min}[, f = f_x \text{ on } \Gamma \cap] -\infty$, x]. Let us prove that f satisfies (70) and (71). Let us first note that, for all $x \in \Gamma \cap] -\infty$, $y_{\min}[$,

(73)
$$\operatorname{val} L(f - f_x) \ge \psi(\operatorname{val}(f - f_x)) > \psi(x);$$

indeed, the first inequality follows from Lemma 11, the second inequality follows from the facts that $\operatorname{val}(f - f_x) > x$ and that ψ is increasing by Lemma 7. Using (9) and, then, the inequalities (72) and (73), we get, for all $x \in \Gamma \cap] - \infty$, $y_{\min}[$,

(74)
$$\operatorname{val}(L(f) - g) = \operatorname{val}(L(f - f_x) + L(f_x) - g)$$
$$\geq \min\{\operatorname{val}(L(f - f_x), \operatorname{val}(L(f_x) - g)\} > \psi(x).$$

This justifies (70). Moreover, we have $L(f) - g \neq 0$ because Y is nonempty, so

$$\operatorname{val}(L(f) - g) \in \operatorname{supp}(L(f) - g) \subset \operatorname{supp} L(f) \cup \operatorname{supp} g \subset \bigcup_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \Psi(\gamma) \cup \Lambda \subset \Lambda,$$

the latter two inclusions following from Lemma 14 and Lemma 49 respectively. This justifies (71) and, hence, our claim toward the existence of f.

We fix $f \in \mathscr{H}_{[\Gamma \cap]-\infty,y_{\min}[}$ satisfying (70) and (71). We can apply Lemma 52 to $\lambda = \operatorname{val}(L(f) - g)$ and to $\gamma = y_{\min}$ and we obtain

$$\operatorname{val}(L(f) - g) \ge \psi(y_{\min}).$$

We have already seen that $L(f) - g \neq 0$ and that $\operatorname{supp}(L(f) - g) \subset \Lambda$. So, Lemma 51 ensures that there exists $a \in \mathbf{K}$ and $\gamma \in \Gamma$ such that

$$\operatorname{val}(L(az^{\gamma}) + L(f) - g) > \operatorname{val}(L(f) - g) \ge \psi(y_{\min}).$$

Therefore, $f' = az^{\gamma} + f \in \mathscr{H}_{|\Gamma}$ satisfies

$$\operatorname{val}(L(f') - g) > \psi(y_{\min}).$$

This contradicts the fact that y_{\min} belongs to Y. So, Y is empty and, hence, we have proved that, for all $y \in \Gamma$, there exists $f_y \in \mathscr{H}_{\Gamma}$ such that $\operatorname{val}(L(f_y) - g) > \psi(y)$.

Step 2. Lemma 53 ensures that, for all $y, y' \in \Gamma$, we have $f_{y'} = f_y$ on $\Gamma \cap] -\infty$, min $\{y, y'\}$]. According to Lemma 54 applied with $y = +\infty$, there exists $\overline{f} \in \mathscr{H}_{\Gamma}$ such that, for all $y \in \Gamma$, $\overline{f} = f_y$ on $\Gamma \cap] -\infty$, y]. Arguing as we did above for proving (70), we see that, for all $y \in \Gamma$, val $(L(\overline{f}) - g) > \psi(y)$. This implies that $L(\overline{f}) - g = 0$ because, otherwise, val $(L(\overline{f}) - g)$ would belong to supp $(L(\overline{f}) - g) \subset \Lambda$ but not to $\psi(\Gamma)$ and this would contradict the fact that $\Lambda = \psi(\Gamma)$ by definition.

6.2. **Proof of Theorem 46.** We recall the following notations introduced in section 6.1:

$$\Gamma = \mathcal{V} \setminus \mathcal{R}, \quad \Lambda = \psi(\Gamma)$$

and

$$\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{R}} = \{ f \in \mathscr{H}_{|\mathcal{R}} \mid \operatorname{supp}(L(f)) \cap \psi(\mathcal{R}) = \emptyset \}.$$

Proving Theorem 46 is equivalent to proving the following properties relative to the **K**-linear map $\bullet_{|\mathcal{R}}$ defined by (67): $\bullet_{|\mathcal{R}}(\operatorname{Sol}(L, \mathscr{H})) = \mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{R}}$ and $\operatorname{ker}(\bullet_{|\mathcal{R}}) \cap \operatorname{Sol}(L, \mathscr{H}) = \{0\}$. Before proving these properties, note that

(75)
$$\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{R}} = \{ f \in \mathscr{H}_{|\mathcal{R}} \mid \operatorname{supp} L(f) \subset \Lambda \} = \{ f \in \mathscr{H}_{|\mathcal{R}} \mid L(f) \in \mathscr{H}_{|\Lambda} \}.$$

Indeed, since $\Lambda = \psi(\Gamma) = \psi(\mathcal{V} \setminus \mathcal{R}) = \psi(\mathcal{V}) \setminus \psi(\mathcal{R})$, in order to prove the equality (75), it is sufficient to prove that, for any $f \in \mathscr{H}_{|\mathcal{R}}$, we have $\operatorname{supp} L(f) \subset \psi(\mathcal{V})$. As a matter of fact, the latter property is true since $\operatorname{supp} L(f) \subset \bigcup_{v \in \operatorname{supp} f} \Psi(v)$ by Lemma 14, $\bigcup_{v \in \operatorname{supp} f} \Psi(v) \subset \bigcup_{v \in \mathcal{V}} \Psi(v)$ because $\operatorname{supp} f \subset \mathcal{R} \subset \mathcal{V}$ and $\bigcup_{v \in \mathcal{V}} \Psi(v) = \psi(\mathcal{V})$ by (4) of Hypothesis A.

Proof of $\bullet_{|\mathcal{R}}(\mathrm{Sol}(L,\mathscr{H})) \subset \mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{R}}$. Consider $f \in \mathrm{Sol}(L,\mathscr{H})$. Consider the decomposition $f = f_{|\mathcal{R}} + f_{|\gamma}$. Applying L to this equality, we get $0 = L(f_{|\mathcal{R}}) + L(f_{|\gamma})$, so

(76)
$$L(f_{|\mathcal{R}}) = -L(f_{|\gamma}).$$

It follows from Lemma 14 that supp $L(f_{|\gamma}) \subset \bigcup_{v \in \gamma} \Psi(v) = \Lambda$, the latter equality coming from Lemma 49. Therefore,

$$L(f_{|\mathcal{R}}) = -L(f_{|\gamma}) \in \mathscr{H}_{|\Lambda}.$$

Using (75), this proves that the image of f by $\bullet_{|\mathcal{R}}$ belongs to $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{R}}$.

Proof of $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{R}} \subset \bullet_{|\mathcal{R}}(\mathrm{Sol}(L, \mathscr{H}))$. Consider $f_0 \in \mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{R}}$. It follows from (75) that $L(f_0) \in \mathscr{H}_{|\Lambda}$. Proposition 48 ensures that there exists $f_1 \in \mathscr{H}_{|\Gamma}$ such that $L(f_1) = -L(f_0)$. Then $f = f_0 + f_1$ belongs to $Sol(L, \mathscr{H})$ and its image by $\bullet_{|\mathcal{R}}$ is f_0 .

Proof of $\ker(\bullet_{|\mathcal{R}}) \cap \operatorname{Sol}(L, \mathscr{H}) = \{0\}.$ Let $f \in \ker(\bullet_{|\mathcal{R}}) \cap \operatorname{Sol}(L, \mathscr{H}).$ Then, f belongs to $\mathscr{H}_{|\Gamma}$ and satisfies L(f) = 0. Lemma 12 ensures that $\operatorname{val} f \in -\mathcal{S}(L) \cup \{+\infty\}$. But, $\operatorname{val} f \in \Gamma \cup \{+\infty\}$ and $-\mathcal{S}(L) \cap \Gamma = \emptyset$ by Lemma 49. So, val $f = +\infty$ and, hence, f = 0.

This concludes the proof of Theorem 46.

7. Computing an \mathcal{R} containing \mathcal{E} and satisfying $\star_{\mathcal{V}}$.

We use the notations of section 6: we consider the operator L given by (8) and we let \mathcal{V} be a subset of \mathbb{Q} satisfying Hypothesis A. Moreover, we let \mathcal{E} be a finite subset of \mathcal{V} .

Definition 55. We say that a set \mathcal{R} satisfies property $\star_{\mathcal{E},\mathcal{V}}$ if $\mathcal{E} \subset \mathcal{R}$ and \mathcal{R} satisfies property $\star_{\mathcal{V}}$.

We shall now give a recursive construction of a finite set satisfying $\star_{\mathcal{E},\mathcal{V}}$.

Theorem 56. The sequence $(\mathcal{R}_i)_{i\geq 0}$ of subsets of \mathcal{V} recursively defined by

$$\mathcal{R}_0 = \mathcal{E} \cup -\mathcal{S}(L)$$

and, for all $i \geq 0$,

(77)
$$\mathcal{R}_{i+1} = \{ v \in \mathcal{V} \mid \pi(\Psi(v)) \cap \mathcal{R}_i \neq \emptyset \}$$

is an eventually constant nondecreasing sequence of finite sets. The above recursive definition formula can be rewritten as follows, for all i > 0:

(78)
$$\mathcal{R}_{i+1} = \bigcup_{(\ell^{\alpha},\beta)\in\mathcal{P}(L)} \ell^{-\alpha}(\psi(\mathcal{R}_i)-\beta)\cap\mathcal{V}.$$

Moreover, $\mathcal{R} = \bigcup_{i>0} \mathcal{R}_i$ is a finite set which satisfies $\star_{\mathcal{E},\mathcal{V}}$.

Example 57. The sets \mathcal{R}_i and \mathcal{R} are computed in section 9.5 for the operator L given by (14).

Proof.

Proof of the equality (78). This equality follows from the following chain of equalities:

~

$$\begin{aligned} \{ v \in \mathcal{V} \mid \pi(\Psi(v)) \ \cap \mathcal{R}_i \neq \emptyset \} &= \{ v \in \mathcal{V} \mid \Psi(v) \ \cap \psi(\mathcal{R}_i) \neq \emptyset \} \\ &= \{ v \in \mathcal{V} \mid \exists (\ell^{\alpha}, \beta) \in \mathcal{P}(L), v\ell^{\alpha} + \beta \in \psi(\mathcal{R}_i) \} \\ &= \bigcup_{(\ell^{\alpha}, \beta) \in \mathcal{P}(L)} \{ v \in \mathcal{V} \mid v\ell^{\alpha} + \beta \in \psi(\mathcal{R}_i) \} \\ &= \bigcup_{(\ell^{\alpha}, \beta) \in \mathcal{P}(L)} \ell^{-\alpha}(\psi(\mathcal{R}_i) - \beta) \cap \mathcal{V}. \end{aligned}$$

Proof of the fact that the \mathcal{R}_i are finite sets. We argue by induction on $i \geq 0$. The base case i = 0 is clear. We now proceed with the inductive step. Let us assume that \mathcal{R}_i is finite for some $i \geq 0$. Then, $\psi(\mathcal{R}_i)$ is finite, so, for all $(\ell^{\alpha}, \beta) \in \mathcal{P}(L), \ \ell^{-\alpha}(\psi(\mathcal{R}_i) - \beta) \cap \mathcal{V}$ is finite. Since $\mathcal{P}(L)$ is finite, the equation (78) shows that \mathcal{R}_{i+1} is finite as well. This concludes the proof.

Proof of the fact that the sequence $(\mathcal{R}_i)_{i\geq 0}$ is nondecreasing. Consider $i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$. Lemma 15 ensures that, for all $v \in \mathcal{R}_i$, we have $v \in \pi(\Psi(v))$, so $v \in \pi(\Psi(v)) \cap \mathcal{R}_i$ and, hence, $v \in \mathcal{R}_{i+1}$. This shows that $\mathcal{R}_i \subset \mathcal{R}_{i+1}$.

Proof of the fact that $(\mathcal{R}_i)_{i\geq 0}$ is eventually constant. We argue by contradiction: we assume that $(\mathcal{R}_i)_{i\geq 0}$ is not eventually constant. Then, $\mathcal{R} = \bigcup_{i\geq 0} \mathcal{R}_i$ is infinite because $(\mathcal{R}_i)_{i\geq 0}$ is nondecreasing. For any $v \in \mathcal{V}$, we consider the sequence $(\mathcal{R}_i(v))_{i\geq 0}$ of subsets of \mathcal{V} defined by

- $\mathcal{R}_0(v) = \{v\};$
- $\forall i \ge 0, \ \mathcal{R}_{i+1}(v) = \{ w \in \mathcal{V} \mid \pi(\Psi(w)) \cap \mathcal{R}_i(v) \neq \emptyset \}.$

Then, $(\mathcal{R}_i(v))_{i\geq 0}$ is a nondecreasing sequence of finite sets (for the same reasons that $(\mathcal{R}_i)_{i\geq 0}$ is an nondecreasing sequence of finite sets). We set $\mathcal{R}(v) = \bigcup_{i\geq 0} \mathcal{R}_i(v)$. Note that :

- we have $\mathcal{R} = \bigcup_{v \in \mathcal{R}_0} \mathcal{R}(v)$; since \mathcal{R} is infinite and \mathcal{R}_0 is finite, there exists $v_0 \in \mathcal{R}_0$ such that $\mathcal{R}(v_0)$ is infinite;
- we have $\mathcal{R}(v_0) = \{v_0\} \cup \bigcup_{v \in \mathcal{R}_1(v_0) \setminus \{v_0\}} \mathcal{R}(v)$; since $\mathcal{R}(v_0)$ is infinite and $\mathcal{R}_1(v_0)$ is finite, there exists $v_1 \in \mathcal{R}_1(v_0) \setminus \{v_0\}$ such that $\mathcal{R}(v_1)$ is infinite;
- we have $\mathcal{R}(v_1) = \{v_1\} \cup \bigcup_{v \in \mathcal{R}_1(v_1) \setminus \{v_1\}} \mathcal{R}(v)$; since $\mathcal{R}(v_1)$ is infinite and $\mathcal{R}_1(v_1)$ is finite, there exists $v_2 \in \mathcal{R}_1(v_1) \setminus \{v_1\}$ such that $\mathcal{R}(v_2)$ is infinite.

Iterating this construction, we see that there exists a sequence $(v_i)_{i\geq 0}$ of elements of \mathcal{V} such that, for all $i \geq 0$, $v_{i+1} \in \mathcal{R}_1(v_i) \setminus \{v_i\}$. Therefore, we have $v_i \in \pi(\Psi(v_{i+1}))$ and $v_{i+1} \neq v_i$ so $v_{i+1} < v_i$ by Lemma 34 applied to $w = v_i$ and $w' = v_{i+1}$ (we draw the reader's attention to the fact that $v_i \in \pi(\Psi(v_{i+1}))$ and not the opposite, as it was in section 4). So, the sequence $(v_i)_{i\geq 0}$ is decreasing. This contradicts the fact that \mathcal{V} is well-ordered. Thus, the sequence $(\mathcal{R}_i)_{i\in\mathbb{Z}\geq 0}$ is eventually constant. In particular, $\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{R}_{i_0}$ for some $i_0 \geq 0$ and, hence, \mathcal{R} is a finite set.

Proof of the fact that \mathcal{R} satisfies property $\star_{\mathcal{V}}$. The fact that \mathcal{R} satisfies property a. of Definition 45 is obvious. Moreover, if $v \in \mathcal{V} \setminus \mathcal{R}$, then, for all $i \geq 0$, we have $\pi(\Psi(v)) \cap \mathcal{R}_i = \emptyset$ and, hence, $\pi(\Psi(v)) \cap \mathcal{R} = \emptyset$. Thus,

(79)
$$\bigcup_{v \in \mathcal{V} \setminus \mathcal{R}} \pi(\Psi(v)) \cap \mathcal{R} = \emptyset$$

But,

(80)
$$\mathcal{V} \setminus \mathcal{R} \subset \bigcup_{v \in \mathcal{V} \setminus \mathcal{R}} \pi(\Psi(v)) \subset \mathcal{V};$$

indeed, the first inclusion follows from the first assertion of Lemma 15 and the second inclusion follows from property (4) of Hypothesis A. Combining

(79) and (80), we get

$$\bigcup_{v\in\mathcal{V}\setminus\mathcal{R}}\pi(\Psi(v))=\mathcal{V}\setminus\mathcal{R}.$$

So, \mathcal{R} satisfies property b. of Definition 45.

Let $d \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$ be a common denominator of the slopes of L and let \mathcal{V} be the set given by Theorem 17. The following result gives an upper bound on the least $i \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ such that $\mathcal{R}_i = \mathcal{R}$ when \mathcal{V} is the set given by Theorem 17.

Proposition 58. We let \mathcal{V} be the set given by Theorem 17, we let $\mathcal{E} \subset \mathcal{V}$ be a finite set and we let $(\mathcal{R}_i)_{i\geq 0}$ and \mathcal{R} be the sets given by Theorem 56. We let $H \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ be such that $^7 d\ell^H \mathcal{E} \subset \mathbb{Z}$ and $N \in \mathbb{Q}_{\geq 0}$ be such that $\mathcal{E} \cup -\mathcal{S}(L) \subset \mathbb{Q}_{\leq N}$. Let τ be the number defined by (38), namely

$$\tau = \min\left\{\epsilon(-\mu_1), \dots, \epsilon(-\mu_K), (d\ell^n)^{-1}\right\} \in \mathbb{Q}_{>0}.$$

We set

$$c = \left\lfloor (n+1)\frac{N+\mu_K}{\tau} \right\rfloor + H.$$

Then, for any $i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq c}$, we have $\mathcal{R}_i = \mathcal{R}$.

Proof. Theorem 56 guarantees that the sequence $(\mathcal{R}_i)_{i\geq 0}$ is nondecreasing and eventually constant. Let M be the least element of $\mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ such that $\mathcal{R}_M = \mathcal{R}_{M+1}$. It follows easily from the definition of $(\mathcal{R}_i)_{i\geq 0}$ that, for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq M}, \ \mathcal{R}_i = \mathcal{R}$. In order to conclude the proof, it is thus sufficient to prove that $c \geq M$. Let us prove this. We have $c \geq 0$, so the result holds if M = 0. Otherwise, assume $M \geq 1$. The set $\mathcal{R}_M \setminus \mathcal{R}_{M-1}$ being nonempty, one can consider $v_0 \in \mathcal{R}_M \setminus \mathcal{R}_{M-1}$. It follows from the definition of $(\mathcal{R}_i)_{i\geq 0}$, that there exist $v_1, \ldots, v_M \in \mathcal{V}$ such that, for all $i \in \{0, \ldots, M-1\}$,

$$v_{i+1} \in \pi(\Psi(v_i)) \cap \mathcal{R}_{M-1-i}.$$

We claim that, for any $i \in \{0, \ldots, M-1\}$, we have $v_i \notin \mathcal{R}_{M-1-i}$. Indeed, assume on the contrary that there exists $i \in \{0, \ldots, M-1\}$ such that $v_i \in \mathcal{R}_{M-1-i}$. Without loss of generality, we can assume that i is the least element of $\{0, \ldots, M-1\}$ satisfying the latter property. Our choice of v_0 guaranties that $i \neq 0$. We have $v_i \in \mathcal{R}_{M-1-i}$ and, by construction, $v_i \in \pi(\Psi(v_{i-1})) \cap \mathcal{R}_{M-i}$, so $v_i \in \pi(\Psi(v_{i-1})) \cap \mathcal{R}_{M-1-i}$ and it follows from the definition of \mathcal{R}_{M-i} that $v_{i-1} \in \mathcal{R}_{M-i}$. This contradicts the minimality of i and concludes the proof of our claim. It follows that, for any $i \in \{0, \ldots, M-1\}$, we have $v_{i+1} \neq v_i$ because $v_{i+1} \in \mathcal{R}_{M-1-i}$ by construction and $v_i \notin \mathcal{R}_{M-1-i}$ by the previous claim. Then, Lemma 34 applied to $w = v_{i+1}$ and $w' = v_i$ ensures that $v_{i+1} > v_i$. In conclusion, $v_0, v_1, \ldots, v_M \in \mathcal{V}$ satisfy the following properties:

- $v_M \in \mathcal{R}_0 = \mathcal{E} \cup -\mathcal{S}(L);$
- $v_{i+1} \in \pi(\Psi(v_i))$ for all $i \in \{0, \dots, M-1\};$
- $v_0 < v_1 < \cdots < v_M$.

40

⁷We recall that $\mathcal{V} \subset \mathbb{Z}_{d,\ell}$ by Lemma 24, so that any element of \mathcal{V} and, hence, of the finite set $\mathcal{E} \subset \mathcal{V}$ is of the form $\frac{a}{d\ell^h}$ for some $a \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $h \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$.

It follows from Lemma 28 that

$$M \le (n+1)\frac{v_M + \mu_K}{\tau} + h(v_M) \,.$$

Since $v_M \leq N$ and $h(v_M) \leq H$ and since M is an integer, we have $M \leq c$. This concludes the proof.

We note the following results for further use.

Lemma 59. With the notations of Theorem 56, $\max \mathcal{R} = \max \mathcal{E} \cup -\mathcal{S}(L)$.

Proof. The inequality $\max \mathcal{R} \geq \max \mathcal{E} \cup -\mathcal{S}(L)$ follows from the fact that $\mathcal{E} \cup -\mathcal{S}(L) = \mathcal{R}_0 \subset \mathcal{R}$. Proving the converse inequality $\max \mathcal{R} \leq \max \mathcal{E} \cup -\mathcal{S}(L)$ is equivalent to proving that, for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$,

(81)
$$\max \mathcal{R}_i \le \max \mathcal{E} \cup -\mathcal{S}(L).$$

Let us prove this by induction on *i*. The inequality (81) is obvious when i = 0 since $\mathcal{R}_0 = \mathcal{E} \cup -\mathcal{S}(L)$. Suppose that the inequality (81) is proved for some $i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$. Let $v \in \mathcal{R}_{i+1}$. By definition of \mathcal{R}_{i+1} , there exists $v' \in \mathcal{R}_i$ such that $v' \in \pi(\Psi(v))$. By induction hypothesis, $v' \leq \max \mathcal{E} \cup -\mathcal{S}(L)$. By Lemma 15, $v = \min \pi(\Psi(v))$, so $v \leq v' \leq \max \mathcal{E} \cup -\mathcal{S}(L)$. Therefore, $\max \mathcal{R}_{i+1} \leq \max \mathcal{E} \cup -\mathcal{S}(L)$. This concludes the induction.

Proposition 60. We make the same assumptions and use the same notations as in Proposition 58. Let $\check{\tau}$ be a positive lower bound of τ . Then, the sequence $(\mathcal{R}_i)_{i>0}$ can also be recursively computed as follows:

$$\mathcal{R}_0 = (\mathcal{E} \cup -\mathcal{S}(L)) \cap \mathcal{V}_M$$

and, for all $i \geq 0$,

(82)
$$\mathcal{R}_{i+1} = \bigcup_{(\ell^{\alpha},\beta)\in\mathcal{P}(L)} \ell^{-\alpha}(\psi(\mathcal{R}_i) - \beta) \cap \mathcal{V}_M$$

where

$$M = (n+1) \left(\left\lfloor (n+1) \frac{N+\mu_K}{\breve{\tau}} \right\rfloor + H \right).$$

Proof. We have seen in Theorem 56 that the sequence $(\mathcal{R}_i)_{i\geq 0}$ can be recursively computed as follows:

$$\mathcal{R}_0 = \mathcal{E} \cup -\mathcal{S}(L)$$

and, for all $i \ge 0$,

$$\mathcal{R}_{i+1} = \bigcup_{(\ell^{\alpha},\beta)\in\mathcal{P}(L)} \ell^{-\alpha}(\psi(\mathcal{R}_i) - \beta).$$

Intersecting with \mathcal{V}_M , we obtain:

$$\mathcal{R}_0 \cap \mathcal{V}_M = (\mathcal{E} \cup -\mathcal{S}(L)) \cap \mathcal{V}_M$$

and, for all $i \ge 0$,

$$\mathcal{R}_{i+1} \cap \mathcal{V}_M = \bigcup_{(\ell^{\alpha},\beta) \in \mathcal{P}(L)} \ell^{-\alpha}(\psi(\mathcal{R}_i) - \beta) \cap \mathcal{V}_M$$

Given this formula, in order to prove the Proposition, it is clearly sufficient to prove that, for all $i \geq 0$, we have $\mathcal{R}_i \subset \mathcal{V}_M$. Let us prove this.

We claim that it is sufficient to prove that $\mathcal{R}_d \subset \mathcal{V}_M$ where

$$d = \left\lfloor (n+1)\frac{N+\mu_K}{\breve{\tau}} \right\rfloor + H.$$

Indeed, Proposition 58 guarantees that, for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$, $\mathcal{R}_i \subset \mathcal{R}_c = \mathcal{R}$ where

$$c = \left\lfloor (n+1)\frac{N+\mu_K}{\tau} \right\rfloor + H.$$

But, since $\check{\tau}$ is a positive lower bound of τ , we have

$$d = \left\lfloor (n+1)\frac{N+\mu_K}{\breve{\tau}} \right\rfloor + H \ge c.$$

So, $\mathcal{R}_c = \mathcal{R}_d = \mathcal{R}$ and, for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$, $\mathcal{R}_i \subset \mathcal{R}_c = \mathcal{R}_d$. This justifies our claim.

We now claim that, in order to conclude the proof, it is sufficient to prove that, for all $v \in \mathcal{R}_d$, we have

(1)
$$v \le N;$$

(2) $h(v) \le H + nd.$

Indeed, Proposition 22 ensures that, for all $v \in \mathcal{R}_d$, we have

$$v \in \mathcal{V}_{\lfloor (n+1)\frac{v+\mu_K}{\tau}+h(v)\rfloor}.$$

But, if (1) and (2) are true, then we have, for all $v \in \mathcal{R}_d$,

$$\left\lfloor (n+1)\frac{v+\mu_K}{\tau} + h(v) \right\rfloor \le \left\lfloor (n+1)\frac{N+\mu_K}{\breve{\tau}} + H + nd \right\rfloor = (n+1)d = M.$$

So $\mathcal{R}_d \subset \mathcal{V}_M$. This proves our claim.

In order to complete the proof, it only remains to prove (1) and (2). The inequality (1) is a direct consequence of Lemma 59 and of our choice of N. To justify inequality (2), we prove more generally that, for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$, for all $v \in \mathcal{R}_i$, $h(v) \leq H + ni$. We proceed by induction on i. The base case i = 0 is true by our choice of H. We now assume that, for some $i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$, we have, for all $v \in \mathcal{R}_i$, $h(v) \leq H + ni$. Consider $v \in \mathcal{R}_{i+1}$. By definition of the sequence $(\mathcal{R}_i)_{i\geq 0}$, the set $\pi(\Psi(v)) \cap \mathcal{R}_i$ is nonempty (see (77)); let w be in this intersection. By Lemma 24, we have $h(v) \leq h(w) + n$. But, by the inductive hypothesis, we have $h(w) \leq H + ni$. So $h(v) \leq H + ni + n = H + n(i + 1)$. This concludes the induction.

8. Answer to Question 1

In this section, we consider a Mahler operator

$$L = a_n \phi_{\ell}^n + a_{n-1} \phi_{\ell}^{n-1} + \dots + a_0$$

with coefficients $a_0, \ldots, a_n \in \mathbf{K}[z]$ such that $a_0 a_n \neq 0$.

8.1. The algorithm.

Algorithm 61.

Input: *L* a Mahler operator with coefficients in $\mathbf{K}[z]$, \mathcal{E} a finite subset of \mathbb{Q} . **Output**: the image under $\bullet_{|\mathcal{E}}$ of a basis of $\operatorname{Sol}(L, \mathscr{H})$; it is a generating family of the **K**-vector space made of the $f \in \mathscr{H}_{|\mathcal{E}}$ for which there exists a solution $\tilde{f} \in \mathscr{H}$ of *L* such that $\tilde{f}_{|\mathcal{E}} = f$ and even a basis if $-\mathcal{S}(L) \subset \mathcal{E}$.

```
set \mathcal{R}_{-1} = \emptyset

set \check{\tau} = \text{Lower}\_\text{Bound}\_\tau (L) (see Algorithm 44)

let H be the least integer such that \ell^H \mathcal{E} \subset \frac{1}{d}\mathbb{Z}

set N = \max \mathcal{E} \cup -\mathcal{S}(L)

set M = (n+1)\left(\left\lfloor (n+1)\frac{N+\mu_K}{\check{\tau}} \right\rfloor + H\right)

compute \mathcal{R}_0 = (\mathcal{E} \cup -\mathcal{S}(L)) \cap \mathcal{V}_M

set i = 0

while \mathcal{R}_i \neq \mathcal{R}_{i-1}

compute \mathcal{R}_{i+1} = \bigcup_{(\ell^{\alpha},\beta) \in \mathcal{P}(L)} \ell^{-\alpha}(\psi(\mathcal{R}_i) - \beta) \cap \mathcal{V}_M

increment i by 1

end while

set \mathcal{R} = \mathcal{R}_i;

compute a basis (f_1, \ldots, f_t) of the K-vector space \mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{R}}

return (\bullet_{|\mathcal{E}}(f_1), \ldots, \bullet_{|\mathcal{E}}(f_t)).
```

Theorem 62. Algorithm 61 answers Question 1 by the positive.

Proof. Let us first consider the computability issues. We can compute \mathcal{V}_M using the recursive formula from Theorem 17. Then, we can compute $\mathcal{R}_0 = (\mathcal{E} \cup -\mathcal{S}(L)) \cap \mathcal{V}_M$ because $\mathcal{E} \cup -\mathcal{S}(L)$ and \mathcal{V}_M are explicit finite sets. We can compute \mathcal{R}_{i+1} from \mathcal{R}_i with the formula $\mathcal{R}_{i+1} = \bigcup_{(\ell^\alpha,\beta)\in\mathcal{P}(L)} \ell^{-\alpha}(\psi(\mathcal{R}_i) - \beta)$ are $\beta) \cap \mathcal{V}_M$ because $\mathcal{P}(L)$, \mathcal{V}_M and, for any $(\ell^\alpha,\beta)\in\mathcal{P}(L)$, $\ell^{-\alpha}(\psi(\mathcal{R}_i)-\beta)$ are explicit finite sets. Proposition 60 and Theorem 56 guaranty that $\mathcal{R}_i = \mathcal{R}_{i-1}$ for some $i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$, so the "while" loop will stop after finitely many steps. Once \mathcal{R} has been calculated, computing a basis (f_1,\ldots,f_t) of $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{R}}$ amounts to compute a basis of solutions of an explicit system of linear equations. Indeed one can compute explicit linear maps $(F_\delta : \mathbf{K}^{\mathcal{R}} \to \mathbf{K})_{\delta \in \psi(\mathcal{R})}$ such that, for any $f = \sum_{\gamma \in \mathcal{R}} f_{\gamma} z^{\gamma} \in \mathscr{H}_{|\mathcal{R}}$,

 $L(f) = \sum_{\delta \in \psi(\mathcal{R})} F_{\delta}((f_{\gamma})_{\gamma \in \mathcal{R}}) z^{\delta} + \text{terms whose support is disjoint from } \psi(\mathcal{R}).$

So, f belongs to $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{R}}$ if and only if, for all

(83)
$$F_{\delta}((f_{\gamma})_{\gamma \in \mathcal{R}}) = 0, \text{ for all } \delta \in \psi(\mathcal{R}).$$

Finding a basis of $C_{\mathcal{R}}$ amounts to finding a basis of solutions of this system of linear equations. This can be done algorithmically.

Let us now justify that this algorithm returns the correct output, namely the image under $\bullet_{|\mathcal{E}}$ of a basis of Sol (L, \mathscr{H}) . It follows from Theorem 17 that $\operatorname{Sol}(L, \mathscr{H}) \subset \mathscr{H}_{|\mathcal{V}}$. Since \mathcal{R} satisfies $\star_{\mathcal{R}_0,\mathcal{V}}$ by Proposition 60 and Theorem 56, it follows from Theorem 46 that the map $\bullet_{|\mathcal{R}} : \mathscr{H} \to \mathscr{H}_{|\mathcal{R}}$ induces an isomorphism between $\operatorname{Sol}(L, \mathscr{H})$ and $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{R}}$. So, $(\bullet_{|\mathcal{R}}^{-1}(f_1), \ldots, \bullet_{|\mathcal{R}}^{-1}(f_t))$ is a basis of $\operatorname{Sol}(L, \mathscr{H})$. But, for all $i \in \{1, \ldots, t\}$, after setting $g_i = \bullet_{|\mathcal{R}}^{-1}(f_i)$, which is an element of $\operatorname{Sol}(L, \mathscr{H})$, we have $\operatorname{supp}(g_i) \cap \mathcal{E} \subset \operatorname{supp}(g_i) \cap \mathcal{R}$ and, hence,

$$\bullet_{|\mathcal{E}}(\bullet_{|\mathcal{R}}^{-1}(f_i)) = \bullet_{|\mathcal{E}}(g_i) = \bullet_{|\mathcal{E}}(\bullet_{|\mathcal{R}}(g_i)) = \bullet_{|\mathcal{E}}(f_i).$$

Thus,

$$(\bullet_{|\mathcal{E}}(f_1),\ldots,\bullet_{|\mathcal{E}}(f_t))=(\bullet_{|\mathcal{E}}(\bullet_{|\mathcal{R}}^{-1}(f_1)),\ldots,\bullet_{|\mathcal{E}}(\bullet_{|\mathcal{R}}^{-1}(f_t)))$$

is the image under $\bullet_{|\mathcal{E}}$ of a basis of $\operatorname{Sol}(L, \mathscr{H})$. Thus, $(\bullet_{|\mathcal{E}}(f_1), \ldots, \bullet_{|\mathcal{E}}(f_t))$ is a generating family of the **K**-vector space $\bullet_{|\mathcal{E}}(\operatorname{Sol}(L, \mathscr{H}))$, which is nothing but the **K**-vector space made of the $f \in \mathscr{H}_{|\mathcal{E}}$ for which there exists a solution $\tilde{f} \in \mathscr{H}$ of L such that $\tilde{f}_{|\mathcal{E}} = f$. Last, if $-\mathcal{S}(L) \subset \mathcal{E}$, then the restriction of $\bullet_{|\mathcal{E}}$ to $\operatorname{Sol}(L, \mathscr{H})$ is injective as a consequence of Corollary 13 and, hence, $(\bullet_{|\mathcal{E}}(f_1), \ldots, \bullet_{|\mathcal{E}}(f_t))$ is a basis of the **K**-vector space $\bullet_{|\mathcal{E}}(\operatorname{Sol}(L, \mathscr{H}))$. \Box

8.2. On the complexity of Algorithm 61. In this section, by "complexity" we mean the number of basic operations $(+, -, \times, \div)$ in **K** and comparisons in $\mathbb{Q} \cup \{-\infty, +\infty\}$ performed by an algorithm.

To estimate the complexity of Algorithm 61, we shall suppose that $n \geq 2$. Indeed, if n = 1, then (1) has a nonzero solution $f \in \mathscr{H}$ if and only if the coefficient of $z^{\operatorname{val}(a_0)}$ in a_0 is the opposite of the coefficient of $z^{\operatorname{val}(a_1)}$ in a_1 ; in this case, we have

$$f = \lambda z \frac{\frac{\operatorname{val}(a_1) - \operatorname{val}(a_0)}{\ell - 1}}{\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{-a_1(z^{\ell^k}) z^{-\ell^k} \operatorname{val}(a_1)}{a_0(z^{\ell^k}) z^{-\ell^k} \operatorname{val}(a_0)}}$$

for some $\lambda \in \mathbf{K} \setminus \{0\}$. Thus, there is no need using Algorithm 61.

Proposition 63. Suppose that $n \ge 2$. Let τ be defined by (38) and $\check{\tau} > 0$ be a lower bound on τ . Let N be an integer and let

$$\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{E}_N = \left\{ \frac{a}{b} \, | \, a \in \mathbb{Z}, b \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}, \max\{|a|, |b|\} \le N \right\}$$

Suppose that N is large enough so that $\mathcal{S}(L) \subset \mathcal{E}$. Then, Algorithm 61 has complexity

(84)
$$\mathcal{O}\left((\delta n)^{3n^2N/\check{\tau}}\right)$$

when one does not take into account the complexity of computing $\check{\tau}$.

Remark 64. 1. The complexity of the algorithm in Theorem 62 depends strongly on the lower bound $\tilde{\tau}$ computed by Algorithm 44.

2. Of course, the complexity of this algorithm depends on the choice of the integer ℓ . In (84), this dependency is hidden in the parameter $\check{\tau}$ which is bounded from above by ℓ^n .

3. In comparison, the algorithm given in [CDDM18] to find Puiseux solutions has complexity $\tilde{\mathcal{O}}(n^2 N d\ell^n)$, where d is defined as in Section 4.

Proof. We note that, with the notation of the algorithm, we have $H \leq \lfloor \log N / \log \ell \rfloor$.

Computation of the Newton polygon. One can compute the set $\mathcal{P}(L)$ in $\mathcal{O}(\sharp \mathcal{P}(L))$ operations and the set

$$\{(j, \operatorname{val} a_j(z)) \mid j \in \{0, \dots, n\}\}$$

with the same complexity. Then, one can compute the set S(L) of slopes of $\mathcal{N}(L)$ and the endpoints of these slopes by performing $\mathcal{O}(n)$ comparisons and operations. Furthermore, one may return the set of slopes as an ordered list of rational numbers with the same complexity.

Computation of \mathcal{V}_M . The set $\mathcal{V}_0 = -\mathcal{S}(L)$ has K elements. This set can be computed in $\mathcal{O}(K)$ operations, once $\mathcal{S}(L)$ is known. Then, for any i, the set \mathcal{V}_i has at most $(\sharp \mathcal{P}(L))^i K$ elements. Suppose that the set \mathcal{V}_i has been computed for some i and that it is given as an ordered list of rational numbers. Let us compute the ordered list of all elements of \mathcal{V}_{i+1} . Fix a point $p = (\ell^{\alpha}, \beta) \in \mathcal{P}(L)$. Then, since \mathcal{V}_i is given as an ordered list, one may compute the ordered list of elements of the set

$$\mathcal{V}_i(p) = \{ \pi(v\ell^\alpha + \beta) \,|\, v \in \mathcal{V}_i \}$$

in $\mathcal{O}((\sharp \mathcal{P}(L))^i K)$. Thus, the computation of the $\sharp \mathcal{P}(L)$ lists $\mathcal{V}_i(p), p \in \mathcal{P}(L)$, requires $\mathcal{O}((\sharp \mathcal{P}(L))^{i+1}K)$ operations. Given k ordered lists containing m elements each, one may order the union of the k lists in $\mathcal{O}(km \log(k))$ operations. Thus, once the ordered lists of elements of $\mathcal{V}_i(p), p \in \mathcal{P}(L)$, are computed, the ordered list of elements of

$$\mathcal{V}_{i+1} = \bigcup_{p \in \mathcal{P}(L)} \mathcal{V}_i(p)$$

can be computed in $\mathcal{O}((\sharp \mathcal{P}(L))^{i+1} K \log(\sharp \mathcal{P}(L)))$. In fine, the computation of the ordered list of elements of \mathcal{V}_M can be performed with

(85)
$$\mathcal{O}((\sharp \mathcal{P}(L))^M K \log(\sharp P(L)))$$

operations. Furthermore, one has

(86)
$$\sharp \mathcal{V}_M \le (\sharp \mathcal{P}(L))^M K.$$

Computation of \mathcal{R} . We now have an ordered list of all elements of \mathcal{V}_M . One may compute an ordered list of all elements of \mathcal{E} in $\mathcal{O}(\sharp \mathcal{E} \log(\sharp \mathcal{E}))$. Two ordered lists of rational numbers being given, one can compute the ordered list of elements belonging to both lists making a number of comparisons at most equal to the maximum of the size of these lists. Thus, one may compute the ordered list of elements of $\mathcal{R}_0 = \mathcal{E} \cap \mathcal{V}_M$ by making $\mathcal{O}(\sharp \mathcal{E} + \sharp \mathcal{V}_M)$ comparisons. Suppose that the ordered list of elements of \mathcal{R}_i has been computed, for some integer $i \geq 0$. Note that $\sharp \mathcal{R}_i \leq \sharp \mathcal{E}(\sharp \mathcal{P}(L))^i$. Then, for each $p = (\ell^{\alpha}, \beta) \in \mathcal{P}(L)$ one can compute the ordered list of elements of

$$\ell^{\alpha}(\psi(\mathcal{R}_i) - \beta) \cap \mathcal{V}_M$$

in $\mathcal{O}(\sharp \mathcal{E}(\sharp \mathcal{P}(L))^i + \sharp \mathcal{V}_M)$ operations. Once these $\sharp \mathcal{P}(L)$ lists are stored, one may compute the ordered list of elements of \mathcal{R}_{i+1} by making

$$\mathcal{O}(\sharp \mathcal{E}(\sharp \mathcal{P}(L))^{i+1} \log(\sharp \mathcal{P}(L)))$$

comparisons. In fine, the total complexity of the computation of $\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{R}_c$ is in

(87)
$$\mathcal{O}(\sharp \mathcal{E}(\sharp \mathcal{P}(L))^c \log(\sharp \mathcal{P}(L)) + c \sharp \mathcal{P}(L) \sharp \mathcal{V}_M)$$

Furthermore, we have

(88)
$$\sharp \mathcal{R} \leq \sharp \mathcal{E}(\sharp \mathcal{P}(L))^c.$$

Computation of a basis of $C_{\mathcal{R}}$. Now that the ordered list of elements of \mathcal{R} has been computed, one may compute the ordered list of elements of $\psi(\mathcal{R})$ with $\mathcal{O}(\sharp \mathcal{R})$ operations. The coefficients of the system of linear equations defining $C_{\mathcal{R}}$ can be computed with $\mathcal{O}(\sharp \mathcal{P}(L) \sharp \mathcal{R})$ operations. Solving a linear system with *m* indeterminates necessitates $\mathcal{O}(m^{\Theta})$ operations, for some $\Theta < 3$ (for example, one may take $\Theta = \log_2(7) \simeq 2,81$; see [BCG⁺17]). Thus, once the coefficients of the system of linear equations is known, one may compute a basis of $C_{\mathcal{R}}$ in

(89)
$$\mathcal{O}((\sharp \mathcal{R})^{\Theta})$$

operations.

Total complexity of the algorithm. Once a basis of $C_{\mathcal{R}}$ is known, the complexity of the end of the algorithm is negligible with respect to the number of operations performed so far. Combining (85), (86), (87), (88) and (89), the complexity of this algorithm is

(90)
$$\mathcal{O}(\sharp \mathcal{E}^{\Theta}(\sharp \mathcal{P}(L))^{c\Theta} + c \sharp \mathcal{P}(L)^{M+1}K).$$

Furthermore, we have the following bounds

$$\begin{array}{rcl} \# \mathcal{P}(L) &\leq & (\delta+1)(n+1) \,, \\ \# \mathcal{E} &\leq & 2N^2 \,, \\ \mu_K &\leq & N \,, \\ c &\leq & 2(n+1)N\breve{\tau}^{-1} + \log N \,, \\ M &\leq & 2(n+1)^2N\breve{\tau}^{-1} + (n+1)\log N \\ K &\leq & n \,, \\ \Theta &< & n+1 \,. \end{array}$$

Thus, the second term in (90) dominates the first one. It follows that the complexity of the algorithm is

$$\mathcal{O}\left(\left(2(n+1)N\breve{\tau}^{-1} + \log N\right)\left((\delta+1)(n+1)\right)^{2(n+1)^2N\breve{\tau}^{-1} + (n+1)\log N + 1}n\right)$$

Now, the result follows from the fact that the quantity above is in

$$\mathcal{O}\left((\delta n)^{3n^2N/\check{\tau}}\right).$$

9. An example : The Rudin-Shapiro Mahler equation

Consider the following 2-Mahler equation:

(91)
$$-2zy(z^4) + (z-1)y(z^2) + y(z) = 0$$

One can prove that:

- i) up to a multiplicative constant, the only solution of (91) in \mathscr{H} is actually a power series, namely the generating series of the Rudin-Shapiro sequence, see [AS03] for instance;
- ii) (91) has another nonzero solution of the form $fe_{-\frac{1}{2}}$ where $f \in \mathscr{H}$ and where $e_{-\frac{1}{2}}$ satisfies $\phi_2(e_{-\frac{1}{2}}) = -\frac{1}{2}e_{-\frac{1}{2}}$.

We won't be proving property i) here, as that would take us too far from our objective to illustrate Algorithm 61. Property ii) could be proved using [Roq22] but we will give another proof based on Algorithm 61, which has the advantage of also giving as many coefficients of f as we like.

Let us first note that $fe_{-\frac{1}{2}}$ is a solution of (91) if and only if f is a solution of the 2-Mahler equation

(92)
$$zy(z^4) + (z-1)y(z^2) - 2y(z) = 0,$$

which is nothing but the 2-Mahler equation associated to the 2-Mahler operator

(93)
$$L = z\phi_2^2 + (z-1)\phi_2 - 2$$

defined by (14). In what follows, we will run Algorithm 61 for this L and for the set \mathcal{E} defined by

(94)
$$\mathcal{E}_8 := \left\{ \frac{a}{b} \in \mathbb{Q} \mid \max\{|a|, |b|\} \le 8 \right\} .$$

We will see that the output of this algorithm is

$$(95) \quad z^{-\frac{1}{2}} - 2z^{-\frac{1}{4}} + 4z^{-\frac{1}{8}} \\ -\frac{1}{3} + z^{\frac{1}{2}} - 2z^{\frac{3}{4}} + 4z^{\frac{7}{8}} - \frac{5}{6}z + z^{\frac{3}{2}} - 2z^{\frac{7}{4}} + \frac{11}{12}z^{2} - z^{\frac{5}{2}} \\ -\frac{5}{12}z^{3} + z^{\frac{7}{2}} - \frac{23}{24}z^{4} + \frac{13}{24}z^{5} - \frac{7}{24}z^{6} - \frac{5}{24}z^{7} - \frac{1}{48}z^{8}.$$

Since $-\mathcal{S}(L) \subset \mathcal{E}$, this shows that the **K**-vector space $\bullet_{|\mathcal{E}}(\operatorname{Sol}(L, \mathscr{H}))$ has dimension 1 and is generated by (95). Moreover, since the restriction of $\bullet_{|\mathcal{E}}$ to $\operatorname{Sol}(L, \mathscr{H})$ is injective by Corollary 13, this proves that

$$\operatorname{Sol}(L,\mathscr{H}) = \mathbb{C}f$$

for some $f \in \mathscr{H}$ such that $\bullet_{|\mathcal{E}}(f) = (95)$. Therefore, $fe_{-\frac{1}{2}}$ is a solution of (91) such that $\bullet_{|\mathcal{E}}(f) = (95)$. This justifies property ii) above and gives moreover the value of the coefficients of f corresponding to the indices in \mathcal{E} .

Let us take a close look at how Algorithm 61 works when we take as input the operator L given by (14) and the set \mathcal{E} given by (94). This is done in section 9.5, after some preliminaries.

9.1. Newton polygon and slopes of L. The Newton polygon $\mathcal{N}(L)$ of L is the lower convex hull of the set

$$\mathcal{P}(L) = \{(1,0), (2,0), (2,1), (4,1)\}.$$

We have

$$S(L) = \{\mu_1, \mu_2\}$$
 with $\mu_1 = 0$ and $\mu_2 = \frac{1}{2}$.

A common denominator of the slopes of L is thus d = 2.



FIGURE 2. This figure is relative to the operator L given by (14). We have $\mathcal{P}(L) = \{p_0, p_1, p_2, p_3\}$. The Newton polygon $\mathcal{N}(L)$ is the shaded area. Its vertices are p_0, p_1 and p_2 and we have $\mathcal{S}(L) = \{0, 1/2\}$. In each subfigure, we consider a specific $v \in \mathbb{Q}$. The point p'_k is the projection of p_k along a line of slope -v onto the y-axis; so, the dotted segments have slope -v and $\Psi(v) = \{p'_0, p'_1, p'_2, p'_3\}$. The dashed segment with left extremity p'_k is the segment with lowest slope among those linking p'_k to an element of $\mathcal{P}(L)$. The slope of this segment is thus the opposite of $\pi(q_k)$ where q_k is the ordinate of p'_k and, hence, $\pi(\Psi(v))$ is the set of the opposite of the slopes of the four dashed segments.

The vertices, ordered by increasing abscissa, of the polygon $\mathcal{N}(L)$ are

$$p_0 = (1,0), p_1 = (2,0) \text{ and } p_2 = (4,1).$$

For any $k \in \{0, 1, 2\}$, we have

$$p_k = (\ell^{\alpha_k}, \beta_k) = (\ell^{\alpha_k}, \operatorname{val} a_{\alpha_k})$$

with

$$\alpha_0 = 0, \beta_0 = 0, \alpha_1 = 1, \beta_1 = 0, \alpha_2 = 2, \beta_2 = 1.$$

The set $\mathcal{P}(L)$, the Newton polygon $\mathcal{N}(L)$ and the vertices p_k are represented in Figure 2.

9.2. The maps π and Ψ . Straightforward calculations show that

$$\Psi(v) = \{v, 2v, 2v + 1, 4v + 1\} \text{ and } \pi(q) = \begin{cases} q/2 & \text{if } -1 \le q < 0, \\ q & \text{if } q \ge 0. \end{cases}$$

We do not need to specify $\pi(q)$ when q < -1.

9.3. The sets \mathcal{V}_i . One can compte as many \mathcal{V}_i as necessary using their recursive definition. For instance,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{V}_{0} &= -\mathcal{S}(L) = \left\{ -\frac{1}{2}, 0 \right\}, \\ \mathcal{V}_{1} &= \pi \left(\Psi \left(-\frac{1}{2} \right) \cup \Psi(0) \right) = \pi \left(\left\{ -1, -\frac{1}{2}, 0, 1 \right\} \right) = \left\{ -\frac{1}{2}, -\frac{1}{4}, 0, 1 \right\}, \\ \mathcal{V}_{2} &= \pi \left(\Psi \left(-\frac{1}{2} \right) \cup \Psi \left(-\frac{1}{4} \right) \cup \Psi(0) \cup \Psi(1) \right) \\ &= \left\{ -\frac{1}{2}, -\frac{1}{4}, -\frac{1}{8}, 0, \frac{1}{2}, 1, 2, 3, 5 \right\}. \end{aligned}$$

Remark 65. In this very peculiar example, we could prove that

$$\mathcal{V} = \left\{ k - \frac{1}{2^n} \mid k, n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}, \ (k, n) \neq (0, 0) \right\}.$$

As this property will not be used, we only briefly indicate how to prove the most useful inclusion, namely the inclusion of \mathcal{V} in the right-hand side of the latter equality, and leave the details and proof of the other inclusion to the reader. Let us denote this right-hand side by \mathcal{W} . One can easily check that $-\mathcal{S}(L) \subset \mathcal{W}$ and that, for any $w \in \mathcal{W}$, $\pi(\Psi(w)) \subset \mathcal{W}$. Given the definition of \mathcal{V} , this clearly implies that $\mathcal{V} \subset \mathcal{W}$.

When running Algorithm 61, we will first need to call Algorithm 44 in order to calculate a positive lower bound $\check{\tau}$ on τ , which is defined by (38).

9.4. Computation of a positive lower bound on τ . We will now explain how Lower_Bound_ $\tau(L)$ described in Algorithm 44 runs to compute a lower bound $\check{\tau}$ on τ . It takes the following steps:

(1) it computes a lower bound

$$\breve{\epsilon}_2 = \mathrm{LB}_{\epsilon_2}(L, 2, (), -\mu_2) = \mathrm{LB}_{\epsilon_2}(L, 2, (), -\frac{1}{2})$$

on $\epsilon(-\mu_2) = \epsilon(-\frac{1}{2});$ (2) it computes a lower bound

$$\check{\epsilon}_1 = \text{LB}_{\epsilon}_p(L, 1, (\check{\epsilon}_2), -\mu_1) = \text{LB}_{\epsilon}_p(L, 1, (\check{\epsilon}_2), 0)$$

on $\epsilon(-\mu_1) = \epsilon(0);$

(3) it returns

$$\breve{\tau} = \min\{\breve{\epsilon}_1, \breve{\epsilon}_2, \frac{1}{2 \cdot 2^2}\};$$

where we have written LB_ ϵ _p for Lower_Bound_ ϵ _param defined in Algorithm 42, in order to avoid heavy notations. These three steps are detailed in the following three sections.

9.4.1. Execution of $LB_{\epsilon_{p}}(L,2,(),-\mu_{2}) = LB_{\epsilon_{p}}(L,2,(),-\frac{1}{2})$. We are in the situation starting in row 4 of Algorithm 42 since $-\frac{1}{2} = -\mu_2$. Thus, $LB_{\epsilon_{1}}(L, 2, (), -\frac{1}{2})$ returns

$$\min\left(\mathcal{V}_1 \setminus \left\{-\frac{1}{2}\right\}\right) + \frac{1}{2} = -\frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}{4}.$$

This latter value $\frac{1}{4}$ is stored in $\breve{\epsilon}_2$.

9.4.2. Execution of $LB_{\epsilon_{1}}p(L, 1, (\check{\epsilon}_{2}), -\mu_{1}) = LB \ \epsilon \ p(L, 1, (\frac{1}{4}), 0).$ It takes the following steps.

- (1) Since $0 = -\mu_1$, we are in the situation starting in row 16 of Algorithm 42 with k = 2.
- (2) For any $w' \in \Delta(-\mu_1) = \Delta(0) = \{-\frac{1}{2}, -\frac{1}{4}\}$, it computes

$$m_{w'} = \mathrm{LB}_{\epsilon} p(L, 1, (\frac{1}{4}), w').$$

- (3) LB_ $\epsilon_p(L, 1, (\frac{1}{4}), -\frac{1}{2})$ returns $\frac{1}{4}$ after calculations similar to those described in 9.4.1.
- (4) LB_ $\epsilon_p(L, 1, (\frac{1}{4}), -\frac{1}{4})$ runs as follows.
 - (a) Since $-\frac{1}{4} \in]-\frac{1}{2}, 0[=]-\mu_2, -\mu_1[$, we are in the situation starting in row 12 of Algorithm 42 with k = 2. So, LB_ $\epsilon_p(L, 1, (\frac{1}{4}), -\frac{1}{4})$ calls LB_ ϵ_i (L, 1, $(\frac{1}{4})$, $-\frac{1}{4}$), where we have written LB_ ϵ_i for Lower Bound ϵ interval defined in Algorithm 43, in order to avoid heavy notations.

 - (b) LB_ $\epsilon_i(L, 1, (\frac{1}{4}), -\frac{1}{4})$ runs as follows. (i) Since $-\frac{1}{4} \ge -\mu_2 + \check{\epsilon}_2 = -\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{4} = -\frac{1}{4}$, we are in the situation starting in row 10 of Algorithm 43. Therefore, for each $v \in \Delta(-\frac{1}{4}) = \{-\frac{1}{2}, -\frac{3}{4}, -\frac{3}{8}\}$, it computes $\boldsymbol{b}_v =$ $LB_{\epsilon_i}(L, 1, (\frac{1}{4}), v).$
 - (A) LB_ $\epsilon_i(L, 1, (\frac{1}{4}), -\frac{3}{4})$ returns $(-\frac{3}{4}, \frac{1}{4})$ because $-\frac{3}{4} < -\frac{3}{4}$ $-\frac{1}{2} = -\mu_2$ so we are in the situation starting with row 3 of Algorithm 43 so it calls LB $\epsilon_p(L, 2, (), -\frac{3}{4})$ which returns $-\mu_2 - (-\frac{3}{4}) = -\frac{1}{2} + \frac{3}{4} = \frac{1}{4}$ because we are in the situation starting in row 1 of Algorithm 42.
 - (B) LB_ $\epsilon_i(L, 1, (\frac{1}{4}), -\frac{1}{2})$ returns $(-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{4})$ because $-\frac{1}{2} < -\mu_2 + \check{\epsilon}_2 = -\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{4} = -\frac{1}{4}$ and $-\frac{1}{2} \ge -\mu_2 = -\frac{1}{2}$ so we are in the situation starting with row 5 of Algorithm
 - 43 and $-\mu_2 + \check{\epsilon}_2 (-\frac{1}{2}) = -\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}{4}$. (C) LB_ $\epsilon_i(L, 1, (\frac{1}{4}), -\frac{3}{8})$ returns $(-\frac{3}{8}, \frac{1}{8})$ because $-\frac{3}{8} < -\mu_2 + \check{\epsilon}_2 = -\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{4} = -\frac{1}{4}$ and $-\frac{3}{8} \ge -\mu_2 = -\frac{1}{2}$ so we are in the situation starting with row 5 of Algorithm 43 and $-\mu_2 + \check{\epsilon}_2 - (-\frac{3}{8}) = -\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{3}{8} = \frac{1}{8}$. (ii) It computes the minimum *m* of the set (65), which is, as
 - explained in details in Example 36, the minimum of
 - $\frac{1}{4} \times 2^{0-1} = \frac{1}{8},$ $\frac{1}{4} \times 2^{1-1} = \frac{1}{4},$ $\frac{1}{8} \times 2^{2-1} = \frac{1}{4},$

•
$$0 - (-\frac{1}{4}) = \frac{1}{4},$$

• $\min\{\pi(\Psi(-\frac{1}{4})) \setminus \{-\frac{1}{4}\}\} + \frac{1}{4} = -\frac{1}{8} + \frac{1}{4} = \frac{1}{8}.$
We thus have $m = \frac{1}{8}.$
(iii) LB_ $\epsilon_i(L, 1, (\frac{1}{4}), -\frac{1}{4})$ returns $(-\frac{1}{4}, \frac{1}{8}).$
(c) LB $\epsilon_i(L, 1, (\frac{1}{4}), -\frac{1}{4})$ returns $\frac{1}{8}.$

(5) Last, it runs row 20 of Algorithm 42 and, after calculations already presented in details in Example 40, we find that $LB_{\epsilon}p(L, 1, (\frac{1}{4}), 0)$ returns $\frac{1}{2}$.

The latter value $\frac{1}{2}$ is stored in $\check{\epsilon}_1$.

9.4.3. Last step of Lower_Bound_ $\tau(L)$. Finally, Lower_Bound_ $\tau(L)$ returns

$$\check{\tau} = \min\left\{\check{\epsilon}_1, \check{\epsilon}_2, \frac{1}{8}\right\} = \frac{1}{8}.$$

9.5. Algorithm 61. We already computed the positive lower bound $\breve{\tau} = \frac{1}{8}$ on τ . We check that H = 2 and N = 8 by definition of \mathcal{E} . Then we have

$$M = (n+1)\left(\left\lfloor (n+1)\frac{N+\mu_K}{\breve{\tau}}\right\rfloor + H\right) = 618.$$

We could compute the set \mathcal{V}_M but, in practice, we can save a few calculations by exploiting the fact that, according to Lemma 59, any element of \mathcal{R} (and, hence, of any \mathcal{R}_i) is lower than or equal to max $\mathcal{E} \cup -\mathcal{S}(L) = 8$. Indeed, this remark entails that the intersections with \mathcal{V}_M involved in Algorithm 61 for calulating the \mathcal{R}_i can be replaced by intersections with $\mathcal{V}_M \cap \mathbb{Q}_{\leq 8}$ without changing the result of the calculations, *i.e.*, we have

$$\mathcal{R}_0 = (\mathcal{E} \cup -\mathcal{S}(L)) \cap \mathcal{V}_M = (\mathcal{E} \cup -\mathcal{S}(L)) \cap \mathcal{V}_M \cap \mathbb{Q}_{\leq 8}$$

and

$$\mathcal{R}_{i+1} = \bigcup_{(\ell^{\alpha},\beta)\in\mathcal{P}(L)} \ell^{-\alpha}(\psi(\mathcal{R}_i)-\beta)\cap\mathcal{V}_M = \bigcup_{(\ell^{\alpha},\beta)\in\mathcal{P}(L)} \ell^{-\alpha}(\psi(\mathcal{R}_i)-\beta)\cap\mathcal{V}_M\cap\mathbb{Q}_{\leq 8}$$

Thus, we only need to compute the set $\mathcal{V}_M \cap \mathbb{Q}_{\leq 8}$, not the whole \mathcal{V}_M . Let us now explain how one can compute the sets $\mathcal{V}_{i,\leq 8} = \mathcal{V}_i \cap \mathbb{Q}_{\leq 8}$. We recall that, by definition, the $(\mathcal{V}_i)_{i\geq 0}$ can be computed recursively as follows:

$$\mathcal{V}_0 = -\mathcal{S}(L)$$

and, for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$,

$$\mathcal{V}_{i+1} = \bigcup_{v \in \mathcal{V}_i} \pi(\Psi(v)).$$

Intersecting with $\mathbb{Q}_{\leq 8}$, we obtain:

(96)
$$\mathcal{V}_{0,\leq 8} = -\mathcal{S}(L) \cap \mathbb{Q}_{\leq 8} = -\mathcal{S}(L)$$

and, for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$,

(97)
$$\mathcal{V}_{i+1,\leq 8} = \bigcup_{v\in\mathcal{V}_i} \pi(\Psi(v)) \cap \mathbb{Q}_{\leq 8}.$$

But, according to (25), we have, for all $v \in \mathbb{Q}$, $v = \min \pi(\Psi(v))$. So, for any $v \in \mathcal{V}_i \setminus \mathcal{V}_{i,\leq 8}$, we have $\pi(\Psi(v)) \cap \mathbb{Q}_{\leq 8} = \emptyset$ and, hence, (97) can be rewritten as follows:

(98)
$$\mathcal{V}_{i+1,\leq 8} = \bigcup_{v\in\mathcal{V}_{i,\leq 8}} \pi(\Psi(v)) \cap \mathbb{Q}_{\leq 8}.$$

Now, (96) and (98) allow us to recursively calculate as many $\mathcal{V}_{i,\leq 8}$ as we like. Note also that, for computing the right-hand side of (98), we only need to compute $\pi(\Psi(v))$ for $v \in \mathcal{V}_{i,\leq 8} \setminus \mathcal{V}_{i-1,\leq 8}$ because

$$\mathcal{V}_{i+1,\leq 8} = \mathcal{V}_{i,\leq 8} \cup \bigcup_{v \in \mathcal{V}_{i,\leq 8} \setminus \mathcal{V}_{i-1,\leq 8}} \pi(\Psi(v)) \cap \mathbb{Q}_{\leq 8}.$$

Using this, we may compute $\mathcal{V}_{M,\leq 8}$, which has 5512 elements, in a fair time⁸. We then compute

$$\mathcal{R}_{0} = (\mathcal{E} \cup -\mathcal{S}(L)) \cap \mathcal{V}_{M} = \mathcal{E} \cap \mathcal{V}_{M} \cap \mathbb{Q}_{\leq 8} = \mathcal{E} \cap \mathcal{V}_{M,\leq 8}$$
$$= \left\{ -\frac{1}{2}, -\frac{1}{4}, -\frac{1}{8}, 0, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{3}{4}, \frac{7}{8}, 1, \frac{3}{2}, \frac{7}{4}, 2, \frac{5}{2}, 3, \frac{7}{2}, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8 \right\}.$$

Then, in order to compute \mathcal{R}_1 , we first compute (the finite set)

$$\bigcup_{(\ell^{\alpha},\beta)\in\mathcal{P}(L)}\ell^{-\alpha}(\psi(\mathcal{R}_{0})-\beta)$$

and, then, we compute its intersection with $\mathcal{V}_{M,<8}$. We obtain

$$\mathcal{R}_1 = \mathcal{R}_0 \cup \left\{ -\frac{1}{16}, -\frac{1}{32} \right\}.$$

Iterating this process, we find $\mathcal{R}_2 = \mathcal{R}_1$. Thus, $\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{R}_1$ is a set with 21 elements.

The next step of Algorithm 61 consists in computing a basis of $C_{\mathcal{R}}$. As explained in the proof of Theorem 62, this amounts to solve the linear system

$$F_{\delta}((f_{\gamma})_{\gamma \in \mathcal{R}}) = 0, \quad \delta \in \psi(\mathcal{R})$$

with $\sharp \psi(\mathcal{R}) = \sharp \mathcal{R} = 21$ equations given by (83). We may gather these equations in a matrix whose columns are indexed by the elements of \mathcal{R} and whose rows are indexed by the elements of $\psi(\mathcal{R})$. The coefficient of the entry (λ, γ) of this matrix is the coefficient of z^{λ} in

$$L(z^{\gamma}) = z^{1+4\gamma} + (z-1)z^{2\gamma} - 2z^{\gamma}.$$

To save space, we shall not reproduce here the square matrix of this system. After calculations, we find that the kernel of this matrix has dimension 1, generated by some explicit $(f_{\gamma})_{\gamma \in \mathcal{R}}$. This means that $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{R}}$ has dimension 1 and is generated by $\sum_{\gamma \in \mathcal{R}} f_{\gamma} z^{\gamma}$.

Last, Algorithm 61 returns $\sum_{\gamma \in \mathcal{E}} f_{\gamma} z^{\gamma}$. Replacing the f_{γ} by their explicit values, we find (95).

 $^{^{8}\}mathrm{With}$ a basic desktop computer and the computer algebra software Giac/Xcas it took us less than a minute.

References

- [AB17] B. Adamczewski and J. P. Bell. A problem about Mahler functions. Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci. (5), 17(4):1301–1355, 2017.
- [ABS22] B. Adamczewski, J. P. Bell, and D. Smertnig. A height gap theorem for coefficients of mahler functions. J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS), to appear, 2022.
- [Ada19] B. Adamczewski. Mahler's method. Doc. Math., Extra Volume Mahler Selecta. 2019.
- [ADH21] B. Adamczewski, T. Dreyfus, and C. Hardouin. Hypertranscendence and linear difference equations. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 34(2):475–503, 2021.
- [AF17] B. Adamczewski and C. Faverjon. Méthode de Mahler: relations linéaires, transcendance et applications aux nombres automatiques. Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. (3), 115(1):55–90, 2017.
- [AF18] B. Adamczewski and C. Faverjon. Méthode de Mahler, transcendance et relations linéaires: aspects effectifs. J. Théor. Nombres Bordeaux, 30(2):557–573, 2018.
- [AS03] J.-P. Allouche and J. Shallit. *Automatic sequences*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2003. Theory, applications, generalizations.
- [BCCD19] J. Bell, F. Chyzak, M. Coons, and P. Dumas. Becker's conjecture on Mahler functions. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 372(5):3405–3423, 2019.
- [BCG⁺17] A. Bostan, F. Chyzak, M. Giusti, R. Lebreton, G. Lecerf, B. Salvy, and É. Schost. Algorithmes efficaces en calcul formel, August 2017. 686 pages. Édition 1.0.
- [BCZ16] R. P. Brent, M. Coons, and W. Zudilin. Algebraic independence of Mahler functions via radial asymptotics. Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN, (2):571–603, 2016.
- [Bec94] P.-G. Becker. k-Regular power series and Mahler-type functional equations. J. Number Theory, 49(3):269–286, 1994.
- [BR13] Coons M. Bell, J.P. and E. Rowland. The rational-transcendental dichotomy of mahler functions. J. Int. Seq., 2013.
- [CDDM18] F. Chyzak, T. Dreyfus, P. Dumas, and M. Mezzarobba. Computing solutions of linear Mahler equations. *Math. Comp.*, 87(314):2977–3021, 2018.
- [CZ02] P. Corvaja and U. Zannier. Some new applications of the subspace theorem. Compositio Math., 131(3):319–340, 2002.
- [DF96] P. Dumas and P. Flajolet. Asymptotique des récurrences mahlériennes : le cas cyclotomique. J. Théor. Nombres Bordeaux, 8(1):1–30, 1996.
- [DHR18] T. Dreyfus, C. Hardouin, and J. Roques. Hypertranscendence of solutions of Mahler equations. J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS), 20(9):2209–2238, 2018.
- [Dum93] P. Dumas. Récurrences mahlériennes, suites automatiques : études asymptotiques. Thèse de doctorat. 1993.
- [Fer18] G. Fernandes. Méthode de Mahler en caractéristique non nulle: un analogue du théorème de Ku. Nishioka. Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble), 68(6):2553–2580, 2018.
- [FP22] C. Faverjon and M. Poulet. An algorithm to recognize regular singular Mahler systems. Math. Comp., 91(338):2905–2928, 2022.
- [Hah07] H. Hahn. Über die nichtarchimedischen Größensysteme. Wien. Ber., 116:601– 655, 1907.
- [Kub77] K. K. Kubota. On the algebraic independence of holomorphic solutions of certain functional equations and their values. Math. Ann., 227(1):9–50, 1977.
- [LvdP78] J. H. Loxton and A. J. van der Poorten. Algebraic independence properties of the Fredholm series. J. Austral. Math. Soc. Ser. A, 26(1):31–45, 1978.
- [Mah29] K. Mahler. Arithmetische Eigenschaften der Lösungen einer Klasse von Funktionalgleichungen. Math. Ann., 103(1):532, 1929.
- [Mah30a] K. Mahler. Arithmetische Eigenschaften einer Klasse transzendentaltranszendente funktionen. Math. Z., 32:545–585, 1930.
- [Mah30b] K. Mahler. Uber das Verschwinden von Potenzreihen mehrerer Veränderlichen in speziellen Punktfolgen. Math. Ann., 103(1):573–587, 1930.

- [Mas82] D. W. Masser. A vanishing theorem for power series. Invent. Math., 67(2):275– 296, 1982.
- [Neu49] B. H. Neumann. On ordered division rings. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 66:202– 252, 1949.
- [Ngu11] P. Nguyen. Hypertranscendance de fonctions de Mahler du premier ordre. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris, 349(17-18):943–946, 2011.
- [Ngu12] P. Nguyen. Équations de Mahler et hypertranscendance. Thèse de l'Institut de Mathématiques de Jussieu, 2012.
- [Nis96] K. Nishioka. Mahler functions and transcendence, volume 1631 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1996.
- [Pel09] F. Pellarin. An introduction to Mahler's method for transcendence and algebraic independence. In G. Boeckle, D. Goss, U. Hartl, and M. Papanikolas, editors, to appear in the EMS proceedings of the conference "Hodge structures, transcendence and other motivic aspects", 2009.
- [Phi15] P. Philippon. Groupes de Galois et nombres automatiques. J. Lond. Math. Soc. (2), 92(3):596-614, 2015.
- [Pou21] M. Poulet. A density theorem for the difference Galois groups of regular singular Mahler equations. International Mathematics Research Notices, rnab277, 2021.
- [Ran92] B. Randé. Équations fonctionnelles de Mahler et applications aux suites prégulières. Thèse de l'Université Bordeaux I available at https://tel.archivesouvertes.fr/tel-01183330, 1992.
- [Roq21] J. Roques. On the local structure of Mahler systems. Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN, (13):9937–9957, 2021.
- [Roq22] J. Roques. Frobenius method for Mahler equations. Preprint. 2022.
- [SS19] R. Schäfke and M. Singer. Consistent systems of linear differential and difference equations. J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS), 21(9):2751–2792, 2019.
- [Zan98] U. Zannier. On a functional equation relating a Laurent series f(x) to $f(x^m)$. Aequationes Math., 55(1-2):15–43, 1998.

UNIVERSITE CLAUDE BERNARD LYON 1, CNRS, ECOLE CENTRALE DE LYON, INSA LYON, UNIVERSITÉ JEAN MONNET, ICJ UMR5208, 69622 VILLEURBANNE, FRANCE. Email address: faverjon@math.univ-lyon1.fr

UNIVERSITE CLAUDE BERNARD LYON 1, CNRS, ECOLE CENTRALE DE LYON, INSA LYON, UNIVERSITÉ JEAN MONNET, ICJ UMR5208, 69622 VILLEURBANNE, FRANCE. Email address: Julien.Roques@univ-lyon1.fr